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A. We did in a manner, 'Yhich we use in all agencies, by
writing to the agent regarding a difference that had not been
paid to us or a balance that ''"as overdue and payable to us.
I assume that is what you are referring to?
Q. Did you receive satisfactory explanation?
A. Up to a point.
Q. V\tnen did that point cease to be satisfactory, ~Ir.
Shields?
A. In other words, could I explain just how we do this?
Q. Answer my question first then Vi e 'viii see if it needs an
explanation. Yon indicated that you received satisfactory
explanation up to a point; I wonder if you can tell us when
that point was?
A. "\Vha.t I meant by up to a point: up to the point so far
as clearing- the items.
Q. You say up to a point; do you mean up to a dollar value,
or do you mean up to date, orpage 1108 ~ A. Up to a date in a. given period of time.
Q. Can you tell us what that date would be,
~fr. Shields 1
A. Before ninety days had expired on any individual item.
In other words, that is what I asked for in the beginning. I
think I would have to elaborate on that for you to understand
how we operate.
vVe carry, or did carry on an IBl\{ system cards in an open
desk of all open items due us from the agent as produced in
daily reports that are sent to us and the premiums are
charged to the agency.
Q. When you say daily report, would you explain that so
we can all understand what you are talking about 1
A. The daily report is actually not a daily report sent on
each policy; only one daily report is sent. It is a copy of a
policy or an endorsement to that policy.
Q. When you talk about a daily report on a given policy, a
single policy, your company would only receive one report
during the entire term of that policy?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. All rig·ht. Go ahead, sir.
A. Then, in other words, the policies are registered each
month a.s they come in from the agencies. When that. item
becomes sixty days old we do our utmost to get the agency to
account for it.
·
page 1109 ~ Q. Let me ask you this question, Mr. Shields
and it n1ay help us both: As a matter of policy:
1
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or practice, or agree1nent, isn't it true that the agent is not
called upon by the agreement or the practice to re1nit to the
company until the end of the n1onth following the n1onth in
which the pren1iun1s are collected?
A. That is true.
Q. That is w1wn it is due, is it not 1
A. Sixty days.
Q. It would be as short as thirty-two days, would it not?
A. It would be, yes.
Q. The average is forty-five days in any event, or close to
it?
A. Right.
Q. So the agency is not expected to ren1it to your cmnpany
until an averag·e of forty-five days after the preinium is collected, is that not right 1
A. Well, as I said before, sixty days.
Q. All right, sir. Go ahead now. I wanted to elcar that
up for everybody's benefit.
A. Now in addition to that, an agent renders an account to
us on what we call an account current. That is a report of
itmus that they have sold and they owe us the money for.
We check that account against the entries that
pag·e 1110 r are made in the daily report or the copy of the
policies.
Q. 1\Ir. Shields, you, of course, realize all we are talkingabout is tlw Bowen Cmnpany account now. I do not wish to
limit you in any way if you feel you want to explain, but we
are really only interested in the Bowen Company account.
So mucl1 of what you are testifying to does not apply to the
Bowen account. I wish you would be speci:fic--Mr. Garnett: I object. ~Ir. Baker ·has been speaking
generally about agencies.
The Court: That's right.
lVIr. Baker: I have never asked the witness-If any of his
testimony that he is now giving does not apply to tl1e Bowen
Company account I would like for the witness to specify it. I
do not ask you to say anything more than applies to the Bowen
account.
Mr. Garnett: The Bowen Con1pany account or the BowenCRT account f
Mr. Baker: The Bowen Con1pany account, generally.
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A. The Bowen account-CRT account was not handled on
an account rendering basis but on an item basis, is that what
you wanted?
A. No, sir. I do not know what an item basis is. Were
some of these CRT policies monthly payments inpage 1111 ~ stead of annual premiums~
A. Yes, sir. On an item basis they are not
reported in the account current.
Q. That i,s what loses me; what is the account currentY
A. That's the point I was on when you interrupted me. The
account current is a form that the agents use to report the
business that they produce in a given month to us.
You will recall that I said we got copies of the policies and
we charged to the agent those premiumsQ. The copies of the policies are what you previously identified as daily reports, are they not Y
A. That is correct.
Q. The daily reports for a given month are attached to the
monthly account current formA. No, sir. The daily report becmnes part of your underwriting record.
Q. Is the account current form n1erely a restatement of the
daily reports sent in during the month 1
A. No. The account current form is the accounting· that the
agency gives to us for the business that is produced. The
daily report is a copy of the policy and it goes into an under·writing file.
Q. You have already received on a daily basis a report
from the agency of the business produced by the
page 1112 ~ receipt of the daily reports 1
A. That is correct. And from those daily reports a charge was made for each item under that policy number.
Q. 1\iy question to you, Mr. Shields, was this: Is then theWhat is this current form 1
A. Account current.
Q. The account current form is sent in monthly; is that a
restatement, I mean when it is properly done, is that a restatement by your general agents of the information already
furnished you by sending in daily 1·eports Y
A. Not of the information, no. It only gives dollars and
cents, and policy number~, and the nan1e of the assured.
Most of the other information is on the daily report.
The accounting for the money, that is produced by the daily
reports. I think tha.t is the best way to state it.
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Q. Let's put it a bit differently: The daily reports contain all ·of the information that is ~summarized on your account current form plus some other information, is that right!
A. Yes, sir.
Q. All the information you could get on the monthly account current form has been previously furnished you in the
form of daily reports, right?
A. No, sir. The account current goes a bit
page 1113 r further. It takes off the commission, so forth and
so on.
Q. With exception of the agency commission, all information one vrould find on the account current form that is filed
monthly has been previously given the company on daily reports?
A. In effect, yes.
Q. All right, sir. Go ahead. Was there some more explanation you wan ted to make?
.A. As I stated before, the account current accounts for all
the daily reports that have been submitted for a. given month.
That is the normal procedure. In addition to that, you have
special risks in some agencies and you have special ways of
handling those special risks. In the case of Bowen Company,
the CRT account was handled on an item basis.
Q. All of the coverage-all of the CRT coverage placed
with your company by Bowen was 'handled on an item basis¥
A. When I say item basis, we had two policies that were
broken down into installments. In addition, I believe there
wasQ. Let's stop there, because this is rather technical for all
of us. I think we should stop and clarify it as 've go along.
· You had two policies broken down on an installment basis;
'vere they nnnual policies with an annual premium but payable
in monthly installments only for the convenience
page 1114 ~ of the customer 1
A. That is correct.
Q·. All right, sir.
A. And in addition to that, there· was one policy what we
call hospitalization policy that was written on the drivers.
That was a reporting form type. And until they knew how
many drivers they had in a given month they didn't know the
charge, so that was a monthly charge on that type policy.
By the Court :
Q. Based on the number of driver's they had for that particular month.
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A. That is correct-due so much premium.
By Mr. Baker: (Continuing)
Q. You say yoG bad the type of policy that covers hospitalization, what type of coverage was on the policy, Mr. Shields?
A. I would have to have the industrial reports to give you
that. I'm not fanliliar with that end of the insurance. I'm
sorry.
Q. Do you know whether or not your company carried the
motor vehicle liability coverag·e on the buses of CRT'
A.· We did have the liability policy; yes.
Q. Do you know whether or not that was a usual and customary type of liability coverage Y
page 1115 ~ A. That I could not answer, because I'm not
familiar with underwriting, sir.
Q. As general accountant for this regional office would you
not have to know the proper basis of charge to the account
before you could determine whether or not there had been
proper payment on the account?
A. Sir, you don't understand our accounting method. I
have nothing to do with the charge for the policy. I only collect the money after it has been charged from the daily report.
The daily report is produced in our underwriting department.
Q. Who determines how much is supposed to be charged for
the policy?
A. The underwriters.
The Court: Their underwriters. He told you that indirectly.
Mr. Baker: He did indirectly, if the Court please. I am
doing my best to get this so we can all understand it. I think
that I understand a whole lot more of it than I did when we
started.

Q. Over the years what contact did you have with Mr.
Bowen, Mr. Shields?
A. Mr. Bowen?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. Until today I had never seen him.
page 1116 ~ Q. What contact did you have with Mr. McMurran over the years?
A. I have talked with Mr. Mc1\1:urran on the telephone. Until
today I had never seen him, either.
Q. Over what period of years-How far back does this
practice of talking with hin1 on the telephone go' .
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A. WellThe Court: Mr. McMurran, you mean?
Mr. Baker: Yes, sir. He said he never talked to
I think.

~fr.

Bowen,

A. I believe sometime in 1959. I'm not sure of the time.
Q. You never conferred with him prior to 1959, in your
opinion, according to your recollection?
A. I may have for some reason or another. I couldn't say.
Q. Did you know prior to 1959 who the owner of Bowen
and Company was?
A. Well, I always understood that it was owned by Mr.
Bowen.
Q. Did you know that Mr. Mc:Murran was employed in the
Bowen Company Y
A. I did know that ~Ir. 1\{cMurran was in fhere; yes.
Q. Did you know what his position in the
page 1117 } agency was?
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you know who you should go to in the event the explanations from Mrs. "\Vebb were not satisfactory¥
A. Well, we don't-we don't go to anybody. We work
.through our state agents.
Q. You went to Mrs. vVebb you said, I thinkA. We wrote to her.
Q. --on several occasions.
A. That is normal procedure. And if we can't get satisfaction we turn it over to our state agent in the territory. He
is supposed to contact the agency and find out w·hat the trouble
is.
Q. The account never reached the point where you felt that
you should turn it over to your =state agent prior to February,
1959, did it?
A. It did, and it was turned over to him.
Q. When?
A. I will have to qualify what I m.ea.n by turning over. We
have what we call a balance sheet that is issued each month
listing all agencies that have a balance outstanding seventy
days old.
.
Q. When was it turned over to the state agent?
A. When?
Q. Yes, sir.
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A. I couldn't say, sir. He was automatically
page 1118 } notified any time that those item's became-a
regular account over sixty days due, and a CRT
account over ninety days due.
Q. I thought that was when you would call the bookkeeper
yourself¥
A. No, the bookkeeper gave it to us. "\Ve would write on
it at the end of sixty days.
Q. You did not bother about contacting anybody until it
was sixty days after it became due, did you 1
A. We did on differences. I am speaking of balances. You
will have to understand that a difference item is not one that
is on the agent's account current. The account current takes
down, oh, many items and produces a net balance for all the
itmns listed in that account.
Q. You mean then that if the account current failed to show
all of the policies shown by the daily reports-is that what
you meant
A. Yes, sir. That is what I mean.
Q. Did this account reach that status, J\.Ir. Shields¥ According to your recollection¥ I don't mean opinion, now. I
nwan do you know whether the Bowen CompanyA. I don't understand your questi<>n, sir.
Q. Did tl1e Bowen Company account reac·h the status of
accounts current not showing all of theA. "\Ve always have differences, I would say, with every
agent tha.t we have. 'Ve constantly have differpage 1119 ~ ences. That is, primarily, our job..
Q. I see, sir.
A. Does that answer your question¥ This is on differences,
only; not balances.
Q. I think it does. Did you indicate that every tin1e these
differences, such as you always ·have with all agencies, sho'v
up that they are referred automatically to the state agent?
A. No, sir. After they become so old and if you will recall
I said the balances went automatically on the b~lance sl1eet on
a seventy day basis.
Q. That is ten days past the sixty days.
A. Ten days past the sixty days we pull the sixty days
balances and they go on the balance list. A CRT item will
p;o on tl1ere after ninety days. A CRT iten1 is what my books
call a difference: not a balance.
Q. You n1ea.n it starts off a difference 1
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A. It is a difference.
Q. It is a difference when it first comes in~
A. No. vVe have twelve monthly installments set up on a
policy and they are due the twelve n1ontbs-J annary, February, March, April-The J anua.ry iten1 would be past due on
March 31st. In other words it would be ninety days past due.
Q. When you say a CRT item is a difference,
page 1120 r according to your books, what do you mean by
that, Mr. Shields?
A. It becomes ninety days old.
Q. Yon said your girls aut01natically would pick it up because a CRT account is a difference; were all CRT iten1s
differences?
A. No, sir. What I meant was that the girls would pick up
a CRT item and write on it just like any other difference.
When it became ninety days old tba.t was handled specially
.and put on the policy sheet for the state agent to take care
of.
Q. Why was the CRT handled differently?
A. Because the other differences normally cleared throug·h
reporting any subsequent account current, and they don't pay
them.
.
Q. CRT was not reported in the account current~
A. No, sir.
Q. It 'vas not supposed to be reported in the account current?
A. No, sir. It was paid as an item. I think when I said
item basis, you probably didn't understand what I 1neant.
Q. I didn't, but I am getting- it straight.
A. CRT was on an item basis; yes, sir.
Q. Are you a CPA?
A. No, sir.
page 1121 ~ Q. What accounting education have you had,
Mr. Shields!
A. I attended and completed the bookkeeping course at the
Richmond Business College, and also took four courses
through the Armed Forces Institute while I was in service.
Q. That is the lin1it of your education in the accounting
field 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. When were you in the service?
A. December 15, 1941 to January 3, 1946. Four years, nineteen days.
Q. Fron1 December, 1941A. Yes, sir.
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Q. -to January, 1946?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. What branch of the .service were you in f
A. Navy.

The Court: Tell me, what does that have to do with this
case?
Mr. Baker: It may have something to do with his ability as
an Mcountant. He may have been an accountant in the
Navy.
Q. What was your rating in the Navy?
A. Chief Storekeeper-Disbursing.
Q. That is Pay Officer¥
page 1122 ~ A. Yes, sir, under general accounting.
Q. Where were you stationed 1
A. Norfolk, twenty-three months, and on board ship eighteen.
~Ir.

Baker: I have no further questions.
R.E-DIRECT EXAl\iiNATION.

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Mr. Shields, the state agent, I believe you referred to,
wl1o would that be in this a.rea.?
A. Mr. E. S. Broach.
Mr. Garnett: Thank you.
Witness stood aside.
The Court: Next witness.
Mr. Garnett: Judge, I assume we will adjourn at 6 :00
o'clock?
The Court: If you have another short witness I will be
glad to hear him.
Mr. Garnett : No, sir, I do not.
The Oourt: You made the statement in Chambers, in the
presence of other counsel, that there was one
page 1123 ~ witness you wanted to get rid of this evening.
1\{r. Garnett: I did, Judge, but he will take
about thirty minutes. I had no idea Mr. Shields would be on
the witness stand that long. I would rather not put this wit-
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ness on at this time. I do not want his evidence split from
today until vVednesday.
The Court: All right, then. You do not have any other
witness you can use at this time?
Mr. Garnett: No, sir, I do not.
The Court: Court will adjourn, then, until August the 9th
at 10 :00 o'clock.
Note: Court adjourns at 5:50 P. M. (EST)

page 1125

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

~

EDWARD S. BROACH,
called as a witness on behalf of the Commonwealfh, having
been fi·rst duly sworn, was exan1ined and testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAl\tiiNATION.
By Mr. Garnett:

•
page 1127

~

•

•

•

•

Q. Would you state your name, please, sir?

A. Edward S. Broach.
Q. Where do you live, 1\{r. Broach?
A. I live at 5922 Lynnhaven Crescent in Norfolk.
Q. What is the nature of your business or occupation 1
A. I an1 at this time state agent of the Royal Globe Indeminity Insurance Companies.
Q. Were you so engaged during, we will say the year 19581
A. Yes, sir.
Q. 1957?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What was your area of operation during those two years
particularly?
A. My territory comprised basically the southeastern section of Virginia and of the Tidewater area.
Q. Did that or not include tl1e City of Newport News?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What are the duties, generally, of a state agent for
Globe?
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Mr. Baker: If the Court please, we object. I think that
he is limited to what his duties are.
page 1128 ~ The Court: Yes, I think that's right.
Mr. Garnett: We will rephrase the question.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. What are your duties, Mr. Broach, as state agent
generally?
A. Basically, my duties is to have personal contact with
the agents in my territory to try to get them to place their
business with our companies; to assist them in obtaining· business; to see that they pay us for the business they write; to
appoint agents and act as a contact between agents and
customers and affairs in my territory.
Q·. Would your duties lend themselves to any delinquent accounts that an agent may have with Globe¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And bow would you become involved in such as that?
A. Well, each month we receive from our accounting department what we call a balance sheet and thereon are listed
names of those agents who have not paid their balances within
a sixty-day period, which is a normal period for payment of
balances.
Q. And suppose an agent or an agency were to show up on
that balance sheet then what would you do, if
page 1129 ~ anything?
A. It is my responsibility to see that that
money that they had due the company is paid. I see those
agents. I either call on the phone or I go to see them or try
otherwise to get the money. If not, I find out why it hasn't
been paid.
Q. And would you write to them or visit them personally?
A. Most of the tin1e I either do it by telephone or by personal visit. Rarely do we write.
Q. Directing your attention to the year 1958, did you ever
have occasion to call on any agency or agencies in Newport
News relative to delinquent account or accounts?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. With specific reference, did you ever have occasion to
call on the Bowen Company, the vV. C. Bowen Company?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And why did you call on that company?
A. Because their name 'vould appear on the balance sheet
as having a balance over sixty days due and-
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The Court: Ia that what you called ''a delinquent account''
a little while ago1
The Witness : Well, maybe I can g·o into a little more detailThe Court: Well, I am just asking. You said
page 1130 ~ something about delinquent accounts of agents.
The "\Vitness: Yes, sir.
The Court: All right.
A. (Continuing) And also with-in connection with what
we call accounting differences wherein the accounting rendered would have 1naybe some different figure than our record
would show from daily reports that were sent to the company.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Were you familiar at all with an account commonly
called "T'he C. R. T. Account?"
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you recall whether or not you ever visited Bowen
Company with reference to that account during the year 1958 ~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And why did you visit them in regard to that account?
A. That account would show separately on my balance
sheet as a specific amount of the C. R. T., therefore I knew
that, what amount was involved in delinquency under C. R. T.
Q. Did you make a personal appearance at fhe office or
not?
page 1131 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you make more than one Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And when you went to the office of Bowen Company to
discuss the 0. R. T. account with whom did you discuss it?
A. 'Vith Mrs. Webb.
Q. Did you ever discuss it with Mr. Mc1Iurran or Mr.
Bowen?
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you ever discuss it with anyone else in the office
other than ~Irs. Webb 1
A. No, sir.
Q. Do you ever recall going there with the purpose in mind
-of discussing it 'vith anyone else besides Mrs. Webb?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And what happened on that occasion?
A. On that occasion I had noted that the C. R. T. was quite
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frequently late and I couldn't understand why that should be,
so I told Mrs. Webb I felt I would like to talk to Mr. McMurra.n about that particular account. She asked me not to.
She said that he was busy, they were familiar ·with the problem and that they would in very short order have it cleared
up and have everything paid as due. So, deferpage 1132 ~ ring to that wish I did not talk to him.
~Ir.

Garnett: Answer J\fr. Baker or Mr. Ferguson.
CROSS EXAMINATION.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Broach~ you say your duties as state agent are to
make personal contact with the agents 1
A. Yes, sir, I call on the agents who represent us in our
field.
Q. Who was your agent in the Bowen Company?
A. The Bowen Company?
Q. You have a corporate agency?
A. Yes, sir, I think one company is incorporated.
Q. I understand that, sir, but did you not have an agent, not
a corporate agent, licensed as an insurance broker in this
state, and did you not, your company, file with the State Corporation Commission the name of your agent in the Bowen
Company Corporation?
A. (Pause) I don't know that I quite follow what you mean
individuals in the Bowen Corporation 1 They were licensed
as agents if that is what you refer to.
Q. Yes, ·sir. And as a matter of fact it is
page 1133 ~ required by the State Corporation Commission
regulations that the agent be an individual and
not a corporation, isn't that true?
A. I think corporations are licensed and individual agencies
'vho sign policies and solicit insurance are also required to be
licensed.
Q. Do you know any corporate agency in your entire territory that is licensed by the State Corporation Commission as
an insurance agent?
A. None.
Q. None other?
A. It is my belief that a corporation has to be licensed. I'm
not sure about that.
Q. Well, don't you take care of the filing with the State
Corporation Commission of your authorized agents Y
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A. No, sir, I don't file anything with the State Corporation
Commission.
Q. Well, don't you know it is required by law and regulations of the State Corporation Commission that your company file the name of your authorized agent?
A. I told you I felt they were licensed. I will explain to
youQ. A blue card about this long, sort of like a license application 'f
A. I don't complete anything such as that. We
page 1134 ~ have a little sn1alllicense card that we have completed.
Q. Well, isn't it a fact, Mr. Broach, that the agent is licensed individually and not the corporation'
A. You're right, yes, sir.
Q. That is rig·ht, isn't it?
A. The individual holds the license, yes, sir.
Q. And did Mrs. 'Vebb hold any such license?
A. I don't know.
Q. lVIrs. Vl ebb wasn't your agent, was she?
A. I think she was, so far as I know, she 'vas not licensed
'vith our company.
Q. Your duties were to 1naintain contact with the agents?
A. With the agency.
Q. I thought you said with personal contact with the agents
of your cmnpany?
A. That is right.
Q. The agents?
A. That is right.
Q. And the agent in Bowen Company was who?
A. The individuals licensed in Bowen Company were varying. There were several of them.
Q. Who were your company's ag·ents in the Bowen Company.
A. At this particular moment I think Mr. Mepage 1135 ~ }..furran, Mr. Bowen and Mr. Catlett hold a license.
Q. As of 1958, when you made these trips to the Bowen
Company office, who were your company's agents in that
c01npany at that time?
A. Other than 1\ir. Bowen and 1\{r. McMurran, I'm not sure
just when-yes-Mr. Cowling was there then; and whether or
not anyone else held a license I'm not sure. They vary the
times 've have had surveys of individuals who hold licenses.
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Q. Are you telling the Court then that in 1958 you did not
discharge your duties as State agent in maintaining personal
contact with your agents?
A. No, sir, I an1 not telling him that.
Q. All right, sir. Are you telling the Court that you never
discussed the status of the Bowen Con1pany accounts with
your company with ~ir. lVIc~iurran?
A. One thne when I first started calling on the agency I
asked :fi'h·. McMurran about a particular item-I'm not clear
what it was-and he looked at some record and said "Yes, we
o"'e you such and such,'' whatever it was.
Q. And when was that, in '57 or '58~
A. That, very possibly, 'vas in the latter part of 1957, as
W(lll as I recall.
I started calling on the agency-we had
another u1an who called on then1 until some two or three
years ago.
page 1136 ~
Q. And this was with regard to a discrepancy
or apparent discrepancy in the C. R. T. accountf
A. No, no, it was not a C. R. T. account. We have with the
agency-they render separate-there are separate balances
for the C. R. T. and tl1e other g·eneral run of business.
Q. 'Veil, why did you take it up with ~{r. l\1:cMurran on that
occasion if you have a custom to do all your business with
~irs. Webbf
A. Because I had just started calling on the agency at that
tiine.
Q. Yes1
A. And on this particular occasion I recall asking him about
it. l\Irs. vVebb, I always dealt with her on accounting matters,
dividends and all such as that.
Q. You had just started in the latter part of '57?
A. I am not certain. I think it was the latter part of '57.
I 'n1 not c8rtaiu.
Q. l\Ir. Broach, it is rather important that you be certain,
that you testify under oath on it. Didn't you testify that you
called on the Bowen Company agency throughout the years
1957 and 1958?
A. I don't think I said I called on them throughout the
year 1957. I'm not positive just when I started.
Q. Were you not asked the question whether
pag·e 1137 ~ or not your employment as State .Agent for the
Royal Globe Indeminity Company embraced the
years 1957 and 1958?
.A. It certainly did.
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Q. Were you not asked whether Newport News was part of
your territory during that period 1
A. It was, sir.
Q. And were you not asked whether or not Bowen Company was one of the agencies upon whom you called during
that period T
A. During 1957, I called on the agency. I am not certain
as to just when I started calling on then1.
Q. Well, now, did your company have some other State
agents for the Bowen Company for the first part of '57, prior
to theA. Prior to the time I started we did have another man.
Q. Do you kno'v when you started 1
A. No, sir, I told you I didn't lmow. I can find out by looking on my records but here now, I don't know.
Q. Then if we got the in1pression from your testimony that
the period covered was the year '57 and '58 we got the wrong
impression from your testimony?

:1\fr. Garnett: I object to that, your Honor, because I don't
care what kind of impression Mr. 'Baker got
page 1138 } from it.
The Court: I am going to let him cross
examine him on '57 and '58, because the man did say that he
did represent Globe in '57 and '58.
Mr. Garnett: Ife didn't say ''throughout'' though.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. You stated that on one occasion 1\frs. Vvebb told you
when you were considering conferring with Mr. McMurran
about something in the C. R. T. account that ''They know all
about this." Do you kno'v whether she had reference to :1\{r.
1\fcMurran from the context of the discussion or not?
A. I spoke of talking to Mr. McMurran, and she said "I
'vould prefer that you not bother him, he is busy. I understand about this. We will try to get everything· cleared so we
will get things paid on time.''
Q. I thought your answer was that ''They are familiar with
the problem.'' Didn't you say ''they Y''
A. I believe I did use the word ''they." Yes, sir.
Q. Well, do you know which was used on that occasion''McMurran" or "they?'' Do you know?
A. I would say-
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page 1139

~

The Court: Well, if you don't know say you
don't know.

A. "\Vel1, I can't recall the exact words.
The Court : All right then, you can't recall.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Well, do you recall whether the sense of the words that
were used referred to more than one person 1
A. Our conversation was in regard to Mr. J\lfcMurran, and
I would assume that anything that was said was with reference to Mr. McMurran.
Q. So she assured you that as of t1Ia t titne he was fa1niliar
with the problem?
A. T'hat is what Mrs. Webb said, yes, sir.
Q. And you never found anything sufficiently wrong with
this account to justify you in going to Mr. McMurran or to
Mr. Bo,ven?
A. Beyond that, I never talked to them about it. I had
relied on what she told me.
Q. Now, these policies that you have reference to, do they
include what we understand to be the great bulk, at least, of
premiums which "rere adjustable premium policies?
A. At that time, I believe there were three policies which
were payable in equal amounts on the first of each month.
There was also an accident and health policy, I
page 1140 ~ believe, or hospitalization policy, that varied
s01newhat from month to month. I am not too
familiar with the details of that. All I know is what appear
on the. sheet I get.
Q. Well, now, the basic liability policy is probably the biggest premium policy for coverage on these buses 1
A. I can't ans·wer that with any certainty because I never
knew 'vhat the exact figures on any policy was.
Q. Well, you do know, thoug·h, do you not, 1\Ir. Broach, that
there was an annual auditA. ·Yes, sir.
Q. -of the C. R. T. accounts and annual adjusbnents?
A. May I ask as to the word you used-" audit." Our
auditing department probably went on audits to audit some
accounts to determine the payroll and compensation and other
accotmts and things of that sort. You mean C. R. T?
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Q. Yes.

A. Yes, sir.
Q. What was the audit day~
A. I don't know.
Q. In any event it was customary that following this audit
day that the prerniu1ns that had to be adjusted annually would
be adjusted after your company's auditors had audited
C. R. T. C01npany's account 1
page 1141 ~ A. Yes.
Q. And if the estimated monthly pren1ium had
exceeded the total annual pretuhun there would be a refund
coming from C. R. T. ~
A. That is n1y understanding.
Q. And if the estiinated anual premiu1n had been low and
the twelve monthly payments had not amounted to the total
pren1iun1 C. R. T. would have to n1a.ke an adjustment?
A. Yes, sir. That is my understanding that it was adjusted up or down.
Q. And there was always an adjusbnent in April of every
year1
A. I can't tell you the year.
Q. vVell, annually in any event 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And that adjustment was brought about after an audit
of the account in the C. R. T. office?
A. I don't have any personal knowledge of an audit. I just
assume that there was one.
Q. Well, do you know that if the custmnary practice of your
company were followed that is the way that would be done?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And after that audit your con1pany would determine how
much the actual prmniun1 for the year in quespage 1142 ~ tion should have been as distinguished from
what was estimated and if tl1ere was any difference·?
A. I am having to assun1e things because I don't know
wlmt happened after the audits or even-I can't definitely
testify that there was. I assume. I don't know. That is out
of my field of operation.
Q. In the balance sheets that would come to you on this
particular account w·ouldn 't that reflect charges and possibly
credits on the adjusting· mnount paid anually on these policies?
A. This only reflects, say a balance was due on J\'farch the
first. I would get a sheet son1ewhere around the middle of
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March indicating that that particular item that was due
March the first had not yet been paid.
Q. Well, did you getA. It would have a policy number and a symbol giving
the amount.
Q. Did you get an annual statement?
A. No, sir, I did not get any kind of annual statement.
Q. Well, did you get any sta.te1nent from your company
once you bad an indication that there 'vas arrearage due or
any further statements to indicate it had been cleared if it had
been cleared¥
A. If they are cleared I would get a clearpage 1143 ~ ance slip saying such and such is cleared from
such and such account.
Q. And you got such a slip at least annually with regard
to the C.R.T. account, didn't you?
A. \Ve get those, well, not daily, but we get them all during
the year as n1oney comes in to the company. After an agent's
name appears on the balance sheet then we get these little
clearance slips.
Q. And after the adjusting payment, one way or the other
annually you always got a clearance slip showing the account
'vas in good status at that time, wouldn't you?
A. If they have put a balance on this sheet and it was
subsequently paid I would get a little slip to mark it off of
my sheet.
Q. And you did get such slips?
A. Well, I am certain I must have, yes.
Q. Well, now, who checked the status of the account in the
Bowen office for your company, you T
A. If you are referring to books, no, sir, I didn't. The
extent of my checking was to talk to 1\.irs. vVebb.
Q. Your agency contract with the Bowen Oompany gave
your company a right to check their books, doesn't it?
A. No, sir. they do not give us a right to check their
books unless there is a certain phase:-there is a certain
phase in there about an agency being in default
page 1144 ~ to a certain extent. And then we probably 'vould
have the right to check their books; yes, sir. I
couldn't swear to that though.
Q. You have not done it in your experience as a State
agent to actually using that authority with regard to this
or other agencies?
A. We have done that to other agencies, yes, sir.
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Q. And you do have the authority so far as you know
under your contract to check it, don't you 1
A. I can tell you that we have done it. " 7hen it \Yas or who
the agents were that were involved and whether they permitted us to do it, I never had an occasion where this has
arisen and I don't know a.s to what the situation 'vould be.
Q. You never had had an occasion where you had reason
to believe that the insured had actually paid the premium
to the agency and the agency said ''No.'' You never had that
in your experience as a State agent?
· A. When the agent said he hadn't yet collected it Y
Q. And "then you had reason to believe the insured had
paid the premium you never had had that experience as a
State agent?
A. I can't recall a situation. It was very rare that we
deal in individual accounts. Very rarely it would have to
be done.
page 1145 ~ Q. You rarely have individual accounts the
size of C.R. T. Y
A. That is right.
Q. That is an unusually large cmnpany for comminglingY
A. For any field it is. I don't know about commingling.
Q. So much so that it received special handling in your
office, in your company's office, in your Richmond office, I
mean?
A. I think it did. I wasn't handling that.
Q. Well, the balance sheets that you would get, or whatever
you call them, the C.R.T. would be stated separately from
any other liabilities, wouldn't it?
A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. Identified as '' C.R. T. ''
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And so the records of C.R.T. were not con1n1ingled in
your Richmond office according to 'vha t you got from them?
A. No, on the sheet I got they were not. Beyond that I
can't say.
Q. And do you know what the accounting period or cutoff
auditing period of these accounts in the Richmond offi.ce Y
A. The accounting period?
page 1146 ~ Q. T·he auditing period was? Was there any
specified time for auditing the various accounts
in your Richmond offi-ce?
A. On each month the agents render us an account which
our people in the accounting department check and balance
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against their records for that same period. It is a monthly
thing.
Q. Now, as to the C. R. T. account particularly, Mr. Boach,
do you know whether or not the Citizens Rapid Transit was
billed by your Richmond office?
A. I can tell you from hearsay. I don'tThe Court: Well, now, if you don't know, don't do it.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. I don't want any hearsay.
A. Not of my own knowledge, no, sir.
Q. You never witnessed any?
A. No, sir, I never saw a bill. I never saw a bill about the
C.R. T. balance-account.
Mr. Baker: Just a minute, if the Court please.
By Mr. Baker:
page 1147

~

Q. One other thing, Mr. Broach. You have
told us, now, about one time that you talked to
~{r. ~{c~furran about an account?

Tl1e Court : In '57, he said.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. You are not positive that that is the only time you talked
to l\fr. Mcl\furran about this business, are you?
A. To my knowledge that is the only time I had talked
with l\Ir. ~IcMurran about his accounting matters. I mean
I have, of course, discussed other things with l\{r. l\fcl'Iurran,
but to my lrno,v1edge, prior to the time that our present problems developed, I don't recall but the one time I have talked
to him.
Q. Well, "\vho told you to take these matters up with Mrs.
Webb. Did you just assume tha.t or did Mr. McMurran tell
you ·or who told you'
A. I can't answer that question. Mrs. Webb, I knew, kept
the books. When I first started ''Te had what we called
"differences," and I would discuss those with her and we
would work and try to ge~ven them out, and I was just
always there thereafter and discussed those matters with
l\{rs. Webb. She was there doing the accounting and keeping the books.
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Q. Don't you recall whether or not Mrs. Webb sought the

·
page 1148

assistance of Mr. McMurran in trying to explain
some of these apparent differences; .don't you
remember that Y
A. No, sir, I don't recall an instance in 'vhich she did.
Q. Not in your presence anyway 7
~

The Court : You don't recall 1
A. I don't recall any instance when she did.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Do you meanA. I am not saying she didn't. I don't recall.
Q. Do you mean you don't recall any specific instance
in which you can give a date or do you mean that she may
have but you don't recall or what do you mean by your
answer?
A. I simply say that I don't recall at anytime that ~frs.
Webb in my presence discussed with Mr. 1\Ic~Iurran any accounting matters.
Q. Well, does your failure to recall mean-do you intend
to tell us that she may have and you don't recall it or that
she never: which do you mean by that?
A. If I recall-I don't know whether she did or did not.
I am not saying she did and I an1 not saying she didn't. I
don't recall.
Q. You don't recall that she dicln 't and you don't recall
that she did, is that right, sir Y
page 1149 ~ A. That's right. .
Q. All right, sir. You always went to Mr. ~fcMurran if he was in the office, didn't you Y
A. Yes, sir, if he was there I usually talked to him.
Q. Or to Mr. Bowen?
A. Mr. Bowen was very rarely there. I very seldom
talked to Mr. Bowen.
Q. So it was your custom on every trip that you made if
Mr. McMurran was there to talk with him about ~something,
\Vasn't it?
A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Baker: That is all, sir.
Mr. Garnett: Thank you. Stand down. Call Mr. Whiteside.
The Court: Do you want Mr. Broach any more today?
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1\fr. Garnett: No, sir, I'n1 through with l\Ir. Broach.
Mr. Baker: No, sir.
The Court : You may be excused. Take the stand, 1\Ir.
vVhiteside.
1\ir. Baker: If the Court please, it is within the sound
disc.retion of the Court as to whether or not a ""itness may
be recalled.
page 1150 ~ The Court: That is correct.
.
Mr. Baker: I want at this time to object
to recalling this witness unless the attorney for the Comnlonwealth can give reasons to justify the Court in exercising
its sound discretion to permit recalling the witness.
Mr. Garnett: I don't think that his objection is sound,
your H·onor.
· T·he Court: Just a minute. 'Vhen he left the .stand you said
that in all probability that you would recall him and no objection was made at that tin1e.
Mr. Garnett: And the Court gave me permission to do
that.
The Court : Go ahead.
E. D. 'VHITESIDE,
recalled as a witness on behalf of the Comn1onwealth, having
been previously sworn, was examined and testified as follows :
page 1151

~

DIRECT EXAMINATION (Rec)

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now, Mr. 'VhitesideDr. Baker: If the Court please, I have an objection to this
Exhibit being shown to this witness a.t this time, and I would
like to be heard on it before it is actually shown.
The Court: All right.
Mr. Baker: This is the Exl1ibit, if the Court will recall,
where there was a great deal of writing and figures on it
introduced for identification only by Mr. Shields. It was my
understanding t'hat a copy of all the original typewritten
figures identified by Mr. Shields would be made, and by
agreement of counsel, with the ·Court's permission, would be
substituted for this Exhibit. I object to this witness being
examined through this piece of paper 'vith figures on it not
identified by Mr. Shields. I object to its use, if the Court
please, until the substitute had been substituted for this
one with no extraneous writing and figures and cmnputations
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by sOineone, I am advised, not by Mr. Whiteside,
and by Mr. Shields' own testimony. And I am objecting· to the use of it until the substitute is
prepared. I don't think this man should be shownThe Court: I never had seen it.
Mr. Baker: I understand, but the Court understands the
status of it, and I think it is more improper that this witness
see it than it would be the Court until it is in the form that
Mr. Shields did identify it; and Mr. Shields did not identify
anything on here except the typewritten part.
The Court: I understood that there was to be a substitute.
Mr. Baker: I an1 just objecting to its use until the substitute as promised by the attorney for the ·Commonwealth
has been made.
Mr. Garnett: I suggest, your Honor, that proper procedure "rould lend to counsel waiting until I ask the question
before he objects.
The Court: I don't know anything about it, sir.
1\fr. Garnett: All right, sir.
page 1152

~

Bv Mr. Garnett:
·Q. Now, Nlr. Whitesidepage 1153

~

1\Ir. Baker: If the Court please, if this is
to be shown to this 'vitness I would like the
Court to rule on the objection.
The Court: I don't know, 1\ilr.-what is it that you object
to. It's not one, you said. Mr. Baker: I object to it, if the Court please, for the
reason it is an Exhibit introduced for identification only
through the witness 1\Ir. Shields.
The Court: I remember that, sir.
1\tlr. Baker: With the representation n1ade nearly a week
agoThe Court: That was last vVednesday.
Mr. Baker: Nearly a week ago-it was a week ago come
this afternoon, that a substitute without all these notations
prepared by s01neone else presumablyThe Court : I remember fha t. I don't think he bas offered
it yet.
Mr. Garnett: I certainly have not yet.
1\fr. Baker: I know he never offered it, but I am objecting
to it being shown to the witness.
page 1154 ~ The Court: And his not living up to his
. agreement of last Wednesday Y
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Mr. Baker: Yes, sir.
Mr. Garnett: Your Honor, there has never been a question
of not living up to my agreement.
The Court: .And have this witness identify this. An
agreement was madeMr. Garnett: There has never been a question of my not
living up to my agreement.
The ·Court: Mr. Garnett, will you listen to the Gourt a
minute?
Mr. Garnett: Yes, sir.
The Court: An agreement was made last week, if that is
worrying Mr. Baker-I don't even know what you haveMr. Garnett: Nobody knows what I have because I haven't
had a chance to show it to the witness, and I insist on my
right to the witness either identifying it or failingg to identify
this piece of paperThe Court: If you will understand the Court without
getting 50 riled upMr. Garnett: Well, there has been talk about
pag·e 1155 ~ living up to my agreement.
The Court: I am concerned about this time
that we live up to what we said last Wednesday. When you
get to that point give Mr. Baker a chance to look at it, if
you please.
Mr. Garnett: I have always lived up to my agreements
either in or out of court.
The Court: Do you understand the Court, 1\fr. Garnett f
Mr. Garnett: Yes, sir.
The Court: The Court has not seen it. I understand last
TV"e<lnesday you said you would take the handwriting that
was put on there by other people, or remarks or whatever
they were, off, and you and Mr. Baker and Mr. Ferguson
agreed that would be done. That is what I understood.
Mr. Garnett: No, sir, what I said was that if and when
I offered it into evidence I will substitute this for a copy or
else I will remove the pencil marks thereon.
The Court: That's right.
1\tir. Garnett: And I have not at this point offered it into
evidence and can not offer it into evidence until
page 1156 r it has been either identified or not identified by
this witness.
The Court: Well, that is exactly what I just got through
telling you. Don't do it until we have this man identify it and
give Mr. Baker an opportunity at that time when you do
do it to see it and make his objection.
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Mr. Garnett: That is why I suggested that proper practice would lend itself to waiting asking the question before
the objection was made.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now, Mr. Whiteside, I show you a piece of paper which
is marked for identification Number 103.
(To the reporter) Are you the smne reporter that was
hereY
The Court: No.
Mr. Garnett: All right. For your inforination, and for
this record, it is entitled-it is on the letterhead of the Royal
Globe Insurance Company and purports to be a letter addressed to E. B. Whiteside, business consultant, ~Iarine J efferson Bank Building, Post Office Box 192, Newpage 1157 ~ port News, \?'irginia, dated March 17th, 1959,
marked for identification Commonwealth's Identification Nutnber 103. Appended thereto also on a form of
Royal Globe Insurance Group is a document consisting of
three pages of typewritten figures and is marked for identification Commonwealth's Identification Number 102.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. No·w, Mr. \Vbiteside, I ask you whether or not you have
ever seen either one or more of those documents Y
(Documents shown to the witness for examination.)
A. Yes, sir.
Q. VVhere did you see those documents before?
A. I originally received a copy in the mail.
Q. Is that what you received in the mail, or not?
A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Garnett: Now, your Honor, in living up to my agreeInent I have here a copy which Mr. Shields was kind enough
to have prepared and sent to me, which purports to be a
copy of the letter, the cover letter, Exhibit Number 103
and the accounting· Exhibit for identification
page 1158 r Number 102.
The Court: Show it to Mr. Baker, No,v, that
is the point we have gotten, to let him see it. Now if you
want a comparison you may do that too, sir.
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Mr. Baker: If the Court pleases, I don't know if I want
to take the Court's time and the time of this case to compare
all of the figures on each one of these.
The ·Court: Well, that would be up to you, sir.
Mr. Baker: Oh.
Mr. Garnett: If you don't want to don't object and let
me go on with my case.
Mr. Baker: I would object to it unless someone else
testifies that they have checked this~fr. Garnett: Speaking of living up to agreements-Boy.
Mr. Baker: If I can have an assurance from the attorney
for the Commonwealth that heThe Court: It is not necessary to make any remarks,
please. Just con1pose yourself.
page 1159 ~ Mr. Baker: If the Court please, if I can have
an assurance from the attorney for the Commonwealth that he has compared the document which Mr. Wlliteside has in his hands with this documentThe Court: I assure you I'm not going to try. If he does
it's all right, and if he doesn't it's all right.
1\{r. Baker: I am not willing unless I do receive such an
assurance to agree that it is a copy without the comparison,
and a comparison will extend the period of time.
1\fr. Garnett: If you want to compare it, compare it.
Mr. Baker : Does the Court recognize my objection?
The Court: Yes. But I can't make him.
Mr. Garnett : I don't have to assure him of anything.
1\fr. Baker: If the attornev can assure me that he has
compared it and it is the same I will accept it.
The ·Court: Well, l1e is not going to do it apparently, so
go ahead and compare it. \\T e will be at ease for
page 1160 ~ five minutes.
(The ·Court recessed at 12 :40 o'clock P.
P. l\L the trial proceeded as follows:)

~I.

At 12 :55 o'clock

J\lfr. Ga!·nett: I hold in my hand, and counsel has agreed
to be a copy of the accounting identified as Commonwealth's
Exhibit Number 102, and attached to the covering letter
m.arked for identification Number 103, I am removing· the
coverinQ: letter ancl I an1 substituting in the place of Identification N11mber 102 the copy of the accounting, which I will
rna rk, if no one has any objection, Identification Number
102-A.

The Court: As agreed to by counsel that will be all right.
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Mr. Baker : The only thing I would like for the record
to show is that t'he attorney forth~ Commonwealth has said
counsel for the defense has agreed that it is a copy of it.
Counsel for the defense has agreed that in the limited examination possible it appears to be a copy and no question is
raised as of this time, butpage 1161 ~ The Court: You either raise it or you don't
raise it. Now, which is it'
.
Mr. Garnett: That's right, it's either a copy or it isn't
a copy.
The Court: That's right, it's either one or the other. If
you want to have more time to compare it it's all right. If
you want more time I'll give you more time to compare it.
Mr. Baker : I think, if the Court please, if it's got to
be so that it would not be subject to question later on, I
think we better actually compare it, not just generally but
figure by :figure.
Mr. Garnett: See, Judge, that's wl1y I don't make any
agreements.
Mr. Baker : Well, I think that was the statement made back
in chambers, if the Court please, that I believed it to be a
copy.
The Court : You said you wouldn't raise any objection to
it at this time, as I understood you.
Mr. Garnett: But only to it admissibilitv.
page 1162 ~ Mr. Baker: I am not" ·objecting now, if·· the
Court pleaseThe Court: But you're now saying it's a copy but with
certain limitations.
Mr. Garnett: And I insist that counsel examine it.
The Court: 'Ve will adjourn until two o'clock for lunch.
(The Court recessed at one o'clock for lunch.)
AFTERNOON SESSION.
(The trial continued)
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, we can state for the record
at the luncheon recess counsel for the defendant were asked
to compare the original of the three sheets of paper purporting· to be an accounting statement, and we
pag-e 1163 ~ can report that we have compared those and the
copy as a copy of the original.
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The Court: Identified by Mr. Shields the other day¥
Mr. Baker: Yes, sir, it is Identification E~bit Number
102, I believe, I've forgotten. 102. 'Ve have compared identification Exhibit Number 102 with what has been marked by
the attorney for the Commonwealth as Exhibit 102-A, and we
find 102-A is a copy of 102.
The Court: All right~
Mr. Baker: As far as the defendant is concerned the '
substitute copy may be marked 102 if that will avoid confusion
in the record.
Mr. Garnett: It is withdrawn-102.
The Court: You have withdrawn which one?
Mr. Garnett: I have withdrawn Identification Number
102. I have substituted therefor Number 102-A.
The Court: Now we can proceed.
Mr. Garnett: Yes, sir.
Mr. Baker: All right, sir.
page 1164} By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now, Mr. Whiteside-pardon me. I don't
believe we got around before the noon recess to introducing
this into evidence, and I now offer Identification Number 102
and 103 into evidence as Co'moon.wealth's Exhibit Number 102
and 103.
Mr. Baker: Of course, we are objecting to the reception
of these two documents into evidence, and the reason for
the objection is that while they have been identified by the
witness Shields and as having been seen by the witness
Wbiteside and as having been received, that it is still no
proof of the contents of the documents or accuracy of the
contents, and without opportunity to examine with regard
to the accuracy of the contents we would object to the reception of either into evidence. Indentification Exhibit Number 103, I believe, is the forwarding letter, which is a letter
from Mr. Raine to ~fr. Whiteside, and all that has been established by the witnesses so far is that it was sent and received.
As far as it being received into evidence as an exhibit and as
evidence of the accuracy or truth of its contents, we object
to its being received into evidence for that purpage 1165 ~ pose, and the same -objection goes with regard
to the enclosures of the letter marked Exhibit
Number 102 or 102-A.
T'here has been no time appropriate to cross examine either
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the writer of the letter regarding the accuracy of the contents of the letter nor any appropriate time to examine Mr.
Shields with regard to the contents of the so-called accounting, he having only identified it and had not given any testimony in regard to it.
vVe obj,~ct to the reception of both exhibits Identification
Number 102 or 102-A as the case may be, and 103 for the·
reasons stated.
The Court: I thought Mr. Shields made the statement
about the eontents of it at the time he identified it.
~Ir. Baker: I think, if the Court please, that Mr. Shields
testified that he had had the girls post some cards and that
he had typed this, but as far as testifying to any of the
figures on here are concerned it is not my recollection he
gave any testin1ony, nor, in my opinion, it would
page 1166 ~ l1ave been appropriate to exan1ine him with regard to it prior to its introduction as exhibits
other than an exhibit for identification only.
We therefore object to the reception of either one in evidence as not being proof of the contents of the exhibits
themselves.
The Court: I will allow it.
1\{r. Baker: Sir?
The Court: I will allow it.
Mr. Baker: All right, will the Court note the exception?
The Court: I will let you note the exception in the
record.
l\ir. Baker : For the reason stated. Thank you, sir.
The Court: Commonwealth's Exhibits 102 and 103, stapled together as one exhibit.
Mr. Baker: The two tog·ether?
The Court: That's right.
(Received and n1arked in evidence as C01nmonwealth 's
Exhibits 102 and 103 respectively.)
By 1\ir. Garnett:
Q. ~Ir. w·hiteside, I hand you Commonwealth's
Exhibit Number 102 and 103. I ask you to look
at the document attached to the letter and tell us what it is.

page 1167 ~

(Handing to the witness for examination.)
A. This is-appears to be a copy itself attached, three
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pages attached. It is the statement of the account of the Royal
Globe Insurance. Group with the Bowen Company.
Q. I ask you \vhether or not, if you know, after this alleged
shortage was discovered, whether or not you reconciledMr. Baker: If the Court please, I object to the use of the
term '' shortgage" by the attorney for the Co1nn1onwealth.
I don't think any witness has identified a ''shortage.'' The
witness Freen1an has made observations to the Court with
regard to a. difference betw·eenThe Court: lie referred to it as a short gage.
Mr. Garnett: He has got a short memory, Judge.
The Conrt: And has referred to it as a short gage.
~:fr. Baker: I object to the use of the term
page 1168 ~ ''shortage'' in any event by the attorney for
the Commonwealth.
The Court: All right, go ahead, sir.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. I ask you, Mr. "\Vhiteside, whether or not after this
alleged shortage was discovered, the C.R.T. account with
Bowen Con1pany was reconciled with the Globe account based
on the state1nent which you hold in your hand f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, can you explain to the Court how that reconciliation took placet IIow it was done?
A. Well, we first start off with what the books of the
Bowen Cmnpany show at that time. Since this is an itemized
stateJnentQ. D"id ·vou find whether in accordance with that statenwnt-let n1e ask you this question before you go into it.
Do you know w'hether or not Globe was finally paid on the
basis of that statement?
A. Yes, sir.
~f r. Baker: If the Court please, I object to that question
as being ](~ading and it is calling· for a hearsay answer. Unless this witness did the paying I object to the
page 1169 ~ question on botl1 grounds.
The Court: I will let you cross-examine him,
:rvrr. Baker. He says he kno,vs it was done, so that is all
'that I can do.
1\fr. Baker: I also object to the leading nature of the
question in fhe event we-''Do ~"OU kno'v whether or not
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Globe was paid on the basis of
leading.
Mr. Garnett: Any freshman in
it is all right.
The Court: Go ahead with the
Mr. Garnett: (To the reporter)
please?

this statement f '' It is
law school will tell you
question.
Read the question back,

(The reporter read the question.)
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Were they or not paid on the basis of that statement!
The Court: He said yes.
Mr. Garnett: I asked whether he knew. He said yes. I
take it to mean he knew, and now I am asking whether or
not they were paid on the basis of that statement.
A. The records show they were, sir.
page 1170

~

J\1r. Garnett: All right, sir.
J\fr. Baker: If the Court please, I object to
the answer of the witness as being based upon

hearsay.
The Court: He testified the record showed it. I see nothing
wrong with that.
Mr. Baker: I just object, if the Court please, to the witness testifying in court whether that records show it. The
records are the best evidence. Hearsay can be from a written instrument and it can be from an oral communication.
The Court: vVell, I think it is all right.
Mr. Baker: All right, we note an exception for the
reason stated.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. ~Ir. \Vhitesicle, did you analyze that statement that you
have there from Globe and compare it with the books of the
Bowen Company or not~
.A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. When you analyzed the statement of the Bowen Company and compared it, this statement, and compared it with
the books of Bowen Company with reference to the C.R.T.
account, what was the result?
.
page 1171 ~ A. I found that they showed items on this
statement that did not appear on the books of
Bowen Company.
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Q. And do you have there in your records the total amount
of difference, or not 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What is the total amount of the difference? I am referring now, Mr. Whiteside, merely to the C.R.T. account.
A. Yes, sir.

The Court : All you have asked him is the difference as
far as the C.R.T. account, is that all 1
Mr. Garnett: Yes, sir, I am asking if he bas that figure
can be give me the amount.
A.

First~

there is $12,669.14 difference.

The Court: $12,000 what?
The Witness: $12,669.14.
1\{r. Baker: If the Court please, at this time I don't think
the witness is not testifying frmn Commonwealth's Exhibit
Number 23, but rather, he is testifying from some memorandum in the file that is open on his lap. I would like to find
out what he is using· to refresl1 his recollection before he
continues to use it.
page 1172 ~ The Court: All he asked him was what is the
difference. He has to know· the difference, what
is on the Bowen books and 'vha.t is on this account, doesn't
he?
Mr. Baker: I imagine, if the Court pleases, that the witness is not testifying from Commonwealth's Exhibit Number
23, which was just handed to him. lie is testifying, rather,
from a file that 'he has opened up in his lap. I don't know
what the file is hut I think 've should all know what he is
referring to to refresh his recollection and if it is a proper
document to use to refresh his memory.
The Court : I can't see as n1uch as you can in all probability.

By The Court:
Q. 'Vhat are you referring to, 1\tir. W'hiteside?
Mr. Baker: He is reading off this piece of paper here.
(Indicating)
A. The analysis of the account showing the items that are
not on the books of Bowen Company and taken from this
statement, as taken from this statement.
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The Court : All right, now do you understand Y
l\ir. Baker: I understand as far as it went,
if the Court please. Among other things, I would like to
know if he made this analysis or if someone else or whose
analysis it is.
page 1173

~

By The Court:
Q. Is that your analysis?
A. Yes, sir.
1\'Ir. Baker: We have certain records, if the Court please,
to meet. I do not contend that the witness should not be
permitted to refresh his memory, but there are certain prerequisites to be established with regard whether they should
·
be permittedThe Court: "\Veil, he has told you what it is. Anything
else you want 1
~Ir. Baker: Ycs, sir. I n1ean should I question hhn about
it, if the Court please?
The Court: If you want to.
CROSS E·XAMINATION.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. 'Vhen did you prepare this analysis, l\{r.
Whiteside?
A. Shortly after receiving this statement, which was March
1959.
Q. What have you made reference to, what were you
using in testifying on examination-may I exan1ine it?
A. ·Yes, sir.
page 1174

~

(File shown to opposing counsel for examination.)
By Mr. Baker:
·Q. These various entries that you have on this Inemorandum, or whatever you 1nake an analysis on, do you have references to the books of account of Bowen Company by date,
by page number, or otherwise that this could be checked
back against on this memorandum?
A. Yes, sir. I don't have the page number. I have dates
and I have the account title.
Q. It is possible by reference to this to refer to the book~
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And check the source of your information on this
memorandmn f
A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Baker: All right, sir.
The Court: All right, go a·head, sir.
Mr. Garnett: I didn't know whether I was
examining the witness or they were examining him.

page 1175

~

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. All right, sir. Now, Mr. Whiteside, I asked you whether
or not you had the figures there to show the difference, if
any existed, between the statement of liabilities to Globe
Company .~~ reflected by the Bowen books and the statement of
liabilities to Globe as reflected by Globe's accounting.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And what 'vas the amount of the difference, if any, in
reference only to the C.R. T. account?
A. The difference shows $12,669.14.
1\fr. Baker: VVhat was that total? Twelve thousand what f
T·he Witness: $12,669.14.
By

~Ir.

Garnett:

Q. Now, did that develop to be the final figure or were

there a.ny adjustments made there?
A. That was the final difference in the C.R. T. account.
page 1176

~

The Court : Final difference~
The Witness: In the C.R.T. account.

By ~{r. Garnett:
Q. All right, sir. No,v, in analyzing this statement as
against the Bowen books, did you find any difference existing
other than in the C. R. T. account?
A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. And what then did you find?
A. We find that the total amount called for by the Globe
Insurance Company statement was $1,667 .99.
The Court: $1667.99 Y
The Witness: $1,667.99, more than we can account for
after adjusting Bowen Company's books for all the differences shown on the statement.
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By M.r. Garnett:
Q. And did you or not further examine the Bowen books
in an effort to find whether or not any discrepancy in that
amount existed?
A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. And did you or not find evidence or find a discrepancy
in that amount existing in the Bowen ·Company books?
A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. And where did you find it, Mr. Whiteside?
page 1177 ~ A. Tracing the account back trying to locate
this difference, after I got back to 1954, if my
recollection is right, the pages of the accounts payable to the
Golbe Insurance Company were not in the book. I then
began to try to recontruct the account back.
Q. Were you able to find these missing pages at Bowen
Company?
A. No, sir.
Q. All right, sir, go ahead.
A. And tracing back the summary of the insurance premiums and collllnissions, I find a figure in November of
1952 a pencil figure in the exact amount of this difference.
Q. Then what did you do?
A. I then traced, after the journal for the month of
November, 1952, and found an old footing in the journal in
two columns, in the accounts payable column and in the accounts receivable column, each for the amount of this difference.
By The Court:
Q. The amount of which difference now?
A. The $1,667,99.
The Court: $1,667.99.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. And you found that situation to exist when
you found that situation. Mr. Whiteside, do you
know whether or not that amount of money was ultimately
paid over the Globe by Bowen Company?

page 1178

~

Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I object unless he knows
other than by looking at something or being told. But I
think if he only knows that because somebody has written
it down and said it was so that doesn't cure it from being
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hearsay any more than if somebody told him, if the Court
please, and I object.
The Court: Let's find out how he does know.
Mr. Baker: All right, sir.
Mr. Garnett: First I asked whether or not he knows.
The Court: Yes.
By l\1:r. Garnett:
Q. Do you know?
A. From the records. The records show it was paid, sir.
Mr. Baker: No,v, of course, if the Court please, that is
my objection; and I realize it maybe a little prepage 1179 ~ n1ature, but I mean when it is obvious what the
answer is going to be the harm is done before
the objection can be made.
Mr. Garnett: Now, your Honor, this gentleman has previously testified that he is the business consultant for Bowen
Company and as such is familiar with their books.
Now, he is perfectly competent to testify as to what these
books reflect.
The Court: That is right, sir. I will certainly hold that.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Mr. Whiteside, after this alleged shortage was discovered did you undertake to do any examination of the
books back from the point where you have testified you discovered this discrepancy. Now, I am talking about the discrepancy you previously testified to in 1959, not the 1952 discrepancy.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What kind of examination, if any, did you conduct of
the books?
A. I did not quite understand.
Q. What kind of examination, if any, did you
page 1180 ~ conduct of the books Y
A. I didn't quite understand.
Q. What kind of examination, if any, did you then conduct
of the books and when did you start such an examination?
A. Well, since the shortage-a shortage-had developed, I
made an examination to determine the amount of the shortage.
Q. And what type of examination did you conduct?
A. Well, I made an audit.

676

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia

E. D. Whiteside.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I would like to note
at this time this man is not permitted by law to call any work
that he does "an audit." It is a misdemeanor under the Code
of Virginia for him. to call any work that he does as ''an
audit.''
I think first that the witness should be wa.rned that he
violates the law, if I am correct in my interpretation of the
law, in using the term ''audit'' or ''accounting'' as describing his work. I do not think the Court should permit a misdemeanor to be committed in the presence of the Court.
I would like to read, if the Court please, the law to which
·
I have referencepage 1181 r Mr. Garnett : Are you finished?
].{r. Baker: No, sir, I have not. I would like
to read the section of the Code of Virginia to which I have
reference:
Section 54-100 of the Code of Virginia:
"It shall be unlawful for any person to engage in the
public practice of accountancy in the State, except those possessing certificates of certified public accountant issued by the
Board, or duly registered public accountants. Any person
not certified by the Board, or any person to whom a certificate
was issued but subsequently revoked, who shall practice as
a certified public accountant shall be deemed g1.1ilty of a misdemeanor, 3nd upon conviction thereof shall be fined not more
than five hundred dollars or imprisoned for not more than
six months, or both, in the discretion of the court or jury.
Any person not registered as a certified public account by
the Board, who shall assume to practice as a certified public
accountant either by the use of the words ''public accountant'
on his door or stationery, or by the signing in
page 1182 ~ the capacity of a public accountant a certificate
in writing in reference to any financial statement,
shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor, and, upon conviction thereof, shall be fined not more than five hundred
dollars or imprisoned for not more than six months, or both
in the discretion of the court or jury; provided, however, that
nothing contained in this chapter shall prohibit any person
engaged in any accountancy work for one or more persons
so long as such person does not hold himself out to the
public as a certified public accountant, or accountant or
auditor, offering his or her services to all those who may
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choose to apply; provided further, that nothing contained
in this chapter shall prevent the employment of uncertified
persons or nonpublic accountants in subordinate capacities
by a. certified public accountant, or public accountants or
by a partnership, the men1bers of which are holders of certified public accountant's certificates granted under the laws of
this State or duly registered public accountants.''
So, the law, if the Court please, does not prohibit this man
frmn doing what we ca.ll ''accounting work,'' but
page 1183 ~ it does prohibit from calling his work accountancy or doing accounting work or doing audits.
Now, I submit, if the Oourt please, that a man not qualified,
not registered, not licensed by this State to do accounting
work should not be permitted to be examined as an expert
in the :field. Certainly, no n1atter how learned a man might
be in the field of healing, this Court would not receive expert
or opinion testimony from such a n1an wifh regard to any
medical matters in any trial in this Court.
I move the Court that .this man is not permitted to be
examined a~ a certified public accountant or auditor and not
he permitted to read into this record, nor by his testimony, any
inference that he made an audit or accounting or did an accounting job, both of which would he in violation of the law,
and I ask that he not be received as an expert witness in
court.
The Court: I ren1emher we have already ruled on that~Ir. Garnett: Twice.
page 1184 ~ The Court: IIaven 't we '1
1\fr. Baker: I don't think, even if the Court
has ruled-n1y recollection does not serve me completely
on that. I don't think this witness gave testimony of any
audit or accounting previously. As ''"ell as I can recall prinlarilv he identified a nu1nber of exhibits as the books and
records and I don't recall the rest of the testimony; but I
don't think he got into the field of accounting or auditing
until this time. If he has, then this objection should have
been made. But the objection is made now tba t if he is not
a qualified expert it is prohibited by the State calling· him
as such qnd he should not be received in this Court in a
capacity tl1at would constitute a misdemeanor.
The Court: All right, the Court holds you may proceed.
Mr. Baker: Let the record show the exception of the
defendant, by counsel, for the reasons stated.
The Court : Yes, sir.
~Ir. Garnett: All right, sir.
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page 1185 } By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Mr. vVhiteside, I show you-and I will assure you, you will not be prosecuted as a misdemeanorMr. Baker: If the Court please, whether tha.t was a
promise of immunity by the attorney for the Commonwealth,
IThe Court: He didn't finish his question so I kno'v nothing
about what he promised to him. I have. no way of knowing.
Mr. Baker: Of course, he is the attorney for the Commonwealth, and I don't know whether he was volumterring
free advice or whether it w·as a promise of immunity.
1\fr. Garnett: That was a retnark in answer to a ridiculous
staten1ent by counsel for the defendant.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Now, 1\ir. Whiteside, if I n1~y ask you now-what type
of audit did you do and when did you begin it1
A. I beg-an it immediately.
Q. Immediately after what~
A. After this $3,000.00 shortage showed up, which waspage 1186

~

The Court : $3,000.00?
The '\Vitness: Yes, sir.

By 1\{r. Garnett:
Q. What $3,000.00 are you referring to? ApparC'ntly the
Court doesn't understand.
A. "\Vhich was identified on the first dayThe Court:

Oh.

A. -showing up in the February the 6th deposit, 1959.
Q. All right, sir. You began it immediately, did yon 1 No,,.,.
'vhat type of an audit did youBy The Court:
Q. Is that an even $3;ooo.oo or is itA. No, sir.
Q. -$3,953.09?
A. That is the amount of deposits. That wasn't the
amount of the shortage.
Q. Well, I want to know whether it is an even $3,000.00
'vhich you have reference.
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Mr.
000.00
The
The
The

Baker: If the Court please, the answer was a $3,shortage.
Court: Which is it, Mr. Whiteside Y
Witness: It is $3,019.28.
Court : Go ahead.

page 1187

t By Mr. Garnett:

Q. Now, Mr. Whiteside, you understand-

Yr. Garnett: Your Honor, you understand now which
figure. he is talking about f
The Court: Yes, I think I've got it-$3,019.28. Go ahead.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. N o\\r, Mr. Whiteside, what sort of an audit did you do Y
A. Well, now, there are a nun1ber of classifications of audits-none of them-which are very different.
Q. I am asking you what you did.
A. I made an examination, as I started to say, to determine the amount of the ·shortage, which included confirmation
statem.ents to all accounts receivable and confirmation letters
to all creditors, insurance companies with which Bowen Company ha.d been doing business for the last several years.
Q. All right, sir. What did your third party confirmation
showY
A. With one exception in the accounts receivable, which
was the item of $1.2.90
Q. Is that the only exception you found Y
page 1188 ~ A. The only exception in the accounts receivable.
Q. Yes, sir. How about the accounts payable?
A. In the accounts payable there was an exception only in
one account, and that was of the Globe Insurance Group.
Q. Did your examination of the books reveal any further
shortage or not 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What atnount of short gage did it reveal?
A. It revealed a total shortage of $17,359.18.
Q. No,v, Mr. WhitesideThe ·Court: And 15 cents Y
Mr. Baker : I would like to have the total figure of it
too, $17,000 whatY
The Witness: $17,359.18.
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By Mr. Garnett:
Q. During your examination of the books, ~Ir. Whiteside,
did you have occasion to check into the ·C.R.T. accounts 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you check it following the checks of C.R.T. through
the books of account of the Bowen Company 7
A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. Did you follow them through the accounts receivable
journal?
page 1189 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you check each and every entry for
the years 1956, '57 and '58 relative to the cash receipts journal
and the C.R.T. checks Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Can you tell me in whose handwriting those entries
appear?
A. Mrs. Webb's.
Q. Did you have oceasion to check the deposit slips connected with those checks Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. In whose handwriting are the deposit slips made Y
A. Mrs. Webb.
Q. You have previously testified that at the end of the year
you would make certain entries in the books and do what you
call closing of the books of the Bowen Company. During the
course of that procedure, we will say from 1956 on througl1
'58, did you have occasion to do what is commonly called a
cash count?
A. I did a cash count in January, 1956-January 21st.
Q. When did you do another one Y
Mr. Baker : January 1, 1956 Y
The 'Vitness: Yes, sir.
By ~ir. Garnett:
Q. Did you do any more?
A. I did another one on July the 3rd, 1958.
Q. Did you do any more Y
A. And one on February the 7th, 1959.
. Q. At any time that you counted that cash, did you find any
discrepancy between the cash actually there and what the
books called for Y
A. No, sir, only the nine cents on February the 7th, 1959.
Only the nine cents difference.
page 1190

~
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Q. Have you had occasion to examine the cash books in
Bowen Company and the offic.e generally?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Have you found this $17,000 that you say is shortY
The Court: $17,359.181
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. $17,500 odd which you say is short. Have you found
that money in the Bowen Company?
A. No, sir.
Q. Mr. '"\Thiteside, are you familiar with an entry or a
transaction reflected by these books whereby Mr. Bowen
withdrew .the sum of $12,000.00 from the firm along about December, 1958?
page 1191 ~ A. I recall that, yes, sir.
Q. Do you know how that was entered in the
books when he drew it or whether it was entered in the books 7
A. It was entered in the books, I believe, as salary at the
time he took it.
·Q. Do you know whether or not that item has been reclassified in the books of the Bowen Company?
A. Yes, sir, it was reclassified.
Q. On whose advice was it reclassified Y
A. 1Vell, in discussing it with Mr. Bowen after the shortage
showed up, which had to be paid by the Company, he decided
he would have to repay it in order to make up the shortage.
Q. Was it repaid Y
A. Yes, sir, it was repaid by Mr. Bowen.
The Court: 1Vhich was repaid?
The Witness : Sir Y
The Court: Was the $12,000.00 item repaid Y
The Witness : Yes, sir.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. When was it repaid, do you know?
A. I don't recall the exact date, but the records will show
it.
page 1192 ~ Q. Was it repaid before or after this shortage
was discovered f
A. After.
Q. Well, why was it reclassified. Do you know bow it was
reclassified in the books?
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A. Well, it was reclassified from salary to accounts receivable of Mr. Bowen.
The Court : Reclassified from salary 7
The Witness : Yes, sir.
The Court: To accounts receivable Y
The Witness : Yes, sir.
The Court: All right.

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. And do you know whether or not as an account receivable it was paid by Mr. Bowen to the firm 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you know from your examination of the books
whether or not this $12,000.00 item in anywise affected this
$17,000.00 odd shortage?
A. It had no effect whatever, sir.
Q. Was the $12,000.00 item wholly accounted for in the
books of Bowen Company 7
A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Garnett: You may answer counsel for

page 1193

r the defense.

Mr. Baker: May we have a minute, please7
The Court : We will be at ease for three minutes.
(The Court recessed at 2:40 o'clock P.M. At 2:45 o'clock the
trial continued as follows:)
RE-CROSS EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Whiteside, you have been asked some questions
about identification of hand,vriting by the attorney for the
Common,vealth, weren't you f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You don't hold yourself out as a handwriting expert,
do you, sir?
A. No, sir.
Q. You don't contend that you identify with certainty the
handwriting of someone else, do you 7
A. Not somebody else's, but if I have seen the handwriting
for a long period of time I 'vould be pretty certain.
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Q. How long have you been seeing your own
handwriting?
.A. Oh, a long time.
Q. Viell, you weren't even certain about your own handwriting on March of this year, were you? That is the truth,
isn't it?
A. I don't think so, sir.
Q. Don't you recall Mr. Freeman saying this is in your
handwriting, isn't it, and you saying "Yes?" Right across
the hall from this courtroom in the library, according to entries in the books? Do you recall that incident, sir?
.A. Well, it depends on which entry he. was referring to, sir.
Q. I am r.sking you now with regard to what entry he was
referring to, I am asking you if you recall his saying, "Mr.
Whiteside, this looks like your handwriting, isn't it 1" Do you
recall him asking you that question?
A.. No, sir.
Q. You don't recall that even happening?
A. No, sir.
Q. And you don't recall saying: "Yes, that is my handwriting. '' You don't recall that ?
A. There are some of my handwriting in the books.
Q. I am asking you if you recallpage 1194

~

page 1195

~

The Court: He. is referring to something that
took place.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. To this situation on March the 9th in the library across
this courtroom, when you and Mr. Freeman and I were going
over the books and Mr. Ferguson and :Mr. Garnett were down
at the other end of the table. You don't remember that?
A. I remen1ber a discussion, sir. I don't remember the date.
Q. Well, you do remember it. We never met in this library
but once, did we, Mr. Whiteside?
A. I don't remember if we did, sir.
Q. And don't you remember on that occasion Mr. Freeman
saying ''This looks like your handwriting, isn't it, Mr. Whiteside,'' you don't remember that?
A. With the red :figures?
Q. I didn't ask you anything about red :figures. I asked you
if you remember those remarks being made by Mr. Freeman.
Do you remember them?
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A. No, sir.
Q. You don't remember them T

A. No, sir.
Q. And you deny saying "Yes, that is my handwriting"
to Mr. Freeman in response to that question?
page 1196 r A. I don't recall, sir.
Q. You deny rememberingThe Court : You don't recall 7
The Witness: No, sir.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Well, do you recall me saying, "Why, that is one of the
very entries you are trying to hang on our client with.'' Do
you recall that?
A. No, sir.
.
Q. And do you recall then saying, ''No, I don't believe that
is my handwriting?"
A. No response.
Q. Do you deny that that happened, Mr. Whiteside?
A. No, sir, I don't deny it happening.
Q. Do you admit that is possible, that you did not even recognize your own handwriting?
A. No, sir, I don't.
Q. Do you admit that it is possible that you did not recognize your handwriting?
A. No, sir.
Q. When you say "No, sir," you mean you don't admit it?
Or what do you mean by it, sir?
A. No response.
Q. Sir?
page 1197 r . A. Will you please repeat it Y
Q. 'Vhich one of these questions would you
like forThe Court: Mr. Reporter, read it back.
(The reporter read the last question.)
By Mr. Baker:
Q. All that I have just asked you had but occurred in the
library on March the 19th. I know you may not remember.
Do I understand that you do not have any recollection of any
of it happening, Mr. Whiteside?
A. No, sir, I have a recollection of some discussion.
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Q. And do you deny .that the discussion was with regard
whether an entry in the book was in your handwriting?
A. There was a discussion pertaining to that, sir.
Q. "\tV ell, do you deny that you said: "Yes, that is my handwriting?''
A. (Pause) Well, it depends on which entry you were referring to.
Q. I am talking about the answer :that you gave to Mr.
Freeman. I don't care about what entry we are talking about.
Did you or did you not answer Mr. Freeman: "Yes, that is my
handwriting!''
page 1198 ~ A. I don't recall answering it, sir.
Q. Do you deny that you said that?
A. I don't deny it. I don't recall it, sir.
Q. And dont' you recall my saying: ""\Vhy, ~fr. 'Vhiteside,
that is one of the very entries you are trying to hang our client
with.'' You don't remember that f
A. (Pause) No, sir.
Q. Well, vvasn 't that very thing such a significant part of
this day's conference that you are bound to have remembered
it, 1v[r. Whiteside?
A. I don't recall.
Q. If you had first ad1nitted and then denied that one of the
very entries that you are trying to hold against this woman
was in your handwriting you say you wouldn't remember it f
A. I never mentioned it was in my handwriting.
Q. Sir¥
A. I haven't admitted it was in my handwriting.
The Court : Say it so I can hear you.
The ''Titness: No, sir, I have not, sir.
Bv l\Ir. Baker:
~Q. Didn't you first admit something was in your handwriting and you denied itpage 1199
times.

~

Mr. Garnett: Judge, he asked that question
three times and he answered his question three

~ir. Baker: Well, if the Court please, the attorney for the
Commonwealth knows and the witness knows and Mr. Freeman knows the details of this very matter.
Mr. Garnett: He may but he doesn't. He says he doesn't
remember.
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. Well, have you had any trouble with your memory recently, Mr. Whiteside?
A. No, sir.
Q. Well, is this the type of discussion you think that you are
likely to forget?
A. I don't think so.
Q. Sir?
A. No, sir.
The Court: He means it wasn't. Is that what you mean?
You said no?
The Witness: Yes, sir.
Mr. Baker: Well, the record will speak for itself.
~

By 1\{r. Baker:
Q. Now, I will ask you this question. With
whose handwriting are you more familiar, yours or Mrs.
Webb's
A. I think I am more familiar with mine. I have been seeing
it for a long period of time.
Q. And not likely to be mistaken about it either. You would
more likely be mistaken about hers than yours, don't you
think?
A. That is probably correct.
page 1200

The Court: Did you say that is probable?
The Witness: Yes ,sir.
1\ir. Garnett: You have to speak up, ~{r. "\Vhiteside, so we
can all hear you.
By ~{r. Baker :
Q. Now, Mr. vVhiteside, you have said there was a difference in the statement of liability below as shown by the Bowen
books and as shown by Globe records. You have testified to
that, haven't you 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. There was nowhere recorded in the Bowen books any
payment that had not actually been paid to Globe, was there Y
A. No, sir.
page 1201 ~ Q. Every item in the book showing a payment
to Globe had actually been paid to Globe, had it
not?
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And the result was that it was just the books were not
posted up to date as of the time of the examination, isn't that
true, sir?
A. They were posted up to date.
Q. There was not a false entry in these books with regard
·to the C.R.T. account, isn't that true!
A. No, sir, that is not true.
Q. Show n1e the first one, sir. Point to me anything in these
books that was a false entry with regard to the C. R. T. aceount in the years '56, '57, '58 and February of '59.
A. There are items in '58 paid by C.R.T. which were never
recorded in the books of Bowen Company.
Q. I asked you to show me a false statement in these books.
"\Vas there a single entry in these books that you positively
know were made in Mrs. Webb's handwriting .that was a false
entry, a single one 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. "\Veil, show me the first entry in the. books, Mr. Whiteside. Find me just one. Find it in the books, Mr. Whiteside,
not on your piece of paper.
The Court: Well, he can use his notes for reference.
Mr. Garnett: Let's get it straight. This is no
dog for Mr. Baker to be pouncing on here. This is a gentleman
of high standing and he can ask his questions according·ly.
The Court: You may use your notes to 1uake reference-

page 1202

~

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now, find us a false statement in any of these books, Mr.
Whiteside .
.A. I would like to see the cash receipts journal.
The Court: You want to see then1? He wants the cash receipts journal, 1\ir. Baker.
(Documents handed to the witness for examination.)

.A. On May the 23rd, 1958, the C.R.T. sent a checkBy Mr. Baker:
Q. You show me the false entry in here, Mr. Whiteside.
Show me somethingA. This is the payment not recorded in the books for the
month of May or any other .months.
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page 1203

~

Q. I asked you to show me a false entry in
these books. I didn't ask you delay in postings.

The Court : Show him an entry in the book that is false.
That is what he has asked you.
·
A. On May the 30th, there is an entry of having received
$3,612.39The Court : May the 30th?
The Witness: Yes, sir. When in fact no such amount had
been received, because the last payment of that amount made
by C.R. T. was J\!Iarch 13th, 1959.
By 1'Ir. Baker:
Q. You mean then that the date being wrong n1akes it a
false entry?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. All right, ~ir. Whiteside, that answers my question.
Have. you made any false entries in these books Y
A. No, sir.
Q. You have not. Were you keeping the books in January
of 1959?
A. In January, '59?
Q. Yes, sir. "\Vere you keeping the books then, sir?
A. No, sir.
pag·e 1204 ~ Q. Well, whose handwriting were the entries
made in January, '59?
A. They are mine.
Q. Were they made in January, '59, or later?
A. They were made at a later date.
Q. Then is it a false entry for the date not to coincide when
the date itself is not actually put in?
A. 'Yell, in that case there is an adjusting entry made afterwards.
Q. That is not an adjusting entry, is it? That is not an adjusting entry, Mr. Whiteside. Look at it and tell us if that is an
adjusting entry.
A. (Witness referring to document.)
Q. It is not an adjusting entry, is it, sir?
A. Part of them are, yes, sir.
Q. "\V ell, part of them that you made and gave the date of
January, 1959 are not adjusting entries, are they?
The Court.: You want to point them out to mef
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Mr. Baker : Yes, sir.
The Witness: These are adjusting entries, here.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Is this an adjusting entry f
A. That is a cash receipt of January 19th.
Q. This is accounting for the receipt of that
much cash from Mr. McJ\IIurra.n, isn't itY
A. Yes, sir.
Q. A.nd did you receive that n1oney on January the 31st and
did you make .that entry?
A. It was received on January 19th.
Q. And yet you put January 30th. Is that a false entry, Mr.
Whiteside?
Q. This is a ledger, a summary, and the dates in here are
dated as of the end of the month.
Q..January 31st is neither the. date you received the money
nor the day you made the entry, isn't that the truth, sir Y
A. (No response.)
Q. Isn't that true Y
A. Yes.
Q. It's true, isn't it¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Well, are these false entries 7
A. No, sir.
Q. And there are plenty of other entries in here made by
you, put in these books with the date by them and the date has
no more significance with regard to when you did it than last
year's rain, isn't that the truth Y
page 1206 r A. Yes, sir.

page 1205

r

The Court: Talk to the court reporter.
By Mr. ·Baker:
Q. It is true, isn't it Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Were they intended by you to deceive anyone f
A. No, sir.
Q. Are they false entries f
A. No, sir.
Q. Well, let me ask you, ~{r. Whiteside, with regard to the
$12,000.00 check of Mr. Bowen's. As of the close of the books
for 1958 on December the 31st, 1958, Mr. Bowen had drawn
this $12,000.00, hadn't he 7
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And the books showed that he had drawn it as salary,
didn't itY
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you went back and changed the books for 1958f
A. Yes.
Q. When did you do it?
A. It was done in March.
Q. Of what year?
A. '59.
page 1207 ~ Q. For the purpose of deceiving anybody?
A. No, sir.
Q. How about Uncle Sam for taxes?
A. No, sir.
Q. Sir?
A. No, sir.
Q. Wouldn't 1\fr. Bowen have had to pay income tax on that
$12,000.00 if you had not gone and falsified the records for '58 7
Mr. Garnett: I object to that statement.
The Court : Just a moment.
A. lie didn't get the $12,000.00; he paid it back.
Mr. Garnett: I object to the statement.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Did he draw the $12,000.00Mr. Garnett: Just a minute, 1\ir. Baker. vVould you do me
the courtesy, at least, to listen .to my objection?
I object to the statement that Mr. Whiteside has falsified
the books. It is a statement of counsel. He has testified he
has not falsified the books at all. He has never made a false
entry in the books; that these entries that he has
page 1208 ~ made and antedated back, back-dated them, were
closing entries which, incidentally, Mr. Baker
should know. If he doesn't, it is customary in accounting procedure.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now, Mr. Whiteside, the fact still remains that Mr.
Bowen drew the $12,000.00 in 1958 and went out of the Bowen
Company account and into his pocket or his account. That is
a fact, isn't it?
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A. That is a fact.
Q. And at the end of 1958, 1958 came and passed, and Mr.
Bowen still had the $12,000.00. That is true, isn't it
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And it is true that the end of 1958 came and passed and
the books showed that he had drawn it as salary, that is right,
isn't itY
A. Yes, sir.
·Q. And it is true that in March of 1959 you went back and
altered the 1958 books in such a manner as to leave Mr. Bowen
a tax liability on the $12,000.00; isn't that true?
A. Yes, sir, because he didn't get the money. He had to pay
it back.
page 1209 ~ ·Q. What do you mean he didn't get it? He
had it. When did he pay it back?
A. He paid it back-I don't recall.
The Court: He just said he paid it back in '58 or '59.
A. He paid it back in '59.
The Court: But he got it in '58, is that right T
The Witness : Yes, sir.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. He hadn't paid it back in March when you put it in accounts receivable, had he. l-Ie still had it then, didn't he?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Or was that an improper statement of the actual facts
by the books?
A. I don't think so.
Q. So you altered the books of '58 in March of 1959, isn't
that right, and altered them for the purpose of saving Mr.
Bowen income taxes on $12,000.00, isn't that right, sir?
Mr. Garnett: I object to the statement ''Altered the
books.''
Mr. Baker: Well, they were.
page 1210 ~ Mr. Garnett: Mr. Whiteside has testified he
reclassified the account after this shortage
showed up and Mr. Bowel}. then had to pay the money back in
order to help make up this shortage.
The Court: That is what he said.
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. You accomplished the reclassification by altering the
entries as originally recorded, isn't that right?
A. Additional entries were made to be reclassified. I did not
alter the original entries.
Q. It is a fact though, is it not, 1\{r. Whiteside, that the fact
that the date by an entry in these books does not coincide with
the actual date of the transaction, that. does not establish that
there is something wrong with the entry, does it?
A. Not necessarily, no, sir.
Q. And the fact that the date might not coincide with the
date that the entry is made, .that does not n1ake anything
wrong with the entry by your definition, does it either, sir?
A. No, sir, not necessarily.
Q. But it does make it difficult, does it not, sir, if the dates
are not going to coincide with the date of the
page 1211 ~ transaction or the date of the entry, it makes it
rather difficult to reconcile anything in regard
to the actual dates, doesn't it Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Sir?
A. It does, yes, sir.
Q. So, it does make it difficult but not impossible 7
A. It makes it difficult.
Q. But it does not make it impossible to do it with certainty,
sir, as to dates f
A. (Pause) Not necessarily.
Q. If you can remember which ones are recorded on the
wrong dates, .then they can be reconciled and you can do so
'vith certainty, is that what you mean, sir 7
A. Well, if you recall the sequence of each. In some cases.
Q. So you a.re dependent upon your memory outside of the
written record .to say anything with certainty with regards to
dates if you are in the habit of not putting the dates down
right, isn't that right?
A. No, sir.
Q. Would you explain about how you would be certain five
years later when something .took place if the dates do not coincide with the date of entry!
page 1212 ~ A. (Pause.)
Q. Explain that for us, please 7
A. Well, we were discussing the C.R. T. account.
Q. I asked you a question, not with regard the C.R.T. account. I asked you if you would mind explaining how it would
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be possib~e to go back five years ago and ascertain with certainty the date of something if the date recorded in the books
by custom and practice coincide neither with the date of the
transaction or the date of the entry.
A. That would be difficult.
Q. It would be impossible, wouldn't it, unless you had independent recollection not shown by the books. Isn't that right,
sir1
A. Or some subsidiary records or something to tie it in.
Q. But if the dates did not coincide with the date of the
subsidiary records, then the dates would be wrong, isn't that
right!
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And that wa.s consistently what the Bowen books showed
done not only by Mrs. Vvebb but by you as well, isn't that
right, sir?
A. I 'vouldn '.t say by me, no, sir.
Q. Well, we picked out a few instances where you did it,
haven't wet
page 1213

~

The Court : lie said they were adjusting entries.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Well, are you suggesting the ledger is the only place you
made those entries other than on the dates shown by itY Don't
you admit they are in these other books as well, in the journal y
A. In the general journal the closing entries are made after
the end of the year, as of the end of the year.
Q. All right, sir. ·Let me see if I can find you something in
the general journal.
Mr. Baker: If the Court will bear with me taking a few
minutes. I'm not as familiar with these books as I might be.
Perhaps we could pass on to some other question, and perhaps we could have a short recess when the Court finishes
with the witness.
Mr. Garnett: You have a table there. One of them could
find it, it would seem to me, without a recess.
The Court: Let's move on.
By Mr. Baker:
.
Q. Do you recall Mr. Ferguson pointing out
page 1214 ~ some entries made way back in '54, don't you y
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. In your writing. Now, I believe I asked you, Mr. Whiteside, but I'm not positive. You said that there was a difference
of $12,669.14 in the accounts payable to Globe as shown by
Globe's record, and accounts payable as shown by Bowen records, isn't that right Y
The Court: How much did you say?
~fr. Baker: I think it was $12,669.14.
·A. And fourteen cents.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. But there were no false statements in the books purporting to be the payment to Globe that had not actually been
made?
Mr. Garnett: He has answered that twice and I object to
the repetition.
The Court: I think he asked him about that. You're right.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now, ~Ir. Whiteside, the fact of the matter is that the
liability to Globe was never created until the receipts from
C.R. T. were posted in the books, isn't that right Y
page 1215 ~ A. That's right, sir.
Q. And it was not until then that .the liability
to Globe was created, isn't that right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Sir?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And it is also true at that time that if there were a
$6,000.00 check from C. R. T. the entire $6,000.00 'vas posted
as a liability to Globe, isn't that right?
A. (Pause) I don't quite understand the question.
Q. If C.R. T. sent in a check for $6,000.00, and an even $6,000.00 was entered properly in the books, the whole $6,000.00
would be set up as a liability to Globe, isn't that right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. In spite of the fact that .the Bowen Company was entitled to commission on the $6,000.00?
A. Well, they made a payment without the commission; that
is right, sir.
Q. But he had collected his commission when the first $6,000.00 came in. He had it all, didn't heY
A. That's right: sir.
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Q. Well, will you tell the Court whether or not the Bowen
books were so set up as to avoid the payment of taxes on commissions until Globe was actually paid Y
page 1216 ~ A. No, sir.
Q. They were not?
A. No, sir.
Q. Well, can you tell me what book to get here so we can
show how the liability was set up for Globe on payment by
C.R. T. Y The commissions were never shown as paid by the
Bowen books until they got around to paying Globe, isn't that
the truth?
A. (Pause) Well, they paid GJobe monthly.
Q. When they paid Globe then and for .the first time was
any earnings subject to taxes reflected on their books as the
proceeds without a premium check, isn't that true, sir Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And in fact if there had be.en $18,000.00 worth of checks
received but not posted to the books until after the end of the
year it is also true that Bowen Company would have avoided
paying income taxes for that year on the commission on that
$18,000.00 worth of checks ; isn't that true¥
Mr. Garnett: I object to that because it doesn't give the
factual situation.
By Mr. Baker :
Q. Well, $15,000
way.
page 1217 ~

o~

$12,000-any amount. Let's put it that

1\.fr. Garnett: We are not talking about the
amountY
1\ir. Baker: I am not talking about the amount now.
Mr. Garnett: Now, your HonQr, what he is talking about
is the liability to Globe is not created until it is posted on the
book. Well, that is the reflection from the books. Of course,
if you've got the money in the office, whether you post it or
not you still owe it to Globe.
Now, what he is talking about is the amount of taxes that
until you take your commissions out you don't. pay the taxes
on it. Well, I don't know about that now. He says if there is
a shortage at the end of the year Bowen would avoid paying
taxes. Now, I object to the way that is phrased. Bowen
would avoid paying the ta.xes only if Bowen knew it was
short.

696

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia

. E. D. Whiteside.
Now, I think he would have to ask it on that basis. But
where there is $18,000.00 missing. I don't believe anybody
could say you're avoiding paying taxes.
The Court : No, sir.
page 1218 ~ 1Yir. Baker: Now, if the Court pleaseThe Court : I think he can examine him.
Mr. Baker : -It has been suggested by a number of witnesses that there may be one or two unusual things about
this set of Bowen books. It is the purpose of counsel to point
out that there are a number of things unusual about these
books, and they are unusual in such a way as to be of
financial advantage to the Bowen Company itself and to Mr.
Bowen.
Now, I think that I should be permitted, if the Court please,
to point out that these books, if I can do so, that these books
"rere kept other than in the manner, in every instance where
I can point it out, reflected in tax savings to the owners of this
business, because at the end of the road somebody may have
to conclude whether these books were kept in an orthodox
manner, and if I can point out these discrepancies in these
books from the usual and normal course of bookkeeping ail
saving taxes for the Bowen Company, I think I should he
permitted to do so.
The Court: Well, if. you can do it, go ahead.
page 1219 ~ 1\Ir. Garnett: As long as he does it right.
By 1\!l:r. Baker:
Q. It is a fact, is it not, 1\fr. WhitesideThe Court: Sir, what's that Y
Mr. Garnett: As long as he does it right I have no objection.
The Court: That's all right, I'm giving him the right to
do it.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. It is a fact, is it not, Mr. Whiteside, that if any particular amount-we can talre ten thousand dollars-had been
received by Bowen Company and deposited to their bank account received in payment of the C.R.T. premiums but not
posted to the books, it is a fact that the liabilitv to Globe
'vould not be posted either; isn't that right, sir?.
A. That is right.
Q. With regard to this ten thousand dollars. And it is also
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a fact, is it not, that it being no income to the Bowen Company of it~ commission on this ten thousand dollars it would
not be shown in their· books, isn't that true, sir Y
A. Yes, sir.
page 1220 ~ Q. And if that condition obtained at the end
of the tax period, is it not true that the Bowen
Company would have avoided for that year, that tax year,
paying· income taxes on a portion of the income actually received and deposited to their account during that year, is
that a fair statement, sir?
A. If tl1at were true; if that happened it 'vould be true.
Yes, sir.
Q. The books are set up in such a n1anner that that would
be true, isn't it, sir T
A. It would be true.
Q. Were they set up in your instructions to be handled
that way?
A. (Pause) Now, I don't quite get that question, sir.
Q. The way the books were kept, isn't it that you could
tell every year that you examined these books you could
tell that is the 'vay they were entered, couldn't you T Isn't
that right?
:Mr. Garnett: I don't understand the question myself. Are
you asking hin1 whether or not they were set up to avoid
taxes?
The Court: That is what it amounts to.
page 1221 ~ Mr. Baker: Now, if the Court please-Mr. Garnett: If that is what youThe Court: I think you can ask him.
:Mr. Baker: - I don't care to have questions directed to me
by counsel, nor do I feel, unless the Court rules that I am
proceeding along improper lines, I think I should be permitted
without himThe Court: Go right ahead, the Court hadn't stopped you.
By ~1r. Baker:
Q. 'Ve have been over it with some detail, Mr. Whiteside,
and it is a fact, is it not, tha.t the books were handled in such a.
manner that even though the checks were received from C.R.T.
and deposited to Bowen Company account in the. C.M.J. bank
that no income to Bowen would be shown in these books until
the checks were posted to the books as received from C.R. T.
and the liability created to Globe. Now, isn't that true Y
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A. No, sir.
Q. That is not true Y
A. No, sir.
The Court: That is not .true?
The Witness: Yes, sir.
page 1222

r By Mr. Baker:

Q. Show us, if you will, 1\ir. Whiteside, a
single instance of 'vhere the commissions shown as earned by
Bowen Company prior to the payment to Globe are in these
books.

Mr. Garnett: I did not hear the question.
The Court: (To the reporter) Read the question back.
The Court: Prior to the payme.nt to Globe?
(The reporter read the question.)
By Mr. Baker:
Q. On any item. Show me.
A. C.R.T. items?
Q. Yes.
A. I don't believe I can do that, sir.
Q. You can not do it because it was never shown as commissions earned by Bowen until Globe was paid. That is the
truth, isn't it Y
A. That's right.
Q. So then, one of the effects, at least, in failing to post to
the books was .to permit Bowen Company to avoid payment of
income taxes for the year in which the earnings were had to
the extent that the posting was delayed till the
page 1223 r following year, isn't that true?
A. No, sir.
Q. That was the result, was it not f
A. No, sir.
Q. If it were never posted to the books at the end of the
year?
Mr. Garnett: Now, Judge, these questions are not based
on the proper premise because what he is overlooking is the
ten thousand dollars that is supposed to be cash which Bowen
hasn't got. Now, that is the difference. That is the money he
is paying taxes on, and it is reflected in the bank account as
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uP-recorded, as monies supposed to be in the bank on hand
when actually what he has got is unrecorded receipts. So, he is
trying to give hhn a hypothetical question and he must base
it on the evidence, and the evidence is, just take his figures,
there was ten thousand dollars worth of taxable. money supposed to be there that wasn't there. That is the whole situation.
The Court : It wasn't in the bank.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, of course that is not the
premise at all. I know, and I think everybody in
page 1224 ~ this courtroom knows or should know when
C.R. T. pays Bowen Company ten thousand dollars that the whole ten thousand dollars does not belong to
Bowen. The Bowen Company obviously has a commission out
of that ten thousand dollars.
The Court: That belongs to Globe.
Mr. Baker: And belongs to Globe. Now, what part of itbut certainly part of the ten thousand dollars are earnings or
profit to Bowen Company.
By Mr. Baker :
Q. Isn't that right, Mr. Whiteside?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And the books were set up in such manner that at leastMr. Garnett : Well, he has answered that twice and said
"No."
The Court: That is what he answered. He answered that,
but go ahead, let's see what he says next. He may have. something else in his mind.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. The books were set up in such manner with
intent that if one of the results would be that the
Bowen Company during 1958 had received from C.R.T. $10,000.00 in premiums that went into their bank account but had
not been posted to the books as having been received by the
close of business at the end of that year, then such portion of
the ten thousand dollars as commissions would be earnings
actually had by Bowen Company but not reported by the
books, isn't that right 1 That is true, isn't it Y
A. But that bank account wouldn't have been reconciled.
That money, it couldn't be reconciled. It wouldn't work that
way.

page 1225·

~
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Q. I am not talking about that money. I am talking about
checks that actually went to the books.

Mr. Garnett: He just explained it to him, your Honor, that
it couldn't be set up that way because the bank account would
not reconcile ..
The Court: That's right.
:Mr. Baker: Well, now, if the Court please, it isn't right,
if the Court please. The evidence in this case is that every
single check went into the bank account and Bowen Company
was credited with it. Now, I realize that the atpage 1226 ~ torney for the Commonwealth would like to get
out of the mouth of every witness that there is a
shortage some place else. I am talking about C.R.T. checks,
and the evidence in this case is that every single one of them
went into the bank account and Bowen Company got credit
for them. We are talkig about nothing else in my questioning, if the Court please.
e allege that they never went in the bank.
Mr. Garnett:
Mr. Baker : I understand what is alleged.
The Court: I don't think I understood they all went in
the bank and credited to the Bowen Company.
Mr. Garnett:. That is exactly right.
Mr. Baker: And I am asking this witness, if the Court
please, if ten thousand dollars went in the bank account but
did not get on the books whether intended or not the result
wouldn't be that the Bowen Company did not pay income tax
on the c01nmissions earned out of that ten thousand dollars
and would not be shown in the books as being earned until the
end of the tax year.

"T

page 1227

~

By l\ir. Baker:
Q. Isn't that right?

J\tlr. Garnett: He has answered that three times.
Mr. Baker: Well, he answered it right up to the point
where the obvious and only answer is yes, but he has given no
answerMr. Garnett: No, he has answered it up to the point where
1\tlr. Baker would like him to testify to the effect that the
books were set up so as to avoid taxes and the gentleman has
said that is not true.
The Court: He never has said that, Mr. Garnett. This '
witness hasn't said it.
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Mr. Garnett: He asked him the question about "Isn't that
true,'' and he said no, and explained why.
1\tir. Baker : Well, now, if the Court please, I don't mind
admitting that I lost this whole trend. I would like to ask that
all counsel, including me, if they have an objection to makestate the objection and then the Court can hear argument on
it.
The Court: I haven't stopped you, Mr. Baker, go
ahead.
page 1228 ~ Mr. Garnett: I suggest he's a little late with
his ground rules.
The Court: Let's don't interrupt unless you are making an
objection.
.
Mr. Garnett: I was mak1ng the objection to you, your
I1onor.
The Court: All rig·ht, go ahead.
By 1\tir. Baker:
Q. 1\{r. Whiteside, I will hand you Commonwealth's Exhibit
Number 7, which is the general ledger transfer and under date
of l\tlay, 1958, the first entry being May 30th, 1958, and I will
ask you what these two figures, one for $2,000.00 and the other
for $1,114.56 in the credit column-are of that account, and
ask you whether or not they reflect receipt from the C.R. T. to
the insurance company.
(Shown to the witness.)
A. That's right.
Q. For insurance premiums?
The Court: In other words these amounts are what C.R.T.
paid Bowen Company?
The V•l i tness : Yes, sir.
By 1\tir. Baker :

Q. Where is it shown in the books that comn1ission was earned on this $3,114.56 that came in
on November the 30th. "\Vhen did the books show
that commission was earned on that?
A. It was shown in June.
Q. June 30thY
A. June 30th.
Q. Could you look at another set of books and ascertain
page 1229

~
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whether it is true that is the date on which Globe was paid
their share of that $3,114.56. That would be true, isn't it?
The Court : In June 7
Mr. Baker: Yes, sir.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. As a matter of fact I can show you-doesn't it show
right here Y Are these debits to the account. Do these reflect
payment to it?
A. See this $1,800 in June. They took out $200.00 commission and paid them $1,800. Here they got $1,020.10; that, plus
this commission he.re would clear out this entry.
Q. So it is a fact, isn't it, Mr. Whiteside, the books never
showed Bowen earning anything. It only shows earnings when
they paid out but they have to pay it out to the Company,
isn't that right, sir Y
A. Yes.
page 1230

~

The Court: As I understand it-

A. (Continuing)

On the C.R. T. account.

The Court: -they don't show any earnings until they paid
it to Globe, is that right?
The Witness: Yes, sir, on the C.R.T. account.
The Court: All right.
By 1\fr. Baker :
Q. Then isn't it true, Mr. Whiteside, that to the extent that
I have just shown the delay there between May and June is
the same delay between December of one year and January
of the next year, isn't that true T Isn't it true that that income
actually earned in that particular year would not be subject
to tax until the following year?
Mr. Garnett: I object to that.
The Court: Do the books show that Y
Mr. Baker: No, I asked in the example we showed with
regard to May and .June if it occurred in December and January.
Mr. Garnett: I object to that because he is still overlooking
the fact that there was money, taxable money, that was sup-
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posed to be there that wasn't there and that this
was substituted for it.
Now, Judge, you've got to put all the facts in
to get this hypothetical question.
Mr. Baker : If the Court pleaselVfr. Garnett: We can all read the books and understand
what they say, but when he asked this man for an opinion
based on the facts as reflected by the books and by the evidence he has g·ot to include it all, and that is monumental.
Mr. Baker: Well, if the Court please, I think 've all know
that you pay taxes on our net figure, but just booause you
may have deductions from another source that does not mean
that something is not taxable. You have taxable income
against which you set off your deductions. Bowen Company
would have taxes to pay only if everything considered they
made money instead of losing money. I am talking about one
side of this ledger now.

page 1231

~

By Mr. Baker:
Q. And it is true, isn't it, that that would have the effect of
deferring taxableMr. Garnett: I object because it is not based
on the facts.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, it is in the
evidence here that in the year 1958, as of the close of that year
that there had been income not recorded on the books and not
recorded until1959. That is certainly in evidence, isn't it Y
The Court: Some years, that's right. They have gone into
.January of some years.
:hir. Baker: So, that is certainly true.
The Court : All right.

page 1232

~

By Mr. Baker:
·
Q. Let's take the year 1958 and 1959. Any income that actually came into Bowen Company and went into their account
in the C.M.J. bank on C.R.T. insurance premiums were earnings in that year '58 but not posted to the books until sometime in '59, would they not have the effect of diminishing the
actual taxable income as shown by the books below what had
actually come in to that extent Y
Mr Garnett: No, sir, I object again because that is not the
facts.
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The Court: He has answered it too.
1\{r. Garnett: He is overlooking the shortageMr. Baker: If the Court please, I would like for the attorney for the Commonwealth, when he says they are not according to the facts, to say in what respect they differ from
the facts. The facts are, if the Court please, as testified to-I
do not say they are facts-but the testimony is that there was
a delay in posting in 1958 into 1959.
The Court: You are talking about the C.R.T. account?
~fr. Baker: Yes, sir. And the testimony is there was deJay in posting receipts received in '57 into the account of
the year 1958. That is in evidence. 'rhat has been testified
to. And it has also been testified to, if the Court please,
that there was no liability created to the Company until the
receipts were postedThe Court: ~fade to Globe, I believe you said f
~fr. Baker: Yes.
The Court: What do you want to do about
page 1234 ~ the delay in posting. You want to show the
effect of it 1
1\{r. Baker: I want to show, if the Court please, one of tlw
effects of the delay in posting was to defer iucon1e tax on
those items, at least to the extent that they may be taxable
to the Bowen C01npany out of the year in which the incon10
actually came into a different year.
The Court: "\Veil, I thought you tried to do that a while
ago and were not successful.
~Ir. Balwr: Well, if the Court please, I don't think it
is any surprise that I 'ha,•e not been successful. I mean, I
haven't been pern1ittecl to let this witness say, whether he
can testify or not. Every time I ask a question an objection
is made that it is not consistent with the facts.
1\fr. Garnett: See, your I-Ionor, Mr. Baker takes an accounting te1m and he says to this witness that there is no
liability ereated to Globe until it is posted on the books. "\Veil,
as far as a bookkeeping entry is concerned that is true, and
if ·he were going- to stick to just what the books reflect, then
that is all right. Fie is on first base then. But
page 1235 ~ he gets off arid he treats this bookkeeping or accounting term, this liability, as a fact when you
and I know, and Mr. Baker should know, that when they received th~ n1oney from C.R.T. to be paid to Globe that an
actualliahility t11en exists. Now, it may not be reflected in itpage 1233 }
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The Court: Not a recorded liability is what he is talking
about.
Mr. Garnett: Right-no, sir, he is not talking about unrecorded-he is talking about a recorded liability, and I am
talking about the unrecorded liability.
Mr. Baker: Maybe, if the Court please, that we don't understand each other. I am talking about the books, and I1\'Ir. Garnett: That's right.
1\'Ir. Baker: - I certainly don't want to ask this witness
any questions except with regard to the books.
~fr. Garnett: That's right. But then he takes this liability
which he is talking about, a recorded liability, and turns it
around as a fact that no liability exists when you and I know
it exists the n1inute it comes into· Bowen Company as a
bailee for these people.
page 1236 ~ The Court: 'Veil, when C.R.T. paid the check
into Bowen Company it existed rig·ht then.
~fr. Garnett: Right then.
Mr. Baker: Now, if the Court please, we have been four
days now in a case in which cash doe-s not mean cash. It
means cash and checks. 'Yhen we have cash on hand it does
not mean actual cash. It means cash on hand by the books.
I am talking about by the books.
The Court : Go ahead.
Bv Mr. Baker:
·Q. Your income tax returns, you prepared them for Bowen
Company, didn't you?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. PrepHred them from the books'
The Court : I think he stated that he did.

By Mr. Baker:
·Q. You prepared them from the books, didn't yon 7
A. That's right.
Q. All right, sir. Then if it be a fact that as
pag·e 1237 ~ of the end of 1957 Bowen Company had received funds from C.R.T. in payment of insurance premiun1s which had not been posted to the books
but have gone into their account in the C.M .•J. bank, is it
not a fact that to the extent thev were entitled to a comnlission, those commissions would not be shown in their books
as incom.e during the year 1957, isn't that true, su.r?
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A. (Pause) Only the income -s'hown by the books are reportable.
The Court: \Vhat 's that?
The Witness : . The only incon1e shown on the books are
reportable on the income tax return.
By Mr. B~ker:
Q. Well, I am asking you this, Mr. Whiteside. It is rather
important: Is it not a fact that if .the income had actually
come in but had not been posted to the books-they are the
books from which you prepare the income tax returns-is it
not true that to the extent there was any commission earned
on that unrecorded, unposted income, receipts to that extent,
taxable income for Bowen Company for the year '57 would not
be shown by the books. Isn't that true, sir?
Mr. Garnett: I object to that, Judge, because he doesn't
g·o back to the other cash that is shown as taxable income
but the books show now was not there.
page 1238 ~ The Court: Let him say so.
J\fr. Baker: If the Court please, they may
have lost $50,000.00 to set off against the ten thousand dollars
of taxabb incon1e. I am talking about reflection of taxable
income bv the books.
J\fr. Garnett: They have testified at great length that the
books showed on such and such a day this much was in there
when in fact there was not.
The Court : That is true.
Mr. Garnett: That is what I mean.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, the Court knows that has
nothing to do with the question I am asking this witness.
The Court : Go ahead, sir, I will let you go ahead and
let him answer it no\v, Mr. Garnett.
Mr. Baker: Well, now, if the Court please, when tl1e Court
says ''Go ahead,'' do I understand that at this timeThe Court: Yes, you may go ahead.
Bv Mr. Baker:
~Q. Is it true then, J\{r. Whiteside, that to the
extent that income was received from C.R. T. by
Bowen Company, Incorporated, in the year 1957, and deposited in the Citi1.ens Marine Jefferson Bank account of
Bowen Company, Incorporated, but not recorded on the books
page 1239 ~
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as of the end of 1957, is it true· that that portion of those receipts which were in fact commissions failed to go in the books
as taxable income for the year 1957. Is that true Y Yes or
no if you can answer it that way.
Mr. Garnett: Well, Judge, he is trying to create a false
impression on the record.
Mr. Baker: I am tryingThe Court : I think this man can say so whether it was,
Mr. Garnett, if he wants to. Mr. Whiteside can do that.
By ~{r. Baker:
Q. The question is: Is that part of the income that was
not recorded which were actually commissions shown on the
books for the year in question to be income for that year or
not~

A. That part which is income unrecorded on the books
covers shortage of other funds and offset by the unrecorded
liability to Globe not shown in the books.
Q. I have not asked you about any offsetting
page 1240 ~ entries, ~ir. Whiteside. In the preparation of
income tax returns the first thing you do, do you
not, is to sit there and ascertain all income that is subject
to taxationA. That's rig·ht.
Q. -and then when you get through doing that you sit
down and figure out what offsetting items you have to deduct
from that to determine how much the total that you have to
pay taxes on, isn't that right 7
A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. I an1 not talking about deductions. I am talking about
the total income subject to taxation before deductions. Isn't
it true that that would be understated by the books to the
extent of uny part of that unreported receipts still unrecorded
at the end of the year T
A. It would not reflect any income.
Q. It would not reflectA. Any income, because it had not been recorded.
Q. And yet if it was already in the Citizens Marine J efferson Bank that is what Bo,ven Company would have received in
the taxable year, isn't that right 1
A. No, sir. If it was in the Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank
and not recorded¥
Q. Yes, sir.
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A. The books would not reconcile.
Q. I didn't ask you about any books being- repage 1241 ~ oonciled or not, I am asking you if they had
received it and put in the bank they would already have it on hand before the close of the taxable year,
isn't that right. Isn't that right.
A. Well, it would be rig-ht if they 'had.
Q. And that part which was commission would not be shown
as having been received in that year?
A. That's right.
Q. And to that extent income in '57 would have been deferred to '58 for taxation?
1\fr. Garnett: I object to that because that isn't based on
the facts.
Mr. Baker: It is.
Mr. Garnett: We've still got other taxable income, Judge,
that isn't there.
The Court: All the cash receipts.
1\fr Garnett: That is what I am talking· about
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I don't lmow what deductions wer~ ma.de. Maybe Mr. Bowen may have made a hundred
charitable contributions for all I know.
The Court: I don't know what you are talking about.
Have you any more questions you want to ask?
pa.geg 1242 ~ 1\fr. Baker : Any more questions?
The Court : Yes, sir Y
1\fr. Baker: Yes, sir.
The Court: Go ahead. Do you have any questions?
By Mr. Baker:
Q. 1\fr. "Thiteside, I believe yon testified that you did a
cash accounting on July the 3rd, 1958. Did you make any
entries of the books reconciling your accounting of cash
against the cash as shown by the books 1
A. (Pause).
Q. Did you say July third? I may have n1issed the exact
date in July.
A. Yes, sir, July 3rd.
Q. The books, Mr. Whiteside, don't sl1ow anything about
cash on hand as of July third, do they. That just goes by
the month, doesn't it. You mean you made on July third, you
counted the cash that was on hand on June 30th?
A. The cash on hand.
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Q. 'Vhat cash was supposed to be on hand, can you show
us in the book f
A. The cash receipts book, you ha.ve to take your balance
as shown by the books on June 30th and adjust them to the
receipts and the deposits through the third up to
page 1243 ~ the third.
Q. But it is a fact on July the third you had
nothing to compa.re the cash account v.ith except by going
back a.nd reconstructing it fro1n other sources, ~sn 't that true!
A. By "That the books called for.
.
Q. "\Vhat I am trying to get at, ~Ir. Whiteside, the cash on
hand fig'Ure is shown only once a month in this book, isn't
that right?
A. It's su1nma.rized only once a 1nonth. It is a general
entry.
Q. Is there any entry in this book anywhere under the
heading ''Cash on ·hand'' except at the c.lose of each month
or, of course, I realize it goes to the g-eneral ledger; but I
mean is there anywhere in any of these books an entry ''Cash
on band" appearing at any otl1er time than at the end of
the month~
A. No, sir, but it can be sumn1arized any day of the
month.
Q. And yet you say youCourt: Sunnnarized any day in the mouth?
Baker: Yes, sir. But whenCourt: Cash on ,July the third 1
'Vitness: The tl1ird, yes, sir.
Court: Of '59?
The "\Vit11ess: '58, sir.
page 1244 ~ The Court: '58.
The
:Nir.
The
The
The

By ~I r. Baker:
Q. '\Vben you counted the cash on .January the 21st, 1956,
what von 1nean is that you counted the cash in the cash drawer
as of ·that date a.nd to~k the cash on hand figure by the books
as of Decen1ber 31, '55 and then reconciled. l\.. ReconciledQ. -the two by referring to other records 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. 'Vere the other records accurate or not, or do you know?
A. I have no reason to doubt it.
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The Court: \Vhat?
The 1Vitness: I have no reason to doubt thmn.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. But you did not audit them. You did not verify any
of those c:;upporting records to' see if they were correct, did
you. Isn't that right?
A. No, sir.
Q. You djd not~ \Yhen you say "No," you mean "I did
not," do you notf
A. I verified the bank deposits which was
page 1245 ~ called for during that interval.
Q. But I mean you did not start back and
prove any of those figures, isn't that rig·htf That is true, isn't

it?
A. To !1. certain extent I did prove it.
Q. You proved it because it cmue out right and you assumed it to be right'Y
~h·.

Garnett: lie is arguing with hiiu now.

By ~Ir. Baker:
Q. \Vhat proving did youThe Court: Don't argue with hiin. Tell hhn what you
did, ~fr. "\Vl1iteside.

A. I proved the cas'h account was correct on January tlw
21st, 1956.
The Court: January 21st, 1956; is that when you are
talking about~
The Witness: Yes, sir.
The Court: All right, I just want to follow you.
By lVIr. Baker :
Q. All that you did, l\Ir. \Vhiteside, was to take the cashpage 1246

~

l\{r. Garnett: \Veil, now, I believe his Honor
asked him to tell "rhat he did, now he proved

the cash.
The Court: That's right. He took it on January 21st,
'56. Tell us about that.
The V\Titness: Yes, sir. I started then with the cash as
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shown on 'hand December 31st, and added all the receipts
shown e.oming in to the 21st of January as shown in the
receipts book. I deducted the deposits that had been made
since the 21st to J anua.ry 31st.
The Court: vVhat was that, December 31st to January
21st1
The Witness: Yes, sir, the difference being the amount
shown by the books to be on hand.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. How many unrecorded receipts were there during that
period, 1\fr. 'Vhiteside~
A. As far as I know none, sir.
Q. Do you know whether there were any or not f
A. (Pause).
Q. Do you knowA. No, sir.
page 1247 ~ Q. If there were any then that balance would
not prove that the cash on hand was what it was
supposed to be, would it¥
A. No, sir.
Q. vVhat steps did you take to ascertain whether or not
there were any unrecorded receipts for the period in question; any~
A. Not at that time, no, sir.
Q. And yet if there had been any as of that time your assumption that all was right would be ''"rong, is that right?
A. It could be.
The Court: You say ''it could be?"
The "Titness: It could be.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Are there other factors that would affect it, 1\{r. Whiteside?
A. Other factors?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. What do you mean,· sir f
Q. Other factors other than unrecorded receipts. I think
you have indicated, have you not, that if there were in fact
unrecorded receipts that what seen1ed to check out would not
be right.
page 1248 ~ A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. And you did not verify-
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The Court: Say it so everybody can hear you.
By lVIr. Baker :
Q. Let me ask you somethingThe Court: 'Va.it, let hhn answer the last question. You
answered it but I couldn't hear it.
The Witness : I said yes.
The Court: All right, sir. He said "Yes.''
By 1\fr. Baker:
Q. ~fr. '-'7hiteside, we have covered now when receipts
cmne from C.R.T. to Bowen Company that there is a liability
created to Globe. Is that set up in the accounts payable to
insurance con1panies as a debit or as a. credit 1
A. It is accounts payable insurance company credit.
Q. A credit. And is that the manner in which the liability
to Globe is created on the books 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, what would happen if instead of crediting it to
the accounts payable insurance as a debit you
page 1249 ~ are credited to accounts receivable. 'Vhat "rould
that do to the books Y
A. The accounts receivable would not reconcile.
Q. vVhatY
The Court: The accounts receivable would not reconcile.
I don't know what the purpose of the question is.
1\fr. Baker: I hope to be able to show the Court what the
of the question is as we g·et along by a few more
questions.
The Court : All right, go ahead.
purpo~e

By 1\{r. Baker:
Q. 'Vhat 'vould that do to the balance of t1te l10oks?
A. The accounts receivable would be wrong and your accounts payable ·would be "rrong; both would be wrong.
Q. Would the accounts receivable be understated or overstated as :1 result of that t
·
A. Your accounts receivable so far as a summary is concerned, if you credit it to the accounts receivable it would be
overstated.
Q. And if it was credited to accounts payable 'vould that
be overstated or understated Y
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A. It would be understated.
Q. Would that be a total difference of, let's
page 1250 ~ assume it was a. four-thousand-dollar item.
Would that make a total difference of the balance of eight thousand or four?
A. Well, in this situation a total of eight.
The Court:
:htir. Baker:
The Court:
you. Talk to

What was that, eight 1
I wonderLook this way when you speak, I can't hear
me. I can hardly understand you.

By ~Ir. Baker:
Q. I wonder if you would look at the
July 13.th, 1956, Mr. Whiteside.

c~sh

receipts journal,

The ·Court : Would mind ·handing the journal up f
(Journal handed to the witness for examination.)
By Mr. Baker:
Q. On July 13th, '56, see if you see a payn1ent of $4,051.69
as received from C.R. T. for the Globe account. Do you see
that item~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. 'Viii you tell the Court whether or not that is credited
or debited against the accounts payable as supposed to be
in order to receive proper credit or is it in fact
page 1251 ~ credited against accounts receivable.
A. It is credited to accounts receivable of
C.R.T.
Q. 'Veil, then would that make a total difference of a
balance of $4,000.00 or of $8,000.00-$8,103 and something?
A. No, because it would be a debit on this account of C.R.T.
and the accounts receivable insurance. This is an itemQ. Well, didn't you say in properly handling- it that it
should be debited against accounts receivable and failure to
do so would amount to an understatement of accounts payable
by $4,000.001
A. The receiptQ. Didn't youA. The receipt would be credited to accounts payable.
Q. But not credited to accounts payable, was it 1
A. Credited to accounts receivable of the C.R.T. Corporation.
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Q. Then didn't you say that would result in an understatement of liabilities by $4,000.00?
A. Except in this particular case this is handled through
the regular insurance company which liability had already
been set up and charged against accounts receivable.
Q. Well, didn't you, in an example we gave
page 1252 ~ before, didn't you conclude that it would make
a difference in the balance of $8,000.00 using
a four-thousand-dollar example? If what I said here happened, actually happened; didn't you say that, Mr. \Vhiteside?
A. It is a different item. We are talking about the reg11la.r
C.R.T. account.
Q. Isn't this the C.R.T. account?
A. It is C.R.T. but not the regular one they have.
Q. Oh, you mean-

The Court: Tell me what it is, Mr. Whiteside, so we
under.stand.
Mr. Garnett: He understands it, Judge.
Mr. Baker: Now, if the Court please, I have tried my
best today, and I am g·etting a little tiredThe Court: The Court asked him.
1\ir. Baker: -of the little snide remarks from the attorney for the Commonwealth about what I do or don't understand. The first time I address anyone in the courtroom other
than the witness or the Court I would ask the Court to call
me down, and I ask the Court to ask all other eounsel to do
the same. I am trying my best to do my job
page 1253 ~ in an orderly manner.
The Court: Go ahead. Do you have any more
questions?
Mr. Baker: Yes, sir, I have son1e more questions. The
court reporter asked me to wait a few n1inutes while he
changed his paper.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Whiteside, you have said that there was a different item than the C.R.T. Globe items. There is nothing in
here to show it is different, is it 1 All it says is '' C.R. T."
The Court: You're talking gabout the $4,000.00 Y
Mr. Baker: Yes, sir.
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A. The C.R.T. has another account or other types of insurance than their automobile liability and Workmen's Compensation.
.
Q. But nothing to indicate in here which one it was, is
there7
A. Nothing there except the columns you put it in.
Q. All it said was ''Received from C.R.T. for Globe .A.ccount, '' didn't it f
A. ·Yes, sir.
Q. That is all it said?
page 1254 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. Well, you don't know whether this was
vVorkmen 's Con1pensation or Public Liability or anything by
looking at this?
A. Not by looking at that, no, sir.
Q. And if in fact it is in the wrong column it would make
a difference of $8,000.00, is that right 1
A. vVhich would have been adjusted later on because it
would sho'v up.
Q. Well, $4,000.00 of it could have shown up in a difference
of liability to Globe, couldn't it, at the end; couldn't it f
A. You say could it?
Q. Yes, sir?
The Court: Show up in the account.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. If in fact it resulted in an understatement of liabilities?
lVIr. Ga!·nett: But he said it did not result in an understatement of the liabilities. That was his answer.
The ·Court: He said it didn't.
Mr. Garnett: It did not.
Mr. Baker: lie just said a few minutes ago
page 1255 ~ he does not know whether this is one of the
special types of insurance or not.
The Court: Well, I understood it was something· other than
the regular account that he 'vas referring to a while ago;
and you said whether it would make a four-thousand-dollar
or an eight-thousand-dollar difference, I believe.
l\1:r. Baker: But, if the Court please, the Court did not
hear all of the answer. He has agreed there is nothing
in here to tell him which kind it is, and that if in fact it is
one of the liability payments that it would amount to an
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understatement of the liability.
Mr. Garnett: I suggest that the witness did not say it
would result in an understatement. Mr. Baker said that. He
said it would not reflect because it wouldn't balance and it
would not reflect as an understatement.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Whiteside, if this $4,051.69, if that was what it
was that I was just asking, if in fact that was a payment
on account of their liability insurance policy
page 1256 ~ and it is entered in the books this way, would
that not reflect it as an understatement of liability by $4,000.00 to insurance companies 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. It would.
A. If that be true.
Q. Is there anything-look in the book and tell whether that
is or not.
·
A. (Witness complied.)
Q. You can't tell, can you~
A. Not from looking at that item itself. You have to look
at the account.
Q. You have to look at the account you say?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And that would be included in a detailed audit of the
accounts payable, wouldn't it 1
A. Yes. S!ir.
Q. Hum?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And no detailed audit of the accounts payable was done
by anyone, was it Y
·
A. (Pause).
Q. That's right, sir, isn't it1
A. A "detailed audit?"
Q. Yes, sir.
page 1257 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. A detailed audit of the accounts payable
of Bowen Company 'vas done?
A. On the C.R.T. accounts payable.
Q. By who?
A. By me, sir.
Q. By you?
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Well, then why don't you know what it is if you made
a detailed audit. Did that involve ite1n by item f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you have the work sheets of your detailed audit of
the accounts payable C.R.T. with you, Mr. Whiteside f
A. I have a list of all the payments, all the recording of
those payments, and the cash journal and bank deposits.
Q. That is not a detailed audit, is it, Mr. \Vhiteside 1 A detailed audit also involves reconciling to the ledger and involves going back and verifying subsidiary records, does it
nott
.A.. Yes, sir.
Q. And you didn't do any of that, did you, 1\fr. "\VhiteRide?
A. On the C.R.T. account, yes, sir.
Q. vVhat subsidiary account did you go to?
page 1258

~

The Court : On the C.R. T. account.

A. The subsidiary record fron1 the C.R.T. account in the
general ledger, the accounts in their accounts payable to Globe
Indemnity from C.R. T.
Q. You mean the general ledger is a subsidiary account 1
A. Well, the liabilities on the C.R.T. account were directed
to the general ledger.
Q. The general ledger is not your cash receipts journal
which is the source for the data in there, isn't it?
A. Except this particular C.R.T. account was directed to
the general ledger accounts payable C.R.T. account.
Q. And never went through the cash receipts journal Y
A. It went in the cash receipts journal from the cash.
Q. It went to the cash receipts journal which set up a
de hit aecounts payable to insurance companies, wasn't it 1
A. As a credit.
Q. As a credit to insurance companies Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. 'Yell, then which is right; was it done or what. A
while ago you said it was an exception that it went on the
general ledger. Now, which is right?
A. It went directly to tl1e casl1 receipts journal fron1 the
general ledger C.R.T. account.
page 1259 ~ Q. Didn't you sayA (Continuing) The liability part of tl1e
C.R.. T. account.
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Q. Didu 't you say just a while ago, and maybe I misunderstood, but we can have the court reporter read it back,
I understood you to say that the C.R.T. account was an exception and went directly into the general ledger before
going into the subsidiary account and that the general ledger
itself was a subsidiary account for C.R. T. That was what n1y
understanding of your testimony was. Did I understand you
correctly¥
A. The general ledger account is the only account of the
C.R.T. liabilityQ. WellA. -insurance.
Q. Well, what isThe Court: Liability insurance?
The Witness : Liability insurance.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. What is the credit to accounts payable insurance companies? Isn't that a liability Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Well, does that cmne fro1n the .cash receipts journal?
A. Yes, sir.
page 1260 ~ Q. Sir Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Well! which does it go first actually, the cash receipts
journal or the general ledg·er~
A. The cash receipts journal.
Q. So you went to the general ledger first Y
A. That's right. I beg your pardon. It goes to the cash
receipts journal, then to the general ledger.
Q. So when you say it went first in the general ledger and
the general ledger in this instance was a subsidiary account
you were wrong about that, weren't you?
A. Well, we don't have a subsidiary account on that particular phase of it.
Q. You called the general ledger a subsidiary account,
didn't you ~
A. It is the liability account.
The Court: He said it was the liability account.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Do you feel that a general ledger could ever properly
be called a subsidiary account?
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.A. No, sir.
Q. But you did call it a subsidiary account,
didn't you 1
.A. I don't think I did, sir.
Mr. Baker: Could we have the court reporter read back Y
It was back s-ometime ago.
~Ir. Garnett: To save time I will admit that he did, although I did not hear him. But I think it is immaterial, your
Honor.
J\fr. Baker: If the Court please, I think it is n1aterial.
Now, we have already challenged this man's qualifications.
If he is up here calling a general ledger a subsidiary account
I think it is very important to find out what he knows about
books.
The Court: 'Veil, you're getting around to it now.
J\lr. Baker: I am not an accountant but I have learned
the difference between subsidiary records and the general
ledger.
~Ir. Garnett: Congratulations.
The Court: That purpose would it serve to read it back?
J\ir. Baker: The purposeT'he Court: Counsel has said that l1e would adn1it that
he did.
page 1262 ~ Mr. Baker: -if the Court please, is to ascertain ,\rhat this n1an knows about books.

page 1261

~

By 1\-Ir. Baker :
Q. Do you know whether or not a general ledger is a
subsidiary record, or not 1
.A. No, sir.
Q. You don't know 1
A. It is not.
The Court: It is not a subsidiary record. Now, you
still want to read the record backY
Mr. Baker: Well, if the Court. does not rec.all he said it
was.
Mr. Garnett: It can be said it was a subsidiarv reeord
as to that one account because that was the oi{ly place
that carried the account. Now, I heard himThe Court: That's the $4,000.00'1
Mr. Garnett: He is talking about the C.R.T. account.
Now, I heard him, and I assume everybody else heard him.
The Court: That is all I ren1ember about it too. Now,
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if the record shows anything different I want to know about

it.
page 1263

~

By Mr. Baker:
Q. "\V ell, then, ~Ir. "\Vhiteside, you said you
made a detailed audit of the accounts payable C.R.T., and
traced every recorded iten1 through. Ho"r did you trace this
item of $4,051.69 through the accounts payable when it never
went in there, when, instead, it went into accounts receivable.
How did you trace that item through?
A. I-to find out how that works out, sir.
Q. vVell, you couldn't do it if it never went into the accounts payable, could you?
A. C.R.T. has an account in the regular accounts payable
in addition to the special account, special C.R.T. account we
have been talking about, and tl1a.t item being in that column
credits the accounts receivable which indicates that is the account that it went into but interest, and a debit had already
been set upQ. But the point I amA. -ancl the liability created.
Q. The point I am trying to n1ake is this, ~{r. '\7hiteside.
You could trace from now on throug·h the accounts payable
and you wouldn't find sonwthing that 'vasn 't put in the accounts payable but·
The Conrt: He has just explained it to you.
Garnett: In detail.

~fr.

page 1264

~

By ~{r. Baker :
Q. "\Veil, this isn't an accounts payable, is it?

A. Sir~
Q. This $4,051.69 item is not an accounts payable account 1
A. No, sir, it i'3 accounts receivable insurance.

The Court: Isn't that what he said a while ago?
~[r. Baker: Well, maybe I n1isuuderstood hiin.
Bv Mr. Baker:
·Q. An examination in wl1atever a1nount of detail of the
accounts payable would fail to turn up this item of $4,051.69
in the accounts receivable account, wouldn't it?
A. (Pause) Well, now, that tnay properly belong to the
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accounts receivable. I wouldn't know until I examined the accounts receivable.
The Court: Do you want him to examine the accounts
receivable 1
By l\Ir. Baker :
Q. Now~ 1\llr. Whiteside, let me get Exhibit Number 7 here.
I hand you Commonwealth's Exhibit 7 identified as the general ledger transfer, a.nd on opening the book
page 1265 ~ to accounts receivable insurance under the year
1956, the date at the top of the page being June
30th, and a.t the end of it being January 31, 1957, I will ask
you first, Jvir. Whiteside, whether these entries at the bottom
of the page are in your handwriting.
(Book shown to the witness.)
A. At tl1e bottom 1
Q. Is this your writing here 1
A. No, sir.
Q. Are you sure?
A. Yes 7 sir.
Q. All right. Now, will you tell us-you will notice over
in the balance column on this sheet that the balances have
been stru~k through almost all the way down. Can you tell
us why that was done?
A. No, sir.
Q. These are your figures down here a.t the bottom, are
they not, sir f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. This credit figure a.t the bottom of 229?
A. That is a debit figure for accounts filed.
Q. That is a credit figure here, isn't it f
A. That is a credit here to balance the account.
Q. A credit in '56?
A. Yes, sir, to balance the account.
Q·. A credit balance?
page 1266 ~ A. That zero's it out, sir.
Q. And that is your zero?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you balance that out?
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. You balanced that out with all these lines drawn
through?
A. These lines over here, these items are balances at this
particular point.
Q. They 'vere Y
A. They don't figure into the debits.
Q. Can you tell us whether or not they balanced in succeeding years Y
A. No, sir.
Q. You don't know 1
A. They were balanced every year, sir.
Q. They balanced in spite of the fact they are struck out Y
The Court: He said these items which were put on there
were temporary thing·s.
A. This balances. At the end of each month the real difference is the total of the debits less your credits.

The Court : At the end of each month?
A. Or it could be at the end of each month, yes, sir, these
are supposed to be balances.

r By Mr.

Baker:
Q. You mean they are not supposed to be put
separately at tbt~ end of the year Y
A. No, sir, it does not mean that.
Q. Who balanced those. Did you 1nark through those Y
A. No, sir.
Q. Are you positive?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Would there be any legitimate reason for marking
throug·h those Y
Q. Sir?
A. I wouldn't know of any.
Q. Well: in exan1ining a set of books when you open the
page and you see all those lines through it would that indicate
anything to you 1
A. Over in this balance column, probably not.
Q. No 1 Ho'v about a lot of erasures, would that indicate
anything to you?
A. Erasures would indicate errors being made.

page 1267
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Q. Is that an indication that somebody may have made an
awful lot of errors on that one page?
A. All those balances are wrong where it appears on that
page.
page 1268 ~ Q. Would that be one of the pages that you
would examine for the year 1956 in preparing
your report of examination for 1956 for Bowen Company?
A. (Pause).
The
l\'Ir.
The
The

Court: Can you answer that 1
Garnett: Did you hear the question, Mr. "\Vhiteside?
Witness: May I have the question again?
Court: Let the reporter read it back.

(The reporter read the question.)
A. Yes, sir, I would have taken this balance and trial balance here.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now, 1\tlr. Whiteside, the $4,051.69-itemized you wrote a
while ago, can you tell whether it is entered on that page in
July of '56~
The Court: $4,051 what Y
Mr. Baker: $4,051.69.
A. No, sir, I can't tell because this has the total.
Q. Well, you said a while ago that in order to avoid understating liabilities it would be shown as a credit
page 1269 ~ to accounts payable. Is there a credit to acc.ounts payable anywhere on that page for July,
'56 that could include the $4,000.00 i tern?
A. It would be a credit to accounts payable. This is the
accounts receivable here, sir.
Q. Perhaps I made a mistake in asking you the question.
Did you say it would be a credit to accounts receivable or a
debit to accounts payable, which?
A. Well, this particular case, this entry is shown here as
being credited to accounts receivable.
Q. Well~ is it credited to accounts receivable on this reconciliation in the general ledger?
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.T~~. Court: Find where it is in this book if you can now.
A. This is creditable to accounts receivable which is included in this total.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now, where is the offsetting debit for that item?
A. $15,184.31The Court: Wait a minute--$15,184.31 Y
A. It is included. See, that is the column through accounts receivable insurance, the total figures brought up there
and carried forward, $12,118.43 there and
page 1270 ~ brought on down here the $12,695.58.
Q. Where was the $4,000.00 iten1 in the first
place. Did you find it 1
The Court: Yes, he turned it back to it again.
;

A. This included the total of this column.
By Mr. Baker:
Q·. Sho·iN it to us, sir.
A. Here is the $4,051.69 (Indicating)
Q. All right.
A. As entered in the accounts receivable.
Q. As a creditY
A. In the insurance column as being a payment on the account.
Q. As a credit, right?
A. Sir!
Q. As a credit?
A. That is right.
The Court : Go on, tell him again.
A. Following on through it is included in this $15,184.31
which is shown here as a credit to accounts receivable.
page 1271

~

By Mr. Baker:
Q. I see. 'Vhere is the debit. \Vhere is the
offsetting debit 7

..,

.
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A. The offsetting debit, we have to c.ome from your accounts-what they call "accounts current.''
Q. Where is that, sir 1
A. Well, that isn't here, sir. We have to get the accounts
receivable.
Q. Didn't you testify when we first started this case that
these were ::til the books and records of Bowen Company; you
identified them and said these are all the books Y Didn't
you say tha.t?
A. (Pause) I think there were smne exceptions made.
Q. vVhat exceptions were made?
A. The accounts receivable cards.
Q. Weren't you asked the question, ~fr. 'Vhiteside, ''Are
you fan1iliar with the books and records of Bowen Company
and are these all the books and records,'' and didn't you
say, ''Yes?''
A. (Pause).
Q. Think back, Mr. Whiteside.
A. I think probably I did.
Q. Sir? You tl1ink you did?
A. Yes.
Q. And you find that you were wrong in saypage 1272 ~ ing that they were all of t'he books of Bowen
Company?
A. That is right.
The Court: What's that? Say it so I can hear you.
The 'Yitness: Yes, sir.
The Court: All right.
A. I think they were not all because the accounts receivable
are not here.
~fr.

Baker:
Q. As a matter of fact there are many items that would be
called subsidiary records of Bowen ·Company that have not
l)een produced in here that are needed to understand these
books, isn't that the truth, sir? You just pointed to one.
A. (Pause) Yes, sir.
Q. And how about the receipt books of the minute books
-the manifold receipt books. They are in the court room,
are thev'
A. Yo~ mean the duplicate receint book?
Q. The duplicate receipt l)ooks. They are not. in the court-
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room and never have been broug·ht in this courtroom, isn't
that the truth? That's right, isn't it¥
A. That's right.
Q. And when you testified the first day that all Bowen's
books were in here they were not here, were they f
A. No, sir.

.

page 1273 ~

The Court: I believe ·he said they were not is
my recollection.
~{r. Garnett: You're exactly right, and I announced they
"rere in mv office.
~{r. Baker: No, sir, 1\Ir. Freeman was the one who inspected the manifold receipt books and when we finally got
around to it his estimate was that it would make a pile six
feet high in here.
The Court: I don't remember him saying it \vould make a
pile six feet high.
Mr. Garnett: No, sir, 1\ir. Baker mnde that staten1ent
and J\!Ir. Free1nan said two feet high.
The Court: I thought this man did too.
Mr. Baker: Mr. Free1nan said about "like this.'' (Denlonstrating)
The Court: I understand, but I understood this 1uan to
say on the first day he testified to that too.
1\ir. Bal{er: I don't think tl1at's right, if the Court
please.
The Co-urt: "\Yell, let's go ahead, have you got another
questiont
page 1274

~

By }ilr. Baker :
Q. 1\ir. "\Vhiteside, are you familiar with the
cash disbursements journal of Bowen Company¥
A. Yes, sir.
The Court: Cash disbursement1
Mr. Baker: Cash disbursement journal.
The Court : .Journal. All right.

Bv ~fr. Baker:
'Q. This is .C01nmonwealth's Exhibit Number 13 that I will
hand you now. I wonder if you will look under the date of
June 29, 1956 under disbursement, Check Number 779.
A. (Witness con1plying)

:....

..
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The
Mr.

Garnett: vVhat was that date, please?
Baker: June 29, 1956.
Court: June 29?
Baker: Yes, sir.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Do you see Check Number 779 f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. For $6,000.007
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Would you tell us what the cash disbursepag-e 1275 ~ ment journal shows for that entry, Mr. Whiteside?
A. It shows a check drawn on the First National Bank in
the anwunt of $6,000.00.
Q. In the amount of $6,000.00 payable to what order? Payable to what order, Mr. Whiteside?
A. Pa.yable to cash so it says here.
Q. Are there any notations in your ha.nd,vriting by that
entry?
A. They were transferred to the C. M. J. bank.
Q. Yes, sir. No,v, will you lookTlw Court: ''Transferred f''. What do you mean f
The "\Vitness: The funds were transferred from the First
National Bank to the C. M. J. bank.
By Mr. Baker :
Q. Now, where would you look to ascertain whether or not
the cash on hand account was charged with that $6,000 by the
drawing of that check?
A. The cash on hand 1
Q. Yes, sir.
A. vVell, I don't think this has anything to do with cash
on hand.
Q. I asked you w·here would you look.
pag-e 1276

~

Mr. Garnett: He just said it hasn't got anything to do with cash on hand, so how would he
know \vhere to look to find it Y
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, may I be protected from
interruptions by counsel 1
The Court: Don't interrupt him any more; but that is
what he said.

I
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Mr. Baker: The question, if the Court please, is where
would you look in all of the records of Bowen to ascertain
whether or not the cash on hand account was charged with
that $6,000.00.
Mr. Garnett: And he said it wouldn't be affected.
The Court: That is what he said.
Mr. Garnett: T·hat is exactly right.
The Court: He can explain it if he wants.
~Ir. Baker: If the Court please, I happen to know in this
instance tba t the attorney for the Commonwealth and the
Court are both wrong, that it does show in the cash on hand
account and I want to see if this witness can find it.
The Court: All right.
page 1277

~

,

A. "\Vell, it would show in the cash on hand account if it went in there.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. "\Vould you look and tell me whether or not there is this
$6,000.00 which was on hand or supposedly on hand~ I will
hand you the book.
A. Let me see the general ledger for '56. I think the
transfer part of it.
Q. All right, sir, find it in here for me.
A. (The book was handed to the witness.)
Q. Do you find it, Mr. Whiteside, yet?
A. Now, we would have a total from the cash receipts of
$26,700~fr. Garnett: Mr. Baker, if you would stand away from
the witness I think maybe I can bear.

A. Now, we have to go to the cash receipts journal for June,
1956 to see whether that $6,000.00 is entered to make up part

of fhis total.
Q. All right, I will hand you the cash receipts journal for
that year identified as Commonwealth's Exhibit Number 9.
(Witness exan1ining Exhibit.)
page 1278

~

cash on hand·f
A. Yes, sir.

Q. Did you find it Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. The $6,000.00 was actually added to the
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Q. And yet your notation shows that the $6,000 went into
the Citizezns Marine Jefferson bank, doesn't it¥ Is that right,
sirf
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Thank you, sir. Do you know which is right¥ Do you
know 'vhich is right?
.A. What do you mean?
Q. Do. you know whether or not it was actually brought
back here and put in the cash on hand or went into the
Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank Y
A. It e.ould be declared on the cash on hand and then deposited to the C. 1\L J. bank.
Q. 'Vhere did the $6,000.00 go. Did it go into the Citizens
~farjne Jefferson Bank or did it come back in cash or do
you know·f
A. "\Veil, fron1 this it is not too clear. We have got to get
the bank accounts and see and check it.
Q. But you did not get the bank account, did you, on this
item?
A. (Pause)
Q. What¥
page 1279 ~ A. I have seen it, I'm sure.
Q. You have?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. When?
A. 1957.
Q. You saw it in '57. You think you have. But you have
not seen it since 1
A. And I probably have seen it since, I don't know.
Q. Well, Mr. Whiteside, if it went into the C. M. J. bank
t'he books of record of deposits would show it, wouldn't it?
A. Sure, yes, sir.
Q. Well, look in there and see if it shows it.
A. (Witness complied.) .
Q. It cloesn 't show up, does it., 1\Jir. Whiteside?
A. W e!l, I don't know what this $6,000.00 is charged to
here. If we can run that down. That may be charged to the
C. ~f. ,J. bank.
The Court : Vlell, do yo-q know whether it went in the
hank?
· Mr. Baker: Yes, sir, he has got a notation in his own
lu1ndwriting that says ''Transferred to C. M. J. Bank.'' He
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page 1280

can't show where it was .cleared out of the
account, I don't think.
The Court: Do you find anything, Mr.

r cash on hand

vVhi teside?
The Witness: No, sir.
The Court : Do you need any more time Y
The Witness: Yes, sir.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. vVell, let me ask you this, Mr. \VhitesideThe Court: Did it go in the C. ~I. J. bank, 1\{r. Whiteside?
Let him answer this first.
Mr. Baker: I'm sorry.
The Court: Did it go in the C. 1\L J. bank?
The Witness: Well, I don't have anything here that I can
prove it with right now. I've gotThe Court: I understood you to say it was transferred
from the First National Bank to the C. M. J. bank?
The Witness: That's right.
The Court: Now, can you find that?
The Witness: I haven't found the entry
page 1281 r where it went into the C. M. J. bank.
The Court: But you have found where the
cash on hand was charg·ed this $6,000.00 iten1 as though
the cash were brought back from the bank and put in the
cash on hand. Y.ou found that¥
The Witness: No, sir-yes, sir.
The Court: But your notation that you put on there says
that it went into the C. 1\t J. bank, don't they?
The vVitness: Well, I have to go back and find it.
T·he Court: All right, we will give you a couple of minutes
to find it.
1\fr. Baker: If the Court please, I would like it understood that while we are adjourned that the witness is going to
see if he can find it. I don't know whether we are interested
in whether he can find it or whether anybody else can find it.
The Court: All right. I am going to recess for a. minute to
see if l1e can find it.
1\{r. Baker : If the Court please, I would like for the
record to show-I don't know if the Court
page 1282 ~ knows when he started looking for this. but he
staTted looking at twenty minutes past for this.
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The Court: I don't think it was quite that late. I
thought it was twenty-two or three. I didn't time it.
1\-fr. Baker: \Veil, it's my fault. I want to see how long
it is g·oing to take him if he ever could find it in here. I would
like the record to show whatever the Court's recollection is
"\\Then he started looking for it.
The Court: Five 1uinutes of, according to him.
(The Court recessed at 3:31 P. M. At 3:40 the trial proceeded as follows :)
The Court: All right, Mr. vVhiteside, did you find anything?
The Witness: No, sir.
The Court : You couldn't find it 1
The Witness: I couldn't find it.
Mr. Baker: Thank you.
The Court: Tell usThe Witness: I have to go back to the bank statements to
see "\\That happened.
page 1283

~

By Mr. Baker:
Q. The fact of the matter is as of now, 1.fr.
Whiteside~ that the account of cash on hand has~ been charged
with this $6,000.00 check, isn't it?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you can't find anything in the books that it was
ever cleared of that $6,000.00 item Y
A. No, sir.
Q. All .right.
The Court: A.nd you did not find it in any of the other
books~

The Witness: I have to go back to the bank statements
and the check.
The Court: You say the cash on hand was charged with
$6,000.00, is that the last statment you made?
The Witness: Yes, sir.
1tfr. Baker: What time did we start off?
e will record
it as of whatever time we can agree on.
· The Court : According to me nine minutes.

'r
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. It is a fact, 1\fr. vVhiteside, that I might
possibly find other items in there that you have
to go to the subsidiary records to find out what
was in the books was actually correctly stated or not 7
A. Possibly, yes, sir.
Q. Certainly you are familiar with all of these books,
aren't you, sir¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And without reference to the subsidiary records you
could not say whether or not this $6,000.00 was ever cleared
out of the c.ash on hand, could you Y
A. No, sir.

page 1284

~

The Court : You couldn't say?
The vVitness: No, sir.
By 1\{r. Baker:
Q. And those subsidiary records that you would need to
prove that by have not been produced in court, have they?
A. No, sir.
·
The Court: Well, do you know where they are?
The Witness : I think they are in the Bowen office, and
some of them are here in 1\'Ir. Garnett's office.
page 1285

~

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now, on Monday of this week, didn't I come
to your office seeking access to the subsidiary records 7 Do you
remember that 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you were out of your office Monday all day practically, weren't you 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q. But you knew that I had been there when you came in at
lunch time, didn't you?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And didn't 1\tfr. Lynn, your partner, tell you that I had
been looking for aceess to those subsidiary records when you
can1e in at lunch time?
A. I didn't come in at lunch time.
Q. Well, you were in contact with him by telephone and
didn't you tell Mr Lynn that you would rather not for me to
look at the records except when you were there Y

Catherine Vvebb v. Commonwealth of Virginia

733

E. D. Whiteside.
A.
Q.
A.
Q.

(Pause) I toldThis was just this past 1\tlonday, Mr. Whiteside.
I might have told him that.
Do you recall-

The Court : Did you or didn't you?
The Witness: I don't recall that I told him that.
~

By :h1:r. Baker :
Q. Well, do you recall Mr. Lynn telling you
that I had been wanting access to the records and had asked
him where you were and asked him to clear with you as to
whether I could see them. Don't you remember anything about
that this past Monday?
A. (Pause) This past Monday?
Q. This past-just a couple of days ago Y
page 1286

The Court: The day before yesterday is what he is speak.
The 'Vitness: He told me that you inquired about where I
was.
ing~.

By ~fr. Baker:
Q. And didn't you tell him that you would rather for me not
to look at the records except when you were not there? Didn't
you tell Mr. Lynn that?
A. I toldMr. Garnett: I don't understand the materiality.
The Court: I don't either.
A. Mr. Garnett told me not to sho'v the records to-any
more records to anyone except on his permission.
Q. l.VIr. Garnett instructed you not to make any of those
records available except with his permission T
page 1287 ~ A To anyone.
Q. And that included counsel for the defense?
A. I think it would.
Q. Well, then do you tell the Court that you withheld access
to the subsidiary records from counsel for the defense on instructions from the attorney for the Commonwealth. Is that
what you are telling us 7
The Court: That is what he said, that the Commonwealth
Attorney told him not to let you all have them.
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. And that is when you brought those subsidiary records
down to Mr. Garnett's office?
A. I told you the accounts receivable were in Bowen's office
or in Mr. Garnett's office.
Q. Do you remember me asking you about cancelled checks
and check stubs f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And desiring access to them Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you remember telling me that they were in Mr. Garnett's office?
A. No, sir, I did not say that.
Q. NoY
page 1288 ~ A. Not those.
Q. Do you remember me asking you about
deposit slips?
A. You mentioned deposit slips, yes, sir.
Q. And asking for access to them! Do you remember tl1at?
A. I don't think you asked me for access to them.
Q. All right sir.
The Court: Well, do you want the deposit slips?
Mr. Baker: We wanted them, if the Court please.
· The Court: What?
Mr. Baker: We wanted them because-the deposit slipsall of these records are things we wanted access to to work on.
The Court: Well, it was never made known to me to this
moment.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please~ir. Garnett: I might say for the record being that this is
going in, your Honor, that they never asked me for them
either.
Mr. Baker: Now, if the Court please, for the record, if 've
are testifying, or if are making statements for
page 1289 ~ the record, being unable to gain access to any
of the records through Mr. Whiteside on J\IIonday of this week, we came to Mr. Garnett's office. Mr. ·Garnett,
incidentally, I believe, was out of the city all day Monday, and
on Tuesday we came to Mr. Garnett's office to ascertain what
records he did have and their availability, and he had on hand
what was at least a part of the duplicate books or manifold
receipt books.
The Court: Well, he always said he had those in his office,
I understood him to say.

~'
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1\'Ir. Baker: He said he had those; and he had on hand some
subsidiary records on insurance coverage, and he had on hand
an old book in which were pasted monthly balance sheets prior
to the time they were kept in the looseleaf book that was in
here. That was all the records that were in Mr. Garnett's
office.
The Court: What you are concerned with now as far as I
can see is the $6,000.00 item which he says the cash on hand
charged $6,000.00.
page 1290 ~ Mr. Baker: What I am concerned with, if the
Court please, is establishing for the record that
as far as these books which ha:ve received examination are
concerned that the cash on hand account is charged with $6,000.00 that is not cleared out of the account by these books in
spite of this witness' own handwriting in the books that the
funds were transferred to the Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank,
and I am trying t{) establish for the record, if the. Court please,
that this witness has said that the only way to ascertain what
did happen to it would be to refer to the subsidiary records.
1\ir Garnett: What he is trying to do, your Honor, is trying by innuendo to say that we hid some records from him.·Let
me set him straight.
On Thursday afternoon we were in Mr. Schneider's office
about this report and subsidiary records were mentioned then.
Now, I was in my office all day Friday, and I was in town Saturday. Mr. Whiteside, I assume, was available on Friday and
Saturday, and I was out {)f town on Monday.
page 1291 ~ Now, it is not incumbent upon me to stay in town
because Mr. Baker might want to see something
in the records.
The Court: Well, if he wants to see it now he may do it.
1\ir. Garnett: Mr. Baker came to my office on yesterday
morning and he inquired of me as to whether or not he could
see what records I had and whether or not he could bring the
defendant and look at them in my office, and I told him to help
himself and, as a matter of fact, he brought the defendant to
my office, and what he did with the records-he looked at some
receipt books. What else he looked at, I don't know. My secretary and I were busy on this matter and we were not concerning ourselves with what they did.
Now, .Judge, we made these books available to these people
months ago. We. told them, and we have shown any of the
books they wanted to see. Now, his Honor knows that, and I
know it, and Mr. Baker knows it. Now they come in here after
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the trial has been under way for some seven days
page 1292 ~ and by innuendo try to say we. were not going to
.
show them any books. What I told Mr. Baker
was, as I got on the elevator, that I had given him about everything I had to give him, and if there was anything else that
he wanted to see the Court about it, or words to that effect.
That was Thursday afternoon. He came· down to my office
on yesterday and I told him to look at whateve.r he wanted to,
but I did tell 1\1r. Whiteside not to show him any books unless
he cleared it with me. I did that because the Court had said
that they were not the responsibility of Mr. Whiteside and
Mr. Freeman and they were supposed to come to me.
~lr. Baker: Now, if the Court please, as the attorney for
the Commonwealth knows, counsel for the defense and the
C.P.A. who has been working with us in this matter spent the
greater part of the day on Friday of last week examining
in the office of the Clerk of this court the books which are
exhibits, examined them after clearance by the attorney for
the Commonwealth to the Clerk that it was all right for us to
examine them as long as they remained in the
page 1293 r Clerk's custody; and we stayed in the Clerk's
office until quitting time. As a matter of fact it
was past quitting tin1e for the Clerk on Friday. And during
the course of this additional work on :Nlondav it becmne desirable to refer to some of the subsidiary records for the
srune reason that this n1an needs them.
The Court: Well, why didn't you tell n1e this this n1orning
earlier?
Mr. Baker: And on Monday neither J\1r. Garnett-Mr.
Garnett was out of the city and J\1r. Whiteside was out of his
office until we caught him after five o'clock on Monday.
Now, the main purpose. in bringing out what has been
brought out by this witness is to establish that the books can't
do what Mr. Freeman has testified they could do without aecess to the subsidiary records, and I demonstrated that to the
Court.
The second thing, I did not know until today that the-until
this witness said this afternoon-that he was withholding access to these books on the instructions of the atpage 1294 ~ torney for the Commonwealfh. I did not ~now
that. That was a surprise to me.
The Court: If you will tell the Court what you want I will
let you get it pertaining to the books.
1\{r. Baker: Yes, sir, but I think that the Court will recognize that we are in court until five-thirty or six o'clock in the
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evening and then in court again, as a general rule in this case,
at nine o'clock in the morning, which does not leave counsel
much time to do much examination of the records.
The Court: No, sir, but you could have brought it to my
attention this morning. You did not do that.
J\.Ir. Baker: I am not complaining now about it.
The Court: Well, you sound like you are complaining. But
at the same time if you want that I will help youMr. Baker: But I am complaining; and I think the Court
would be interested, in the fact that this man as a witness
has been instructed to withhold access to us of things that may
be of evidential value in this case.
The Court: Wellpage 1295 ~ ~Ir. Garnett: That is not true.
The Court : Well, he wasn't withholding you
from bringing it to my attention. If he has any evidence that
he has withheld that you want I will 'help you and sec that you
get it.
Mr. Garnett: I told Mr. Whiteside not to show him the
records until he cleared it with me. I did not tell him to withhold anything.
Mr. Baker: Well, as this witness is a witness under the instructions of the attorney for the Commonwealth, I think it is
important for the Court to know that in order to properly
evaluate his testimony.
:Mr. Garnett: Well, he is under my instructions then, and
that I freely admit.
The Court: Now, is there anything in the records that you
are trying to showY
Mr. Baker: We would like, if the Court please, we would
like some understanding that we may examine any of the
subsidiary records that we may call for at a place convenient
topage 1296 ~ The Court: What subsidiary records do you
want?
Mr. Baker: I don't kno,v, I couldn't possibly name all of
the subsidiary records.
The Court: You don't want the receipt book down in Mr.
Garnett's office, do you, the double entry receipt bookY
~{r. Baker: We might very well, from my understanding.
The Court: You were deprived of that. As I understand
it you went down and looked at that?
Mr. Baker : We were deprived only to this extent : I was
advised that I could examine that in Mr. Garnett's office but I
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could not take.it out and take that down to where these books
were so they can be examined jointly.
Mr. Garnett: Now, Ralph, let's get things straight now.
He suggested right there in my office, your Honor, that he
would come in there, and it was all right with me, he would
look at them in my office, and that statement was made in the
presence of my secretary and me, and I did not restrict
him to my office, and Mr. Baker full well knows
:
page 1297 ~ that.
Mr. Baker: Now, if the Court please, Mr.
Garnett's recollection may be better than mineMr. Garnett: It is that-better than yours.
Mr. Baker: I thought the attorney for the Commonwealth
had finished. Mr. Garnett advised me that these books were
in his custody and that we could go and lQok at them and
examine them in his office, but as long as they were in his
custody and he was responsible for them that it would not be
proper for him to permit them to be taken from his office. And
he made that statementThe Court: Now, do you want them 1 That is all I am concerned about now.
Mr. Baker: I 'vould like an understanding-! don't know
what additional delays there may be during working hours,
but if there are any opportunities during the rest of this
trial, I would like to have access to any of the subsidiary records that may have a bearing on the books that have been introduced into evidence, and opportunity either
page 1298 ~ to take these books to where they are, which I
don't think the Court will grant, or to have those
books brought here so that those books can be workedThe Court: I will have them brought here. Make it known
to 'vhoever is in charg·e of them and we will get them here,
1\{r. Garnett:
Mr. Garnett: He says he doesn't know which ones they
want.
The Court: We want the subsidiary records. I suppose
that includes what you've g·ot in your office.
Mr. Garnett: And also in 1\ir. Bowen's office, and there
may be some in Mr. Whiteside's office.
The Court: All right.
By Mr. Baker:
·Q. Now, Mr. Whiteside, you testified the other day about
counting the cash on hand on February 7th, 1959f
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. And there was some discrepancy there or an apparent
discrepancy, let's put it that way.
Page 1299 ~

The Court: The cash on hand on February of
'59?
J\tir. Baker: February 7th, 1959.
The Court: 7th, '59. All right.
Mr. Baker: Yes, sir.

By Mr. Baker:
Q. That is the day on which you say you counted the cash,
isn't it?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. One of the threeThe Court: It was counted first on January 21st, '56, then
February of '58 as I understand it.
~Ir. Baker: Yes, sir, but the other day, if the Court please,
the witness testifiedThe Court: I may have skipped one day. I was trying to
follow you.
Mr. Garnett: It was '59, not '58.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. And you testified the cash on handThe Court: I skipped '58-he skipped '58, Mr. Garnett.
Mr. Garnett: That's right.
page 1300

~

By Mr. Baker:
Q. You testified there was $258.00 and some
change as I recollect t
A. Yes.
Q. And you were interrogated with reg·ard to the apparent
discrepancy between that figure and the $109.00 figure that
you had furnished for the bill of particulars for the petty cash.
Do you remember that?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. The explanation you gave, I believe, was that it was all
in one drawer but $100.00 of it was supposed to be petty cash
and the rest of it would be cash on hand t
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And that was your explanation of why there was no real
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discrepancy between the $258.00 figure and the $109.00 figure,
right?
A. (Witness nodding head in the affirmative).
Q. Is that the way the petty cash was always kept, in the
cash drawer 1
A. It was all kept in the same drawer, yes, sir.
Q. So there was no real discrepancyThe Court: Wait, Mr. Baker.
.
Mr. Garnett: Your Honor, he went all through that on the
first day.
The Court: I think he did do that.
page 1301 } By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now, Mr. vVhitesideThe Court: Don't let's repeat anything if we can help it.
Mr. Baker: Judge., I am bringing up something new. I
don't think you can just jump questions. I just have a question or two. I think I am permitted to do that.
The Court : Go ahead.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Whiteside, the petty cash fund, the so-ca.lled ''petty
cash fund," was never reitnbursed by withdrawals of cash
from the bank to C<?Ver disbursements from the petty cash
fund, was it 7
A. No, but a check was written.
Q. I understand.
A. For the disbursement portion of it.
Q. But actually if you started off on a give.n morning with
a hundred dollars in the cash drawer of petty cash and nothing
more, and if you took in $3,000.00 that day in cash, in currency, and if you paid out fi.ft:y dollars by voucher out. of petty
cash the procedure the next day would be to take a hundred
dollars in cash and start off the day with it, isn't that right!
A. You write a check for the fifty dollar
page 1302 } disbursement.
Q. The check never got into the petty cash
drawer, did it, Mr. Whiteside.?
A. No, sir, it. went to the cash fund.
Q. Isn't it a fact, Mr. Whiteside, that the cash disbursed
today on voucher was reimbursed in cash out of today's receipts, isn't that true Y
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. That is true.

The Court: What was that now, Mr. Whiteside?
The Witness : The petty cash vouchers are reimbursed by
drawing a check for the amount of disbursements and depositing that in lieu of cash so that the petty cash fund is replenished or brought back up to the hundred dollars or whatever the petty cash fund might be.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. 1\fr. Whiteside, I would like to ask you some questions
and when I get through if you want to make any explanation
you certainly have the privilege of doing so. The fact of the
n1atter is-we will go through this step by. steppage 1303

~

1Yir. Garnett: Again we have been through it
once, Judge. I object to these delays. Now, that is
all we have been doing-delaying, delaying, de-

laying.
The Court: He just said he had some.thing else in mind.
Mr. Garnett: He was going through it step by step.
~fr. Baker: Now, if the Court pleaseMr. Garnett : He has been through it.
~fr. Baker: If it's in evidence in this case that the procedure in that office was to reimburse the petty cash fund out
of cash receipts and not of the bank then I haven't heard it
testified to in this court. I am trying to establish it now because it is a fact, but I don't think it is in evidence yet.
The Court: I just heard him say it.
~fr. Baker: I understand.
The Court: That he drew a check for $50.00.
~fr. Baker: But the fifty-dollar check was not cashed in the
cash drawer and put back in the drawer ..
By 1\{r. Baker:
Q. Was it, 1\{r. Whiteside?
A. No, it wasn't deposited in lieu of what was
left in the drawer.
Q. Well, I a1n saying that when you say that $50.00-

page 1304

~

The Court: "Deposited in lieu of the cash which was left
in the drawer.'' Now, he said that.
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. But the fact remains, ~{r. Whiteside, that if you started
with a hundred dollars today and after you pay two hundred
dollars on vouchers you have paid a hundred dollars more
than you started off witl1 in petty cash, haven't you~
.A. If you do that, yes, sir.
Q. Well, that would not be a rare occasion, would it, Mr.
Whiteside?
.A. (Pause).
Q. For $200.00 to be paid out of the petty cash on a given
day. It has happened, hasn't it¥
A. I don't know, sir.
Q. vVell, it could happen according to the actual disbursements?
The Court: But did it happen in .this caseT
Mr. Garnett: He said he did not know. He
wasn't there every day, Judge. He would come
occasionally and examine the books.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, this is rather important,
and I 'vould like u. chance to develop it.
Mr. Garnett: He has just said he did not know. And Judge,
you heard his evidence, saying he did not run that office ; he
just came in occasionally and examined the books. How would
he know?

page 1305

~

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. Whiteside, there was no petty cash on the books of
this company other than the initial entry of $100.00 petty cash,
was there?
A. No, sir.
Q. That is all the books that there are on petty cash, isn't
that right?
.A. (Witness nodding in the affirmative.)
Q. And here is a general ledger transfer. Can you show the
Court-this is Common,vealth 's Exhibit Number 7-can you
show the court what records there are in the books with regard
to handling petty cash by Bowen Company?
(Exhibit Number 7 handed to the witness.)
page 1306 ~

A. Well, they had a hundred dollar petty cash
fund that the record shows here.
Q. Mr. Whiteside, you are looking under what date that you
are looking in Commonwealth's Exhibit Number 7Y
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A. 1951 where they had a $50.00 cash fund; they increased
it on July, 1958 another $50.00 making a total of a hundred
dollars.
·Q. Now, what year does this general ledger cover, Mr.
Whiteside?
A. This general ledger covers so many sheets-it covers all
the way back to 1948.
Q. Towhent
A. To 1958.
Q. And how many lines of entries are there. covering the
entire ten-year period of the petty cash fund; how many entries in ten years; how many entries in the petty cash fundY
A. Only two, one $50.00 originally and the fifty-dollar increase.
Q. Now, I believe there are some in the general ledger
transfer, aren't there, covering from '58 through '597
A. I have to look at these, sir. That was a hundred dollars
brought over and was reduced :fifty dollars in '59.
Q. So how many lines of entries are there there?
A. Two.
page 1307 ~ Q. How many entries were. there; was it four
entries or two?
A. Two.
Q. So there are four entries in all of the petty cash account
records of Bowen Company, is that right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Covering· a period of ten to eleven years. That is not
something that could be audited, is it, Mr. Whiteside?
Mr. Garnett: Now, these haven't got anything to do with
keeping of the books, Judge.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, it has got a lot to do with
keeping of the books. The theory of the prosecution in this
case-let's spell it out here-the theory that the prosecution
has in this case is that the cash receipts which have been receipted for creates a certain amount of accountability for
cash that is deposited in the bank and that the difference is a
shortage, and I am showing, I think, if the Court please, that
cash that comes in receipted for as cash is paid out of cash
and never goes to the bank and could not be included in the
deposit slip, and if that is the case it is imporpage 1308 ~ tant that the Court know.
·
Mr. Garnett: Well, you don't know that by
showing you 'v~ got a hundred-dollar credit in cash. This is
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nothing in the world but a red herring and a smoke screen that
a child could see through.
·
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, is that an objection T
Mr. Garnett: I do object on the ground it is a red herring
and a smoke screen, if that is a good legal term.
The Court: I can't follow you, Mr. Baker.
Mr. Baker: I am sorry I found myself raising my voice,
if the Court please. I don't think anybody could follow me. I
don't think I have ever been interrupted so many times in the
trials of cases in my twenty years of practicing law.
The Court: Go back to the fifty-dollar increase and back
down to the fifty. Now, that is all he said.
Mr. Garnett: Now, is it the contention of counsel for
the defense that if you took something out of the
page 1309 ~ petty cash and put a voucher in you are not supposed to run it through the cash disbursements
there and balance this thing off ~.nd 1nal{e an entry in t.hn
general ledger just like you do with any other account? I don't
think you will find a business in the state that does it.
l\fr Baker: If the Court please, I promise that if given five
minutes of uninterrupted examination of this witness I can
convince the Court either that I have something or I don't
here.
Mr. Garnett: All right. But you have already convinced
me.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Mr. "\Vhit.eside, it is a fact, isn't it, that cash receipts
that had been received across the counter and receipted for in
the manifold or duplicate receipt book as cash would actually
be paid out as cash in payment of Bowen Company account
or for minor accounts, and that it is a fact that a voucher is
supposed to be put in to cover that, isn't that right, sir?
A. Yes, sir.
page 1310 ~ Q. And it is a fact that the money that came
across the counter and was receipted for as cash
created a liability to go to the books, to the cash receipts journal as posted receipts, didn't it Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And it is a fact that the money that was paid out of petty
cash or so-called ''petty cash,'' that money never got a chance
to go into the bank as a deposit, isn't that right 1
A. It went in a check.
Q. That money never got a chance to go into the bank-
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Mr. Garnett: Judge, he explained that three times.
The Court: He substituted checks.
Mr. Baker: I am going to the next step, Judge.
The Court: All right, sir.
Mr. Baker: I will cover it, and I will be fair with the
Court.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. It is a fact that the money that came in as cash and paid
out as cash, that money never got a chance to get to the deposit slip, isn't it; that is true, isn't it Y
page 1311 ~ A. You mean as money YAs cash Y
The Court: As cash money.
A. As cash money?
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Yes, sir.
A. No.
Q. Now, I unde.rstand from you, Mr. Whiteside, that the
policy of covering that would be to draw a check upon the
Citizens Bank, Bowen account, and deposited back into the
same account, isn't that right, sir?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And that did not create any additional money in the
bankA. No, sir.
Q. It didn't, did itt
A. No.
Q. It apparently had the effect of clearing the petty cash
fund, didn't it f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. If aU of the disbursen1ents were caught and if checks
were in fact rendered to cover all of them, is that right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. But there is nothing in these books to sl1ow
page 1312 ~ whether that happened or not, is it. Is that right!
·
A. (Pause).
Q. Isn't that right, sir?
A. Yes, sir.
The Court: He said yes. Is that what you said, Mr. Whiteside?
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The Witness: Yes, sir.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. And no examination of these books would disclose
whether or not actually all the money that was paid out was
covered by a covering check or not, was it?
A. No, sir.
Q. So it would be impossible to tell whether or not the cash
on hand ever got the proper credit for what was properly paid
out by examination of these books, is it?
A. No, sir, the bookkeeper is the only one that would know
that, sir.
Q. That is a truthful statement?
Mr. Garnett: I did not hear your answer.
The Court: He saidThe Witness: That only the bookkeeper would know that.
Mr. Garnett : ''Only the bookkeeper would
page 1313 ~ know that.''
By Mr. Baker:
Q. You say only the bookkeeper-The bookkeeper never
got any of this cash except what was turned over in1\fr. Garnett: He has explained that, your IIonor, that they
substituted checks, and I don't quite understand what 1\{r.
Baker is talking about.
The Court: He said he would explain it in five Ininutes, so
I am going to find out.
Mr. Baker: Well, if the Court please, to 1ny mind it has
already been established by this witness that nun1ber one,
there was a policy of reimbursing the petty cash or so-called
''petty cash'' out of the cash receipts.
The Court: But he said they put a check back in there.
When they spent the $50.00 they put a check back in, is that
correct?
The vYitness: Yes, sir.
1\fr. Baker: ·But he never said that the check was cashed
and the proceeds put in the drawer.
page 1314 ~ Mr. Garnett: That's right, he said the check
was put in the drawer, as I understand it.
lVIr. Baker: If the Court please, I just don't know how
to handle this case. I don't know ho"r to handle this witness.
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Everytime I open my mouth I am being yelled at from my
left. Now, I ask again that if the attorney for the Commonwealth has a proper objection it should be addressed to
the Court.
The Court: All right, sir, he will address the Court from
now on. You go ahead, sir. But I am not following you
either, Mr. Baker. That is the part I am telling you. I can't
follo·w you.
Mr.. Baker: I can't follow myself with this kind of interruption.
l\£r. Garnett: I have been through it for six days, your
Honor. I understand what he means.
The Court : Go ahead, sir.
Mr. Baker: I would like to make a statement to the Court
of what I believe has been developed, and I am
page 1315 ~ sure nobody will regard his testimony1Yir. Garnett: I object to that. That is a Inatter of argument.
l\£r. Baker: Well, then may I start over with this witness
and try to accomplish it uninterruptedly¥ I don't think thisThe Court: I don't understand it, no, sir. All I can understand is that when they spent a hundred dollars in cash
they-or they spent $50.00 they reimbursed it by check and
·putting that c.heck back.
By l\£r. Baker:
Q. Well, 1\fr. Whiteside, I will try to ask you some questions that can be answered by yes or no, and when you have
given the yes or no answer then you are at liberty to give any
additional explanation you wish; but if it is a question that
can be answered by yes or no I will appreciate it if you just
answer yes or no, then if you desire to n1ake further explanation of your ans,ver I am sure the Court will grant you that
permission.
l\£r. "'\Vbiteside, the petty cash fund and the cash on band
"Tere commingled, is that right; yes or no?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. The disbursements fhat ~re made by
page 1316 ~ voucher or otherwise from the so-called petty
cash fund were made out of their common fund,
is that right; yes or not, sir?
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And at the end of the day, assuming that fifty dollars
had been· disbursed in cash across the counter, was it the
policy of t'his company the next morning to ·take $100.00
in cash and start the next day with $100.00 of cash?
A. (Pause).
Q. Out of the cmnbined petty cash or cash receipts f Is
that right~ sir; yes or no?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, I understand from you that it was also supposed
to be balanced out, this $50.00 that was paid out of cash on
hand and reimbursed to the cash receipts. It was supposed to
be balanced out or covered by a check drawn on the bank account and redeposited into the same account from which it was
drawn. Isn't that what you say?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, the proceeds of that check never came back to the
cash drawer, did they?
A. No, sir.
Q. So it is a fact that the disbursements from petty cash
were reimbursed from cash on hand and so-called covering
entry made by taking a check in the bank and putting it back
in the same account, isn't that right?
page 1317 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. But none of the proceeds came back to the
petty cash fund, so it is true then, isn't it, Mr. Whiteside, that
the cash came in across the counter to the extent that it was
paid out as petty cash, that money, that cash, never got a
chance to appear on the deposit slip, isn't that right
A. Ascash?
Q. That is right, sir?
A. As cash.
Q. And the only thing that ever appeared on the deposit slip
would be a check drawn on the same account withdrawing fro1n
the same account which was put back in, is that right Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And there is no way of determining whether checks were
written to cover all the disbursements from petty cash, is it,
from these books 7
A. No, sir.
Q. There is no way. That is a true answer, isn't it?
A. (No response).
Mr. Baker: I thank you, Mr. Whiteside.
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By the Court :

Q. The checks were not marked what they
page 1318 ~ were for 1 The $50.00 check you took back to the
bank and substituted a check that was a withdrawal for the $50.00 and deposited back, wouldn't that check
be 1narked for some reason 7
A. It was payable to the company or to petty cash.
Q. That is what I am talking about.
A. The stubs would show a breakdown of what items were
p~i<l out with that classification.
1Jv ~fr. Baker:
"Q. But there were none payable to petty cash, we.re there,
~ir. "\Vhiteside ~
A. Sir?
Q. There were none payable to petty cash. You can't find a
single one in the cash disbursements journal payable to petty
cash?
A. Paid to Bowen Company.
Q. To Bowen Company payable to cash but were not made
out payable to petty cash. That is true, isn't it?
A. I'm not sure that some of the checks would not show
that.
Q. They n1ay but as a matter of fact, as a matter of practice
it was not n1ade payable to ·petty cash 1
A. To cash without the "petty cash" part of it.
Q. And it was never brought back in cash and
page 1319 r put back in the drawer, was it?
A. No, sirQ. That'sA. -not to my knowledge.
Q. Just a n1inute. Is there any that you could tell on this
$6,000.00 check we were asking you about sometime ago that
was drawn to cash, any way you can tell by looking at the
books 'vhether that was supposed to be for petty cash?
A. I think the check will show something.
Q. Sir?
A. I thinkQ. The books said just "cash and debit expense account,"
wasn't it?
A. Debits go in the miscellaneous column. The account
wasn't designated.
Q. ""Tasn't it actually a debit to expense?
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The Court: How can you find it, that's what you want to
know.
Mr. Baker: I will :find it for you again. Let's see.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. It's $6,000.00 that was payable to cash and debit to expense. And the notation says ''Transferred to the C. M. J.
bank,'' but goes to the petty cash Y
page 1320

~

:Nir. Garnett: Where does it say debit to expense?
~fr. Baker: Hum?
~ir. Garnett: Where does it say debit to expense¥
~{r. Baker: I'm going to show you.
The Court: The last I heard was that it 'vas charged to
cash on hand, $6,000.00.
Mr. Garnett : That's right.

By Mr. Baker :
Q. Here, Mr. Whiteside, this is de bitted to expense, isn't it,
in these books, that $6,000.00 item?
(Exhibit shown to witness.)
A. It is in the expense column, yes, sir.
Q. It is debitted in the expense column, sir, isn't it 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And this is a debit to expense?
A. That's right.
Q. And yet it is payable to cash and your notes showed it
was put in the C. ~I. J. bank, but the cash on hand account is
charged with the $6,000.00, and you can't find whatever that
is. That is a true statement re.garding this, isn't it Y
A. As far as these books, rig·ht here shows
page 1321 ~ it.
Mr. Baker: All right, sir. Do you want to see this f
'The Court: No. Do you have any more questions of this
witness?
Mr. Baker: I think that is all of this witness.
The Court: All right, any more questions of Mr. Whiteside!
Mr. Garnett: No-just a moment, your Honor.
Mr. Baker: No, I have no other questions.
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The Court: l\Ir. Garnett says just a n1on1ent; he n1ay have
one, I don't know.
·
Mr. Baker: Oh, I see.
RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. l\Ir. Whiteside, you explained the manner in which you
made your cash count on the various occasions in which you
counted the cash of the Bowen Company. Can you tell the
Court whether or not that is normal accounting
page 1322 ~ procedure for counting cash on a given date Y
A. Yes, sir, I think so, sir.
Q. Mr. Baker asked you relative to some false entries that
were in the book. Let me direct wour attention to one. The
entry on Page 132, in the journal for November, 1952. The
total of the addition of those two columns that we have been
talking about so muchThe Court : Page 132 you say now 7
Mr. Garnett: Yes, sir.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Is that a false entry or not 7
A. (Pause).
Q. We are talking about the journal, 1\!Ir. Whiteside.
A. It is a false footing. It. is an overfooting· in two columns.
Q. Is overfooting a false entry?
A. Then you postQ. Is overfooting a false entry or not 7
A. Yes, sir.
The Court: Now you can finish. Post what?
The vVitness: Then you post it false is what it amounts to,
to your general ledger and it is followed on
page 1323 ~ through as a false entry all the way through.
Mr. Garnett.: I have no further questions.
The Court: All right, sir, you may stand down.
1\Ir. Baker: I just want to ask hirn about this last iten1,
Judge.
RE-CROSS EXAl\IINATION.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. The 1952 journal-
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The Court: Page 132.
·
Mr. Baker. No, sir, I'm not going to work on Page 132.
The Court: That is what he asked him about the last time.
Mr. Baker: I know that is the page. to which the witness'
attention was directed every time he had a chance, but I am
going to ask him about Page 130 and 131. Take this for just a
minute, Nir~ Whiteside. vVill you hold it for a minutet
page 1324

~

Q. There has been talk about overfooting,
}!r. Whiteside. Look on Page 131.

The Court : 131?
~ir. Baker : Yes, sir.
A. 131.

By J\{r. Baker :
Q. In the accounts receivable insurance credit column.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And tell me if in fact that isn't where the overfooting
first occurs in that monthly column in the amount of $6,916.34Nir. Garnett: I think he asked him about that before. That
is not proper re-cross-examination, Judge. I merely asked if
the other one was a false entry.
The Court: I understand. I don't know what he is after.
Bv l\ir. Baker:
··Q. I will ask you this thenThe Court: He only asked him about one page.
}Ir. Baker: vV e can tie it up.
Q. Will you tell the Court whether or not the
page 1325 ~ totals on all of these pages are an accumulation
of' the first from all the pages that precede itY
A. Yes, sir.
Q. ''Then you say it is a false or an overfooted item-

The Court: On Page 131, if that is a false entry and bringing it over to 132, is that what you me.a.n Y
~fr. Baker: No, sir. This witness has testified that this was
false or overfooting to Page 132.
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. If it is an overfooting, it is an overfooting of what fig.:.
ures, of how many pages preceding 132?
A. If you take all the pages for that month which is the
total of that total.
Q. Where does the month start'in this bookY That isn't· so
hard to look at.
A. All right.
Q. Try page 125 and see.
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. It starts at Page 125 Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, isn't it a fact you have been through
page 1326 ~ these books before, and isn't it a fact that the
first overfooting in the insurance accounts receivable credits column occurs in the first column of Page 131
and not on Page 132 Y
A. It does appear to be.
Q. That is where the overfooting occurs for that month, is
it?
A. Up to that point.
Q. Just read the page where the judge and everybody could
see it. The overfooting is in this figure right here at the bottom of that page, $6,916.34, isn't that right Y
A. Right.
Q. Now, point out to the judge there whether or not that is
in the san1e line as tQ.e rest of .the overfooting of this column or
whether it is dropped down in another space. It is dropped
down, isn't it Y
A. It is dropped down.
Q. It doesn't follow along any other line, does it?
A. No, sir.
Q. And invites your attention to it by setting it off on a
·
·
different line?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And it is in your own handwriting, isn't it Y
A. No, sir.
Q. That is the same item with regard to which
page 1327 ~ you were interrogated on March the 9th?
Mr. Garnett: We have been all through that, Judge, and he
said it was not.
The Court: You've got it on the record on that too, now.
1\fr. Baker: That's right, but I was asking him to refresh
his memory.
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T·he Court: I think you have been through it on crossexamination.
Mr. Garnett: He just told you it wasn't.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Are you positive that that is not your handwriting!
The Court: That's just what he told you.
Which figure are you pointing to 1
This $6,913.341
Yes, sir.
Are you positive that is not your handwriting?
Yes, sir.
Q. This $1,661.67, isn't that figure in the same handwriting,
Mr. Whiteside?
A. No, sir.
A.
Q.
A.
Q.
A.

page 1328

~

The Court: You've cross-examined him about

it.

.

Mr. Baker: Judge, I have never cross-examined this witness before today.
The Court: 1Vell, you had the opportunity.
Mr. Baker: No, sir, I didn't, Mr. Ferguson examined this
'vitness.
The Court: Well, I am not distinguishing between you and
Mr. Ferguson. One of you cross-examined him.
~fr. Baker: I don't think we went into this that day. I don't
helieve so.
The Court: I think you did, because I remember him saying the red pencil figure was in his handwriting. I think this
n1an testified that the red pencil figures were in his handwriting.
Mr. Baker: Judge, my recollection may be wrong, and I
am not going to say that I am right; but I don't believe in this
instance that the Court is right. I don't believe this man was
ever interrogated with regard to this journal on the first time
he testified. He hadn't testified wit.h regard to
page 1329 ~ it, Judge.
1\fr. Garnett: Yes,. I asked him about it.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. Now, actually, the so-called "overfooting" with regard
to the insurance accounts payable debit column occurs in the
form of either an error or at least an over-statement in carry-
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ing forth balances for the preceding pages 129 to 130, doesn't
itY
The Court: From 129 to 130 Y
Mr. Baker : Yes, sir.
Q. What is the subtotal at the bottom of Page 1297
A. On Page 129?
·
Q. Yes, sir, 129; right there, sir. (Indicating)
A. $3,013.90.

Q. No, I'm not talking about the credit column, I'm talking
about the creditA. We were talking about the credit column a while ago.

The Court: That is payable to insurance.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. I want the accounts payable insurance. debit.
A. $5,420.22.

page 1330 }

Q. Now, look at the top of the next page, the
figures carried over on Page 130.
A. The same figure is brought up the top.
Q. Sir? On Page 130?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Well, look at the botton1-still the same figure?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Well, look at the top of Page 131 then. What figure is
carried forward?
.A. At the top of Page 131 is $7,088.21.

The Court: '\Vhat is that now, sir. Is thatBy Mr. Baker :
Q. That is a greater amount than the amount in the subtotal
in .the preceding page in the same column, isn't it 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. So the mistake, or whatever it was, did not occur on
Page 132 in either one of these columns, did it?
A. (Pause) No, it is an accumulation for the month. It is
an accumulation for the month.
Q. And you wrote this $1,667.99 right here!
page 1331 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. And did you write that writing there? ·(Indicating?
A. Yes, sir.
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. · ~The Court : In red pencil t
'The Witness : In red pencil.

'J

By Mr. Baker:
Q. And did you get $1,667.99 there?
A. No.
Q. Or there?
A. No, sir.
Q. YousayThe Court: Now, I think he answered that before, the same
thing again.
Mr. Baker: Judge, you don't mind if I try to find out if
he is saying something different on the second time.
Mr. Garnett: That'sThe Court : That's three times.
Mr. Garnett: That's what I am trying to say about killing
time.
Mr. Baker: Well, if the Court please, I won't say any more
about it. The Court wasn't in the library on March.
The Court : All right, stand down. The next
page 1332 ~ witness.
1\fr. Garnett: Now, your Honor, I would like
an opportunity to examine the books at this time relative to
the $6,000.00 item that they have .raised so we can clear this
point up with the Court before we go any further.
(Whereupon the Court adjourned at 5:35 o'clock P. M.)
0

page 1337

~

•

•

•

•

•

Note: Court convenes a.t 10:00 o'clock a. m.,
whereupon the hearing continues, viz:

The Court: All right. Your last witness was Mr. Whiteside.
Mr. Garnett: ~Ir. 'Vhiteside.
Mr. Baker: If the Court pleases, before Mr. Whiteside
is called as a witness, it was my understanding he had been
examined, cross examined, put on redirect examination and
released from the witness chair on yesterday, at which time
the Attorney for the Commonwealth asked for adjournment
on the basis that the hour was then something after 5:00, 5:20,
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I believe, and he said that he did not have another witness
that would not take an extensive period of time. He requested
to have the time available to go to the record to look for an
item.
If this witness is again being recalled, I again confess to the
Court my knowledge that it is within the sound discretion of
the Court whether or not a witness who has been finished on
the witness stand may be recalled.
I would object to his being recalled unless there is a showing satisfactory to the Court of justification for
page 1338 ~ exercising his discretion to permit the witness to
be recalled. The general rule, within the sound
discretion of the Court, as I know, does permit a witness to be
recalled if you can show some reason for his being recalled.
I object to his being· recalled as a witness, and ask that he
not be recalled as a witness or permitted to be recalled by the
Court, unless there is some showing that would appeal to the
sound discretion of the Court as to why he should be.
The Court: All right. Go ahead and examine the witness.
Note your exception.
Mr. Baker: Will the record note the exception of the defendant by counsel to the recall of this witness, be having been
excused after his prior recall to the stand on yesterday.
:Nir. Garnett: Your Honor, I might say for the record, Mr.
Baker, I don't believe, is quite correct in his chronology. I
asked the Court. to recess in order to check the record-in
order to check the record on an item Mr. vVhiteside testified
about. Tlw Court announced the hour was late and it would
like to continue on. I pointed out to the Court that I had no
witness that I could put on at that time to fake up the sla.ck
between twenty minutes to 6:00 and·
page 1339 ~ The Court: It was twenty-five minutes past
5 :00 at the timeMr. Garnett: When the argument started, yes, sir.
Mr. Baker: The statement for the record justifies my recollection that all of this took place after the witness Whiteside had been excused from the witness chair.
~fr. Garnett: All right, sir.
Mr. Baker : That is my recollection of it.
The Court: Go ahead.

E. D. WHITESIDE,
·upon being recalled by Mr. Garnett, having previously been
duly sworn, testifies further as follows:
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DIRECT

EXA~1INATION.

By :Nir. Garnett:
Q. All right, lVIr. vVhiteside, on yesterday I think you will
recall that Mr. Baker questioned you concerning check No.
779, dated June 29, 1956, I believe in the sum of $6,000.00.
That was the entry which you pointed out in the book, and
in your handwriting had written beside the entry
page 1340 ~ ''transfer funds'' or something to tha.t effect.
Now have you since had an opportunity now to
exa1nine that entry in the book and trace it through the
book?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. All rigl1t, sir. I wonder, do you have the check there1
A. Yes, sir.
~fr.

Baker: l\iay we s0e it!

Note: The aboye referred to check is handed to eounsel
for examination.

Q. 1\fr. Whiteside, I sl1ow you check, Bowen Cotupany check
No. 779; what is the dute on that check?
A. June 29, 1956.
By The Court :
Q. June 29th?
A. Yes, sir.
By l\Ir. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. It is drawn on what bank~
A. Drawn on the First National Bank.
Q. In what amount?
A. $6,000.00.
Q. By whom is it signed?
A. Sig11ed by G. 1{. l\icMurran. Bowen Con1pany by G.
I{. 1\icMurran.
Q. That is a Bowen Company check?
page 1341 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. It is endorsed on the reverse side?
A. Yes, sir. It is endorsed for deposit only, Bowen Company.
Q. Is there any bank endorsement on tl1e reverse side of
that check?
A. Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank stamp, June 20, 1956.
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Q. Is there any perforation which would show it had been
paid by the First National Bank?
A. Yes, sir. The perforation shows it was paid by the
First National Bank on July 2, 1956.
Mr. G~rnett: All right, sir. I offer this check into evidence
as Commonwealth Exhibit No. 24.
Note: The above identified check is now marked and filed
Commonwealth Exhibit No. 24.

Q. Lying there on the witness dock is what purports to be
son1e check stubs.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What check stubs are they, Mr. Whiteside?
A. They are check stubs on the First National Bank-of
tlw First National check book dating from 1954 throughthe last date is October 1, 1956.
Q. Does that check book, the check stubs there
page 1342 ~ that you have, do they include the stub for
check No. 779 just introduced into evidence?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. W11at does the check stub read?
A. The check stub reads: Payable to cash. Transfer to
C~IJ Bank Account-$6,000.00.
Note: The above document is shown to counsel.
Mr. Garnett: It is not necessary to offer that into evidence.
].{r. Baker: That is all right. I would just as soon have it
in.
}fr. Garnett: Do you want to examine it further f
}fr. Baker: May I inquire, if the Court please, whether
the entire book is offered for evidence or 'vhether it is offered
for evidence merely ·with regard to the stub of check No.
779?

The Court: I don't know that he offered it.
1\tir. Garnett: I haven't offered it.
The Court: He hasn't offered it, as far as I mn concerned. The check was offered; the stub was not.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, when I was
page 1343 ~ handed the book of stubs with the check attached
by gem clip, I examined only the check. It has
raised an objection to the check in evidence-
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Mr. Garnett: I am not going to offer it.
1\ir. Baker : All right.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. 1\fr. vVhiteside, do you have in your possession a duplicate deposit slip to the Citizens l'vfarine Jefferson Bank dated
June 29, 1956 for Bowen Company?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. ~fay I see that, please Y
A. Yes, sir.
Note: The above referred to paperwriting is shown to
counsel.
Mr. Garnett: I offer duplicate deposit slip, Bowen Conlpany, dated June 29, 1956, as Commonwealth Exhibit No. 25.
Now, Your Honor, what I a.m going to do right now to save
time is just hand the Clerk this list of deposit slips, mark
that one, and then later I will separate it and take the others
back.
Note: The above identified deposit slip is now 1narked and
filed as Commonwealth ]"Jxhibit No. 25. ·

Q. Mr. vVhitcside, according to that deposit,
slip, how much 1noney was deposited in the Citizens Marine .Jefferson Bank on the 29th of J nne,
1956 by Bowen Company 1
A. $6,417.89.
Q. Does the deposit slip reflect that deposit was made
of cash O!' checks
A. $4.14 is indicated as being cash and the remainder
checks.
Q. Is there an item on there drawn on the First National
Bank for $6,000.00 Y
A. Yes, sir, there is an item showing Bank No. 6890, which
is First National Bank, in the amount of $6,000.00.
Q. ~fr. \\Thiteside, a.re these entries accounted for in the
books of account of Bowen Company or not?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Will you point them out to His Honor?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What books do you want 7
A. For the starting origin of the transaction I will take
the Cash Disbursements.
page 1344

~

0
/
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Q. I hand the witness Exhibit No. 13; would you like to
come down to the table, or can you handle it rig·ht here Y
A. I can probably handle it right here.
~fr. Baker: Cash Disbursements, 1954 to 1959, Commonwealth Exhibit No. 13.

page 1345

~

By The Court :
Q. 'Vhat is the column? 'Vhat is the rest
of it f You haven't said, have you 1
1\.. Not yet, sir. This is the Cash Disbursements Journal.
~fr. Garnett: Let the record show that we are on Page
23 of the Cash Disbursements for the year 1956.

By ~{r. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Let me ask you : Is there a $6,000.00 entry on that book?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What does it say?
A. There is an entry under da.te of June 29th, Payee is
cash, Check No. 779, the an1ount is $6,000.00, credited to
the First National Bank.
Q. All right, sir. Does it appear anywhere else Y
A. And it appears as a debit under the expense column
in the amount of $6,000.00.
Q. Let me ask you this before you go any further, 1\-fr.
'Vhiteside : why were they, Bowen Company, using two bank
accounts, one checking account in the First National and one
ehecking account in the Citizens 1\iarine f
A. G~en~rally, the l~irst National Bank was used for depositing receipts from rentals and disbursement
page 1346 ~ of iten1s pertaining to rentals. The Citizens
,
1\farine J e:fferson account was used for deposits
of receipts from insurance and disbursements pertaining to
insurance.
Q. vYhere did the Bowen Company keep its operating account, the business operating account, its capital, operating
capital, where did it keep that?
A. "Tell, most-the larger part of it, of course, being insurance was kept in the Citizens 1\-farine Jefferson Bank.
Q. You say then there is a debit to expense?
A. There is a debit, not indicated as to what account, but it
is in the expense column.
Q. All rig-ht, sir. ~ow, is this entry. the Check 779 that

762

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia

E. D. Whiteside.
we have just introduced into evidence Y Does it pertain to
Check No. 779 that we just introduced into evidence!
A. Yes, sir.
Q. All right, sir. Now I believe on yesterday it was
stated here that that went into the-was taken into cash on
hand, is that correct t
A. Yes, sir.
Q. All right, sir. Can you point that out Y
A. Well, \Ve would have to have the Cash Receipts Journal,
sir.
page 1347

~

Note : Counsel handing the witness Cash Receipts Journal, Commonwealth Exhibit No.9.

Q. All right, sir. Do you have the entry?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. On what page does it appear¥
A. It appears on Page 48 of the Ca.sh Receipts Journal for
the year 1956.
Q. How is it designated there¥
A. It says Bowen Company frmn First National Bank
account; a debit to cash for $6,000.00 and a credit in the
column headed Other Receipts, without any designation as to
what account.
Q. All right, sir. Now the question was raised yesterday
as to whether or not that itmn was ever removed or ever
came out of the cas'h on hand; do you recall that¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. All right, sir. Did it come out of the cash on hand
in the books~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Will you show His I-Ionor where that came out?
A. That deposit slip-I have it right here, and the check,
Check No. 779-it can1e out of cash on hand-this deposit
slip for $6,417.89, ,,.,.hich included the check for $6,000.00, it is
entered on Page 47 of the Cash Disbursements as a credit to
cash on hand and a debit to Citizens Marine
page 1348 ~ Jefferson Bank.
Q. In what amount?
A. The total amount is $6,417.89.
Q. Now I ask you, is the check 779 in the sum of $6,000.00
included in the entry of $6,417.89 that you just pointed out
to us?
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. Does that clear the books of Bowen Company of that
$6,000.00 or not?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. 1\Tas that because the check, deposit slip, cash disbursements, and the cash receipts journal properly reflect
the transfer of the funds from the First National Bank to
the Citizens Marine for operating expenses Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Does that account zero itself out, as they say in acqounting language ?
A. vVell, we mentioned a debit to the Cash Disbursements
for $6,000.00. We have mentioned a credit in the Cash Receipts for $6,000.00. Neither of which appear to have been
posted to any account. Ho,vever, one offsets the other. And
had it been posted to an account it would ha.ve been a zero
balance.
Q. All right, sir. Would there have been anything really
wrong with that entry if they hadn't run it throug·h the cash
on hand and just debited one bank and credited
page 1349 ~ another bank?
A. It would have been much sin1pler if they
had.
Q. I asked you if there would have been anything wrong
with the entry if they had done it that way?
A. No, sir. No, sir.
Q. Would it have been necessary to bother the Cash Rec.eipts Journal the Cash Disbursements Journal, and the
General Ledger, or any of the rest of them?
A. I wouldn't say that it wouldn't have been necessary
to have bothered the Cash Receipts Journal and the Cash
Disbursements Journal.
Q. A debit and credit in the Cash Disbursements would have
wiped out the entry, is that right1
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I object to the leading
question of the Common,vealth. He is making a statement
and then asks for a confirmation by the witness.
1\fr. Garnett: It is just my way of stating it.
Mr. Baker: That's the point, if the Court please. That is
the reason for these objections, which may appear to be
too frequent and too repetitious. Too often the harm is
done before the objection can ever be made.
Mr. Garnett: Now, Your I:Ionor, I am going
page 1350 } to remove this deposit slip. I have removed it
and have returned it to the ·Clerk's desk.
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The Court: A.re there any further questions of this
witness?
~fr. Garnett: Yes, sir, Your Honor, if I may, just a
momentBy Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. 1\IIr. 'V'hiteside, on yesterday you were asked concerning
an item credited to Accounts Receivable in the sum of $4,051.6~, and you were asked whether or not that was properly
handled and so forth, and whether it could create any difference in the alleged understaten1ent. liability clause; I wonder
if you would please explain to the Court why this particular
item was credited to Accounts Receivable rather than handled
as the other 1natters of CRT were handled in the books of
Bowen Company¥
A. Yes, sir. It was a proper account receivable against
the CRT Corporation.
Q. Why would that be 1
A. Because it was handled as a-on the account current,
as we call it, which is a sheet, monthly sheet for each insurance company showing the policies written for each company during the n1onth.
Q. Breaking that down in layman's language, would that
mean that a charge was made in advance on that?
page 1351 ~ A. Yes, sir.
1\lr. Baker: If the Court please, I object to the leading
nature of the question by the Attorney for the Commonwealth.
I hate to be doing this but it just continues. The Court fron1
time to time sustains t'he objection, and the rest of the ques·
tions continue exactly the same.
The Court: Let h.im explain it. Ask him to explain it in
layman's language, don't tell hhn what the answer would be.
Q. Explsin that in layman's language, if you will, please,
sir.
A. .So that the charge is made in the month the policy becomes effective.
Q. Now let me ask you this: Is the charge made before
the receipts on the policy or afterwards?
A. It's before. It's made the month the policy becomes
effective.

1\fr. Baker: If the Court please, I realize it is getting
rather sticky again ; the Attorney for the Commonwealth has
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stated the question in such a manner as to indicate the desired
answer-was it before or ·after this 1 The question should be
asked-when would. the charge be made with regard to the
receipts. It is not up to this attorney for the
page 1352 ~ defendant to instruct anyone in the proper examination of the witness, as the Court well knows.
The Court: I do not think the last question was leading,
myself.
Mr. Baker: The question was explanatory rather than
leading·. The explanatory nature· of the question, if the
Court please, clearly indicated the desired answer.
The Court: The Court does not think that last one was
leading.
lVIr. Baker: All right, sir.
By lVIr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. All right, sir. Now, having 1na.de that explanation, Mr.
"\Vhiteside, will you start, please, wifh the original entry, the
first time this notation was put in the book relative to this
$4,051.69 item a.ud trace it on through and sho·w if you can
whetlier or not it clears through the books of Bowen CompanyY
A. Yes, sir. vVe would have to have theQ. Tell1ne what you want and I will hand it to you.
A. 'Ve would have to have first the account current books.
Those hooks over there.
1\fr. Baker: If the Court please, if the witness is referring
to the Inemorandum in his lap for refreshing his memory, I
concede that such is proper if it is a proper
page 1353 ~ memorandun1 prepared at the proper time. I
·
would like some examination n1ade of the memorauuum which the witness is referring to.

Bv The Court:
-Q. Is that your memorandun1?
A. Yes, sir.
The Court: Is there anything else you want to ask him?
Find out when he made the memorandum.

1\fr. Baker:

Q. When did you make it, 7\fr. "\Vhiteside f
A. Last night, sir.

The Court: Last night.
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By Mr. Baker:
Q. Was it made on the basis of your examination of theSE!
books or the examination of somebody else?
A. My own, sir.
Q. Where¥
A. Here.
Q. In the Clerk's office¥
A. Yes, sir.
1\fr. G,arnett: Judge, I think it would be better if the witness came down to the table. This is a right bulky book.
The Court: I have no objection to that.
page 1354 }

Q. Now, with tl1ese accounts receivable cards! will give them to you as you call thenl-are-

Come on over to the table, please, sir.
Note:

The witness walks over to the table, viz:

Mr. Baker: If the Court please, before the witness is
examined with regard to ilie book that has been placed on
the table lJefore him, presumably purporting- to be one of
the books of record in Bowen Company, Incorporated, I
'vould like to object to the use of this book by this witness
for ilie reason it has not been produced in court prior to this
day, bas not been introduced in evidence as one of the Comnwnwealth 's exhibits.
On the date these exhibits were introduced in evidence on
behalf of the Common,\~ealth, this witness testified that those
books constituted all the books of record in Bowen Company,
Incorporated.
The Court: With the exception of several things he natned
that were not n1aterial.
l\1r. Baker: No, sir, if the Court please. On that day he
was asked whether this constituted all the books of record
in Bowen Company; his answer was yes. I think on the
exan1ination yesterday the witness admittedpag-e 1355 ~ The Court: Did this witness give that answer
on the original day Y I didn't think this witness
was permittedMr. Baker: I hand another objection: This is in contradiction to his own testimony.

Catherine Webb v. Comtnonwealth of Virginia

767

E. D·. lVhiteside.
The Court: It is the burden on the Commonwealth to
show what the book is and where it came fron1.
Mr. Baker: Ivly objection is, the books of record in the
Bowen Company were introduced in evidence on behalf of the
C01nmonwealth the first day of trial, and this witness testified that those books constituted all the books of record in
Bowen Company, Incorporated. The Comn1onwealth repudiates its own witness by the same witness. vVe object to that.
The Court: I do not think it is a repudiation of its own
witness in that case.
1\fr. Garnett: Except that tl1ey have asked about this entry. I don't blame counsel for the defense for not wanting it
explained. I thi11k the Court would like to have it explained.
1\fr. Baker: If the Court please, counselThe Court: Objects to that book being· introduced in evidence.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, counsel has
page 1356 ~ no objection to anything being explained properly. Counsel does object to the rules of la,v,
and the rules of evidence, and the rules of trial adopted over
a long· nu1nber of tedious years by the Commonwealth in the
protection of its citizens being by-passed by the Comnlonwealth in this case or any othe1· ease.
The Court: All right. Go ahead.
By ~fr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. 1\fr. W'hiteside, I have handed yon a book with a gra.y
binder or green binder, w·hatever it is, and ask you what is
this book~
A. It is wha.t is known as the account current, the vVhite
System in insurance business.
By The Court:
Q. Account current?
A. Account cu1·rent.
By Mr. Garnett : (Continuing)
Q. Now, I hand you a metal box. If you will open that and
advise the Court what records, if any, it contains~
A. It contains accounts receivable cards.

By The Court:
Q. Accounts receivable cards?
A. Yes, sir.
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By

~fr.

Garnett : (Continuing)
Q. Pertaining to what f
page 1357 ~ A. Pertaining to accounts receivable insuranc~.

Q. What else do you need now to explain fhat entryf
A. "\\Tell, later we may have to refer to the cash receipt
book in which this credit appeared.
Q. All right, sir. Now, if you will, start, 1\Ir. "\Vbiteside,
and explain to Ilis Honor, trace that entry through the re.
cords of Bowen C01npany?
A. First you have to find the accounts of the Citizen Rapid
Con1pany in here, sir.
Q. Just what are these cards, :Nir. vVhiteside 1 ''7Jmt do
they mean?
A. This is the account witl1 the Qitizen Rapid Transit CmupanyJ.\ilr. Baker: Just a minute, if the Court please, n1ay the
record show that the witness has removed frou1 the metnl
filing box son1e papers orThe Court: He referred to it as a curd.
1\fr. Baker: two thin cards clipped together. The ren1oval
of them accomplished by the mere device of lifting the1n out
of the filing box. They do not fasten in in any way.

Q. All right, sir, now what is it 1
A. It is the account with the Citizen Rapid Transit Company showing charges for various insurance
page 1358 ~ policies and the pa.yn1ents thereof.
.
Q. All right, sir. Now explain to His Honor
the-starting at the beginning how this particular account is
handled and how it is reflected in the hooks of Bowen Company?
A. In the first place the origin of the charge for tlw
insurance policy originates in this book.
Q. Which book?
A_. The account current White System.
Q. All right, sir. Point it out.
A. There is a page-Now g-oing to the CRT account we
notice that the first charge is an American Insurance Policy
with the number AC8546475 and was for May, 1956.
Now there is a sheet in here with each insurance company
each n1onth on which we write insurance. We have to first find
the American Insurance Company, ~fay, 1956.
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:1\ir. Baker: If the Court please, will it be agreeable if
the· court reporter be instructed that each time that this witness or subsequent witnesses go to the books to try to find
something, that the court reporter record the time when he
first starts looking for it and the time found Y Put the approxin1ate time ; that will be close enough.
The Court: And describe the size of the book, number
of cards, the whole business. We might as well
page 1359 ~ put the whole business in the record.

Q. What we have is the four thousand dollar entry. Is
that the one you are referring to¥
A. We need the other book here to get that.
Q. I hand you a black bookA. (10:43 A.M.) The contents are the same in both books,
except for different periods.
(10:47 A.M.) May, 1956, Among other insurance policies
written is CRT, Hampton, Virginia, Policy No. AC8546475,
with the expiration April12, 1957. T·he charge is in the amount
of $770.32.
Q. Are those the figures reflected on those yellow cards Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. All right.
A. Now tha.t is in the gross premiun1. Now that is in the
column under 25%.
1\.fr. Baker: If the Court please, at this time I want to impose another objection. This witness was asked to take this
hook-he has testified that he is thoroughy familiar with the
hooks-and trace this entry all the way through. I do not
think that this witness is tracing it all the way through if he
is asked each time by the Attorney for the Commonwealth if
it is reflected here, if it is reflected there. This
page 1360 ~ witness is capable of tracing it through the books
without the assistance of the Attorney for the
Commonwealth.
1\{r. Garnett: The witness was reading it out of here and
pointing it out on the yellow card.
The Court: Let the record show that the same figures
are also reflected on the yellow card. The Court sees the
figures, sees the cards, and sees the books.

A. (Continuing) I started to explain that this is under
the 25% column-25% commission.
Q. Do these colun1ns represent different commissions?
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A. Yes, sir, they do. In other words, you might have a
15% commission. You would put it in this column, and so
forth.
So what happened 1 You come down here, take the commission off, and you get a net due the company here. That
. is credited to accounts payable. You set up your liability for
it. Your charge is made with the gross pre1uium to the
assured.
By The Court:
Q. Ho'v about the liability1 How much is that~
A. The liability for this page, sir, including this policy,
the liability-the liability is $784.38. C01nn1ispage 1361 ~ sions-$201.46, the commissions being 25% of the
premium. Total premiun1s being one thousandincluding CRT-seven hundred seventy-three dollars and
thirty-two cents.
(Continuing) Now the next item is with another Company
-Virginia Fire and Marine.
(10:49) There is the sheet with the Virginia Fire-Marine
Insurance Company, ~Iay, 1956. Included is the charge CRT
Company, Hampton, Virginia, Policy No. 14-42-11. Expiration date April 12, 1957. Gross premium $770.32 charged to
the CR.T account. Again this is 25%. It is aU 25% commissions.
The. Court: Under the 25% column.
A. So ·we wind up here with the gross premiun1 $830.77 less .
credits by the insurance company-these are refunds or adjustments on fhe policies-so we have a. net premium of
$814.69. A net conunission of $203.67. The balance due the
company $611.02. Balance due the Virginia Fire and l\farine
Insurance Company for that month.
Now the next charge is Globe Insurance Company from the
Globe Insurance. (10 :50 A.M.) Excuse me. I believe that is
in the other book. (Referring to green back book) (1.0 :53
A.M.) Now, CRT under Globe Insurance Company, 1\fa.y,
1956, there they are charged Policy No. 247682-

By Mr. Baker:
Q. Where did you get the May from~ Now I see.
A. May is up at the top, sir.
page 1362 r (Continuing) Expiration da.te, April 1, 1957.
And the charge in the amount of $1146.08. That
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is in the 20% commission column. In another column under
30% commission column there is a charge of $1,089.07. On
the next line-all this is the same policy number-under 30%
commission column they are charged $275.90. Again we have
the column here with several different amounts of commission,
rates of connnission. It all works down to the total commission of$1225.18, with balance due insurance company $3762.31.
Now they are nil the charges at this particular point, and
they represent the charges that were paid with the item
brought up yesterday of $4,051.69. I believe that was entered on June 13th, date of Cash Disbursements on Page 52.
By Nir. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. All right, sir. What do you need now?
A. The Cash Receipts to show that payment.
ceipts, 1956.

Cash Re-

Note: The witness refers to Commonwealth Exhibit No.
9, Cash Receipts Book, beginning at 10:55)
A. On Page 52, Cash Recepits Journal, 1956, under date of
July 13, 1956, there is recorded a receipt from the CRT·
Corporation in the amount of $4,051.69. It is credited to
Accounts Receivable Insurance in amount of $4,051.69. That
is the proper credit. And wa.s was posted to the
page 1363 ~ account of CRT Corporation in the amount of $4,051.69, which paid the charges that had been
previously made in 1iay against the CRT Corporation. (Referring to yellow card) This was a proper credit and was
properly handled.
Note: At this point the witness resu1nes the witness chair.
1\fr. Garnett: 1\Ia.y I ask the Court if the Court has any
question of the witness concerning that?
The Court: No, sir.
Mr. Garnett: I would like to offer into evidence, if Your
Honor please, at this time Commonwealth Exhibit No. 26,
the yellow sheet that the witness was just referring· to headed
Citizen Rspid Transit Company, which is the Accounts Receivable Card-Am I correct in that designation?
Mr. 'Whiteside: Yes, sir.
The Court: The Accounts Receivable Card will be so
received.
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Note: At this point the above identified Accounts Receivable Card is now marked and filed as Commonwealth Exhibit No. 26.

Q Mr. Whiteside, let me ask you this question: Does this
$4,051.69 item. in anywise affect the alleged understatement
to GlobeY
·
page 1364 ~ A. No, sir.
1\fr. Garnett:
gentlemen.

All right, sir.

You may answer these

CROSS EXA1\1INATION.
By ~Ir. Baker :
Q. Mr. 'Vhiteside, the tilne we have taken this morning
for you to refer to these new books that have been brought
into the courtroom, and that file of loosely filed cards-when
I say loosely I mean not fastened into the box-that has done
nothing more than establish why CRT owed Bowen Company
$4,051.69; all you have done is direct your own attention
and the a.tt~nt.ion of the Court and counsel through this card
and through that account current book to establish why they
owed that much money as of July 13th when they paid it; tha.t
is all you have done, I think, is that not right, sir 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. That is all you have done. When you got through doing
that you came right up to the smne entry we were concerned
about yesterday in the Cash Receipts J ourna.I, which is still
credited to Accounts Receivable Insurance, just like it was
yesterday, is that not right, sir~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You stopped at the same place you stopped
page 1365 ~ yesterday, did you not?
A.. I said it was the proper entry, and I produced the records to prove it, sir.
Q The records you have produced have proven nothing
except thut CRT actually owed this much money and that
they paid it, that is all you have done today, is that not right,
sir?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You have gone no further than that today as to show
why it was owed 1
A. Yes, sir.

Catherine Webb v. Comn1onwealth of Virginia

773

E. D. lVkiteside.
Q. You came right up to the item you couldn't explain
yesterday, and that is where you stopped today, is that not
right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Now, ~ir. 'Vhiteside, you have produced in court today
a cancelled check which has been introduced into evidence
as Cmninouwealth Exhibit No. 24, namely, a check payable
to the order of Cash, drawn upon the Bowen Company First
National Bank account in the sum of $6,000.00, and signed
by Mr. McMurran; is this check-you have testified that check
is endorsed on the back for deposit only.
.l\.. Yes, sir.
Q. That endorsement is by rubber stamp¥
A. Yes, sir.
page 1366 ~
Q. 'Vill you tell the Court. how that endorsement differs, it at all, from the endorsement on
the $148.45 Dunton Fuel Oil check that you now know was
cashed hy the bank and not deposited·1
A I don't rec::tll any difference.·
Q. There is no difference, is there?
A. No, sir.
Q. The check the Citizens l\Iarine Jefferson Bank cashed
instead of depositing was endorsed in exactly the same nlanner as this one, was it not 1
A. Yes. Elir.
Q. On 'the back of this check, or any place else fron1 tl1e
check itself, there is no n1ore reason to believe this was
actually deposited than the $148.00 check, is it f
A. Yes, sir. It sl1ows on the deposit slip.
Q. I said frmn the check its(llf there is no nwre reason to
believe that this was deposited tl1an the other one?
:Mr. Garnett:

Show him the other check.

A. I don't recall the other c'heck.
~Ir. Garnett: I will be glad to show it to you.
1\Ir. Baker: If the Court please, everyone is fmniliar, and
tlw Court recognizes the difficulty and experience there has
been throughout tl1e trial of this case in trying to develop
points without interruption.
page 1367 ~
l\1r Garnett: I apologize, Your Honor. I
merely sug-gested that he compare the checks,
1nerely show the ot.her cl1eck to the witness.
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Mr. Baker: I sincerely ask the Court for protection from
hereon in this trial, and I ask that I be reprimanded when I
an1 out of order.
The Court: Address your objections to the Court. All
right. Let's go ahead.

By Mr. Baker: (Continuing)
Q. Do you wish to look at the other check to deter1nine any
difference in the indorsement, 1\'fr. ''Thiteside Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You do f All right 1\fr. \Vhiteside, I hand you Commonwealth Exhibit No. 17 and ask you if you can identify that as
a check drawn on the Bank of I-Iampton Roads by Dunton
Fuel Oil Cmnpa.ny payable to the order of Bowen in the
amount of $145.83~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Exa1nine the endorsetnent. on the back of that check,
~Ir. Whiteside¥
A. For deposit only, sir.
Q. How is the deposit only placed on the back, by rubber
stamp?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. "\Vill you examine Conunouwealth Exhibit
pa.ge 1368 ~ No. 24, will you exmniue the endorsCinent ou the
back of that check, 1\ifr. vVhiteside ?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Whut endorsenwnt is on the back of it?
A. For deposit only, Bowen Company.
Q. Is that by rubber sta1np?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Does it differ in any respect fr01n the endoJ'setnent on
the Dunton Fuel Oil check, whieh is Cmnmouwenlth Exl1ihit
No. 17f
A. No, sir.
Q. Thank yon, sir.
0

The Court: 1\fay I see it·f
Note: Cmnmonwealtl1 Exhibit Nos. 17 and 24 are handed
to fhe Court.

Q. You have ascertained that the Dunton Fuel Oil check,
No. 17, was in fact cashed by the hank and not depo~ited,
have you not f
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. You have made reference, Mr. Whiteside, to a deposit
of $6,417.89 I don't have in my notes-did you actually point
to the Bowen Company record books and show where that
deposit was recorded in their books Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Could you do it again for us, please, sir?
page 1369 ~ A. Yes, sir. I will have to see the Cash Receipts Journal.
Q. I will bring it to you. The Cash Receipts Journal f
A. Yes, sir.
Q 1954-1959, that would be the period, would it not?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I hand you Commonwealth Exhibit No 9, marked Cash
Receipts-1954-1959. Do you find it~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Whrtt is the date of that deposit in the book, Mr. Whiteside~

A. The date of tha.t deposit?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. In the books it is actually on the date of the 28th of
Julv.
Q. 28th of what f
A. Of June
Q. $6,417.89, the deposit to which you refer, is in the books
as having been made on June 28th~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is that right, sir?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Are there notations in your handwriting
page 1370 ~ adjacent to that to indicate you have previously
examined this particular entry in these books?
A. No, sir.
Q. There are not, sir!
A. No, sir.
Q. Are tlwre notations adjacent to the entry in the Casl1
Disbursements Journal-'Vhere is the transfer of the six
thousand dollars first recorded? I may be a little mixed up.
A. It is first recorded in the Cash Disbursements, sir, wl1en
the check was written.
Q. Let me get you that, Mr. Whiteside. This is Commonwealth Exhibit No 13, Cash Disbursements for 1954--1959.
A It is first recorded on Pa~:e 23 in the Cash Disbursenlents Journal for the year 1956.
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Q. Are there notations on that edge, handwriting, to indicate a prior exan1ination of this entry by you 1
A. I have notations that the transfer is to the Citizens
Marine Jefferson Bank.
Q. That is in your handwriting t
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you know when you made that notation, 1\{r. 'Vbitcside?
.A. In 1957 when I· examined the 1956.
page 1371 ~ Q. In 1957 when you examined the 1956; did
you reconcile this figure with the Cash Disburscnlents Journal?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did. you reconcile it with tlw deposits to the bank~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did it fhen con1e to your attention that if this is the
covering deposit it was made the day before the check was
ever written f
A. It was entered, according to the book, according to the
deposit and according· to the bank it was not the correct
date on the book, sir.
Q. I say, if this is the covering deposit, according to tlwse
books it was made on the day before the check was even
written, is that not right¥
A. According to the date on here.
Q. Did you find the date to be wrong in 19577
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You did f 'Vl1at did yDu do about it~ 'VJ1at did you do
about it in 1957 when you found tl1is date to be wrong?
A. I didn't do anything about the du.te. I determined the
da.tes were just wrong. I found the deposit was made on the
29th, according to tl1e bank record, the deposit slip.
Q. For your purpose, or for the purpose of Bowen Conlpany, as you had t1w responsibility for setting
page 1372 ~ up and org·anizing- these books, did the differ- .
ences in the dates rnake any difference as to
the validity of the book or not f

A.
Q.
A.
Q.

No, sir.

They did not?
No, sir.
Is tliat true, generally, with reg·ard to dates in tl1e
hooks, including those tl1at you put. on, fhat a.re different
from the date you showed 1

Catherine Webb v. Commonwealth of Virginia

777

E. D. Whiteside.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. The dates have no significance to the state of the book,
is that what you say, Mr. Whiteside f
A. No, sir.
Q. The fact that entries in the books may be recorded under
date that bears no relationship to e.ither date of the transaction or date of entry, that does not affect the validity of the
books in your judgment!
:1\Ir. Garnett: I think we have gone over this yesterday.
A. Not particularly. Not necessarily.
Q. 1\Ir. Whiteside, in which of these books is this six thousand dollar withdrawal from the First National Bank entered
as a debit under the expense column?
A. The Cash Disbursements, sir.
Q. Is entered in the Cash Disbursements as an expense
item!
page 1373 ~ A. It's in the expense column with no designation.
By the Court:
Q. In the expense column with no designation?
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Baker: (Continuing)
Q. But it is in the column in which expenses are recorded,
is that not right Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was this an expense Y
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you examine this in 1957?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you n1ake any objection to the fact that it was in the
expense column when it was not an expense 7
A. Yes, sir.
Q..What did you do? Did you 1nake an adjusting entry to
correct it?
A. No, sir. It did not go into the expense account. It was not
posted to the expense account, sir.
Q. You said it was posted in the expense column.
A. I said it was entered in the Cash Receipts JournalQ. I understood you to say it was posted to expenses.
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A. -under the expense column.
Q. Isn't there .an inter-relationship between
books that establishes the various control of the
books themselves Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Don't the :figures in this book jive and have something to
do with the figures in the other books balancing?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You say it was never actually put in the expense account; it was never ~ntered ~any place else as an expense, was
itY
A. That's right.
Q. Wouldn't that throw out of balance the other expenses
recorded, sir Y
A. No, sir. A credit was entered in the Cash Receipts Journal in the amount of six thousand dollars to offset it.
Q. Not in expenses.
A. It 'vas put under miscellaneous.
Q. Posted in the Cash Receipts, not e.xpenses; posted in the
Cash Receipts as ·a receiptA. It was put under miscellaneous-not designated.
Q. -receipt of cash Y
A. Miscellaneous cash-not designated.
Q. Actually, by the books, it was added onto the cash on
hand for which somebody or some collection peapage 1375 ~ ple were accountable, is tha.t not right~
A. Yes, sir.
Q. When, in fact, it never did come back to the Bowen Company office in cash, is that not right?
A. That's right.
Q. It never did go into the cash on hand in the Bowen Company office, did it?
A. No.
Q. The books created an accountability for six thousand
dollars, did it not T
A. Yes, sir.
Q. In your statement, ~Ir. Whiteside. the $6,000.00 check
was included in the deposit of June 29th is based upon your
assumption that because it is a First National Check endorsed
for deposit only in the same amount it is included; that is the
only reason you have for assuming that the check shown as
679 on that deposit slip, is it not?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. That is an assumption on your part, is it not?
page 1374

~
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A. Based on those facts, sir.
Q. It is an assumption based first upon the assumption that
the check actually was deposited and not cashed like the
$145.00 check, isn't that right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You do not know, certainly, that it is not
page 1376 ~ another $6,000.00 check, do you, that was shown
on that particular deposit slip? You don't know
that, do you?
A. There is no record of any other $6,000.00 check, sir.
Q. Except you assume it; you don't know it to be true, do
you, Mr. Whiteside?
A. I didn't m·ake a deposit. I didn't see it; no, sir.
Q. Now that you know tl1is bank did on occasions cash
checks that were for deposit only; it is a fair statement, or at
least a possibility that another check was shown on the deposit
slip, is it not? Isn't that right, sir Y
A. It could be.
Q. It could be; that is your answe1·, is it not Y
By the Court :
Q. Are you telling the Court it could be, is that your answer?
A. (Nodding head) Yes, sir. It could ·be some other item.
By ~Ir. Baker: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. Whiteside, this tin box that you referred to as containing accounts receivable cards-insurance, was that the
designation you gave to the contents of this tin box?
A. Yes, sir.
page 1377 ~ Q. This is a box of what height, would you
say?
A. What height Y
Q. Yes, sir. How tall is the box?
A. Oh, I say approximately five inches.
Q. Does the top open up and hinge to the back?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How long is the box from front to back Y
A. Of course it's a guess, I imagine it's-! say approximately fourteen inches.
Q. And how wide YJust for the record.
A. Approximately twelve inches. Eleven or twelve.
Q. Does that contain numerous-many cards of which Commonwealth Exhibit No. 26 was one card 1 Does that contain
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many, many cards of which Commonwealth Exhibit No. 26
was oneY
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Could you estimate the number of cards there are in
there, if you have any basis upon prior working with these
cards?
A. Of course it would be purely a guess. There must be four
or five hundred in there.
Q. Four or five hundred Y
A. (Nodding head)
Q. Do these represent all of the accounts receivable cardsinsurance for the Bowen Cmnpany over the
page 1378 ~ period that this system has been in use Y
A. No, sir.
Q. It does not f
A. No, sir.
Q. There are other accounts receivable cards-insurance
somewhere else 1
A. I'm sure there are, sir.
Q. Well now, did Bowen Company maintain an accounts receiv·able ledger by customer other than these cards Y
A. No, sir.
Q. They did not? If Mr. Bowen or Mr. McMurran, his office
manager, on any given occasion wanted to find out who owes
me-who owes the firm how much money on account of insurance policies, is this where they would goY
A. No, sir. They are only :filed here ·after they are paid up,
sir. They are kept in a ring binder while they were active.
Q. You mean until they are paid there is no where Mr.
Bowen could go-alphabetically go to find out whether I paid
or not?
A. He could go to the ring binder.
Q. What is it?
A. It is arranged alphabetically.
Q. The ring binder is .arranged alphabetically?
A. Yes, sir.
page 1379 ~ Q. Does this contain only the accounts receivable cards that are no longer current?
A. No longer have balances on them, sir.
Q. Sir?
A. No longer have balances on them.
Q. On none of them Y
A. Right, sir.
Q. All of these cards are zeroed out Y
A. Yes, sir.
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Q. No balance is shown on ·any of them Y
A. No, sir.
q. What are the loose ones in the top Y
A. It contains some of the new cards. The new ledger cards.
Q. ~Ir. vVhiteside, I hand you a card here picked at random,
Hastings Radius' umue appearing after current customer, and
ask you whether that shows a balance or not Y
A. (Pause.)
Q. Doe:3 it sir'
~Ir. Garnett: Why don't you show it to me, too?
:\[ r. Baker : I will.
l\Ir. Garnett: It is customary to _show it to me before you
show it to the witness.
1vir Baker: May I have it to show to the Compage 1380 r monwealth's Attorney first, Mr. Whiteside?

Note:

The above referred to card is at this time shown to

1\[r. Garnett, whereupon the examination of 1VIr. Whiteside

continues, viz :

Q. Does it show a bal;ance on it, Mr. Whiteside Y
A. It shows a balance; says it has been transferred.
Q. It does show a balance, though~
_
A. Yes, sir. It has been transferred to the new card. It has
been transferred to the new syste.m, new card.
Q. Now, wasn't it inherent to the system you organized for
this con1pany that a transfer to another card, or transfer to
another book, or transfer of any obligation would receive a
balancing credit as a transfer to zero the balance in this one;
wnsn 't .th}.l.t inherent in your systern 1
A. (Pause)
Q. It was, was it not, Mr. vVhiteside?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Tlmt was not done here, was it?
A. It didn't balance it off, if that is what you mean, sir.
Q. There is a pencil notation in sonwbody's handwriting:
transferred to card.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. The truth of the matter is, this card still shows a balance
and has not been zeroed out by a tr-ansfer credit,
page 1381 r isn't that right, sir?
'
A. That's rig·ht, sir.
Q. Your statement that none of these had a balance on them
is not completely correct, is it?
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A. Not completely.
Q. The second one I picked up had a balance on it.
Mr. Garnett: Let the record show that it had not been filed.
It was laying on the top in the box.
The Court: It was taken off the top, is that right?
Mr. Garnett: Yes, sir.

Q. If you can, tell us wl1a t year we are concerned with here 1
Was that the year 1958A. 1958, sir.
Q. There are no entries on this subsequent to what time in
1958?
A. June 1st, sir.
Q. Has the other system been in operation since J nne 1,
1958?
A. Since July 1st, sir.
By the Court:
Q. Of 1958, you mean, sir Y
A. Yes, sir.
By ~ir. Baker: (Continuing)
Q. Is this a current card of accounts receivable?
A. No. The current card would be to the other system
with this balance transferred to it, sir.
Q. Do you know how many others, if we took the time, might
also show balances, Mr. Whiteside?
page 1382

~

The Court: You mean in the inside or those on top? ·
Q. Inside. Do you know how many others, if we looked at
them, might sho'v balances?
A. They might show like this: ~ransferred to the. new card.
Q. It is supposed to have a transfer credit zeroing it out,
is that not right, sir!
A. (Pause)
Q. Didn't the card establish awhile ago that they do show
a balance with no transfer credit to balance it out?

Mr. Garnett : What is the m·ateriality Y I don't understand
the materiality of these questions, Judge.
The Court: I don't either. He said while ago that it did
not show that it was balanced out.
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~Ir. Baker: If Your Honor please, I will be very happy to
explain the materiality.
This man brought into this court, he has idenpage 1383 r tifiedThe Court : The Court is allowing you to go
ahead. It is not necessary for any further explanation.
Mr. Baker: I would like for the Court to understand the
reason for the insuranceThe Court: I understand that the card you found on top
was not balanced out. Yes, sir, I understood that.
Mr. Garnett: It was marked transferred.
The Court: I saw that on there, too.
Mr. Baker: The Court may have observed these things
but he said he did not understand the purpose of this questioning.
It is my understandingThe Court: I understood that you said to him that one did
not balance out, sir; the one that was transferred and was
lying on top. You showed by that, one did not balance out.
1\tir. Baker: I showed by that, if the Court please, further,
this witness unhesitatingly testified there was a zero balance
ou all these cards in heTe, yet the second one I picked upThe Court: You :are assuming that he meant them all. You
ought to ask him over whether he meant all the
page 1384 r cards in there or just those on top.

A. I meant all of them, sir, when they are paid or transferred to the new system, sir, the new ca1·d.
~Ir. Baker: If the Court please, I do not mean to suggest
anything witl1 regard to the veracity of this witness, but I do
suggest it should indicate something with regard to the care
with which he states I'm positive before he testifies in this
case.
The Court : All right. Go ahead.

By Mr. Baker: (Continuing}
Q. Mr. Whiteside, you indicated that the. rent receipts by
Bowen Company were deposited or supposed to be deposited
in the First National Bank.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did those deposits by the books, if you know-and the
questions I am asking you, Mr. Whiteside, are with regard to
the books, I am not asking for your speculation on any an-
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swers, but by the books-do you know whether those deposits
included the Bowen Company money that they were entitled to
by commissions and the landlords money as well?
A. The landlords and the commissions?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. In other wordsQ. You understand, do you not, that Bowen
page 1385 ~ Company handled rental properties owned by
other people for commissions Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And that if the tenants paid the monthly rent when it
was due that month, each tenant then had to send in some
money that belonged to the landlord less Mr. Bowen's commission, isn't that right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I am asking you whether or not there was any segregation of ~Ir. Bowen's money and the landlords money in the
First National Bank or elsewhere?
A. (Pause)
Q. Was there?
A. You ~ttY 1\Ir. Bowen's n1oney or theQ. Bowen Company, Incorporated. Bowen Company, Incorporated's money, was there any segregation in the funds Y
A. Be.tween the landlords and the company funds?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. No, sir.
Q. With reg·ard to insurance premium receipts, you indicated that they were deposited or supposed to be deposited in
the Citizens ~Iarine J e:ffe1·son Bank.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Part of those receipts w·as Bowen Cmnpany, Incorporated money that they were entitled to by compage 1386 ~ missions, is that right?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. And the rest of it was the money of the companies that
wrote the policies to be remitted by Bowen Company, Incorporated?
A. Yes, sir.
·
Q. Was there any segreg·ation at any time ·between Bowe.n.
Company, Incorporated's money and the insurance company
money in the Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank?
A. In the bank account, no, sir.
Q. You have indicated that there were other funds, capital
profit, I guess, in so1ue of the bank accounts, one of the two
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bank accounts or both, which was neither insurance premium
receipts nor landlord receipts but capital investment, and I
guess retained earnings, is that right, sir Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Would that be called the capital account, or what do you
cal that in accounting work Y
A. Well, it depends on theQ. It would be capital plus earnings or less losses, I guess,
would it not?
A. It depends on whether the investment account is investments of stocks, and so forth.
·Q. Was there any segregation of those funds
pag·e 1387 ~ between the two banks YWas it all in one bank,
or all in the other hankY
A. Those funds ordinarily are kept entirely separate, in the
broker's or another bank account.
Q. There was no separate-vVas there another bank account besides these two we have talked a bout 1
A. There has been one since 1959, sir.
Q. vVe are talking about the period from 1956 through
February of 1959 now, was there some other bank accounts
that we don't know about~
A. I don't think there was any. If there was I don't know
about it.
·
Q. Do you know whether there 'vere any other bank accounts or not¥
A. At the end of 1958 there were only two bank accounts
operating.
Q. How many were operating at the end of 1957 Y
A. At the end of 1957 Y
Q. Yes, sir.
A. Two.
Q. How about at the end of 19567
A. Two is all I recall.
Q. How 1nany a.ccounts had been opened and closed during
these respective years, if you know?
A. One account with the Bank of Warwick
page 1388 ~ was opened and closed during 1958.
Q. Any others Y
A. Not that I know of, sir.
Q. You say it has ·been closed Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. By what process has it been closed, merely by drawing
out all the money, or has it been closedA. They drew out all the money.
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Q.
A.
Q.
A.
Q.
A.
Q.

Was it reopened the next year and some money put in Y
I think it was reopened in 1959, sir.
What about19587
In 19587
Yes,.sir.
It was opened in 1958 and was closed in 1958, sir.
When was it first opened, to your knowledge, in 1956¥
A. No, sir. 1958.
Q. It was first opened in 19587
A. Yes, sir.

The Court: You are talking about the special account at
the Bank of Warwick, stillY
Mr. Whiteside: Yes, sir.
Mr. Baker : Yes, sir.
~

Q·. Are you just guessing about this, 1\fr.
'Vhiteside Y
A. No, sir, I'm not guessing about it.
Q. Isn't this a statement of that account in December of
1957 that you are talking about Y
A. No, sir. This is not the account of Bowen Company. This
is the account of Mr. William C. Bowen.
Q. You say this is not the Bowen Company account Y
A. Yes, sir. I am talking about Bowen Company.
Q. Bowen Company funds went into this account, did it not 7
A. (Pause)
Q. I am giving you Commonwealth Exhibits Nos. 19, 20 and
21, Bowen Company funds went in that account, did it not Y
A. I think you will find a Bowen Company check, sir, deposited in this account.
Q. You tell us it was still another bank account?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. V\There did the funds come from to go into that bank account?
A. They came from proceeds of sales of stocks.
Q. Any other source Y
A. No, sir.
Q. Are you positive?
A. Yes, sir.
page 1390 ~ Q. Have you got the records of that account
here¥
A. I only have the notation of it, sir.
Q. Have you audited that account7
page 1389
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A. Sir?
Q. I'm sorry, I don't want to use the term audited; have
you looked into that account, Mr. WhitesideY
A. Yes, sir.
Q. When?
A. At the end of 1958, sir.
Q. After the end of 1958?
A. Yes, sir.
'Q. Not since Y
A. No, sir.
. Q. Who wrote the checks that were deposited to that account, do you know Y
A. No, sir. I don't recall, sir.
Q. On what funds were the checks written, do you know?
A. The checks were written on the Citizens Marine J effersonBank.
Q. 'Vere all of the deposits to the account we hear a.bout for
the first time in checks Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Are you positive of that?
A. Yes, sir.
page 1391 ~ Q. How do you know Y
A. There were only three deposits ; they were
checks drawn on the Citizens Marine J e.fferson Bank, sir.
Q. Withdrawn from the Bowen Company, Incorporated
fundsY
A. Yes, sir.
Q. What was the total amount of those withdrawals, if you
know, Mr. Whiteside?
A. $12,646.92.
Q. Twelve thousand how much 7
A. $12,646.92.
Q. That 'vas one check Y
A. That was two checks deposited. One in the amount of
$4701.95, and one in the amount of $7944.97, totaling $12,646.92.
Q. Are you sure that they were checks drawn on Bowen
Company funds?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Are you sure those deposits were not made up of checks
payable to the order of Bowen Company and Mr. Bowen came
in and told Mrs. Webb on the 31st of December, let's get the
money in the bank before the end of the year Y
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A. They were checks drawn on the account of Bowen Company in the Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank.
Q. What is the date¥ vVhat is the date, 1\ir. Whiteside¥
A. The date?
page 1392 r Q·. yes, sir.
A. The first-there were funds to start with.
Q. I didn't ask you whether the.re were any funds. You may
make any explanation you wish, but I asked you the dates of
the checks, the dates of the deposits.
A I would have to refer to the cash disbursements to see
the dates, sir.
By the Court:
Q. Can you refer to the cash disbursen1cnts and get the
dates?
A. Yes, sir.
Note: The witness refers to the Cash Disbursements Journal. (11 :35)
~Ir. Garnett : Would you care to exan1ine the checks and
the bank statements and deposit slips, Mr. Baker?
~Ir. Baker: If the Court please, I would prefer that the
Attorney for the Commonwealth remain quiet unless he has an
objection to make, or a remark to address to the Court.
J\IIr. Garnett: If the Court please, I do not objectThe Court : Don't bother, Mr. Garnett. I am interested in
knowing what the circumstances were.
page 1393 r 1\rlr. Baker: I am interested in finding out
whether this witness can find what he is looking
for without the assistance of the Attorney for the Commonwealth, without any remark to me, to the Court, or to the
witness.
The Court : Let him examine the witness.
Mr. Baker: He had help enough in this case already, if
the Court please.

A. Here is August 5tlJ, tl1e first deposit.
Q. Sir?

A. Here is a check drawn on the Citizens Marine Jefferson
Bank under date of Aug-ust 5th, payable to the Bank of Warwick, C873, Bowen $4701.95.
Q. August 5th, what yearY
A. 1958.
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By the Court :
Q. I did not get the amount of the check.
A. Drawn on the Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank in the
amount of $4701.95.
By Mr. Baker: (Continuing)
Q. How much was the footing?
A. $4701.95.

.

Q. Let's don't turn it so fast, l\!Ir. Whiteside. Look at the
entry while we are there; can you point it out to me again,
sir?
page 1394 ~ A. (Doing so)
Q. This is entered under the credit columnA. Citizens ~Iarine Jefferson Bank. ·
Q. Does that indicate a withdrawal or a deposit?
A. It indicates a withdrawal. This is the cash disbursements, sir.
Q. What are these green and red 1narks by that entry about,
1\llr. Whiteside' What do they indicate Y
A. It indicates that these. accounts have been checked, sir.
Q. Byyouf
A. The red check mark is mine. I don't know whose the
green is.
Q. Now this then, Mr. Whiteside, is entered over here as a
debit to expenses, is it not?
A. It is a debit to investments.
Q. What column is it in, Mr. Whiteside?
A. It is in the expe.nse column.
Q. vVas it an expense Y
A. No, sir.
Q. What was it debited to, expenses?
A. Look in the General Ledger; see if it is not debited to
investments.
Q. Doesn't the General Ledger take the total of these columns, sir 1 The General Ledger doesn't take it
page 1395 ~ item by item, does itf
A. No, sir. The General Ledger takes these
item ·by item as indicated by the che.ck maarks on these items.
Q. Everything in here is in the General Ledger Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Every entry in here goes in the General Ledger as a
separate entry?
A. In this column here, sir.
Q. Sir?
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A. In this .c.olun1n here. Yes, sir.
Q. In the e..""<pense column, or what column?

A. In the expense column.
Q. Is it in the General Ledger as an expense, also Y
A. This says investment.
Q. Sir?
A. This says investment.
·
Q. I understand that, sir, it says investment; this is the expense coumn, is it an expense in connection with investments 7
A. No, sir.
Q. I still ask you: Why is it shown in these books as an expense. item and listed under expenses under the expense column?
A. Under the expense column Y
page 1396 ~ Q. Why, Mr. Whiteside?
A. I don't know why, sir.
Q. You have checked it before; did you raise the question
then why it was listed as an expense?
A. In the Cash Disbursernents it is under the expense column but in the General Ledger it is a debit to investn1ent.
Q. Is that a proper charge when it is under the expense
column? Is that proper bookkeeping methods by your standards, sir?
A. No, sir. No, sir.
Q. Why didn't you complain about it? Did you make an adjusting entry to correct the entry on that Y
A. No, sir.
Q. Why?
.
A. It was posted as a debit to investment. That is what it
indicates here. No adjustment was necessary.
Q. Did you or did you not ust tell me it was not proper for it
to be listed under the expense column ; didn't you tell me
thatA. It is not proper for it to be listed there. No, sir
Q. Did you find it listed there when you examined the books
for the close of that year?
A. Yes, sir.
pag·e 1397 ~ Q. Did you make any adjusting entry to get it
entered where it properly should beY
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you c01nplain to anybody about the fact it was
listed that way?
A. I think I did.
Q. Who did you con1plain toY
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A. T·he bookkeeper.

Q. Who was the. bookkeeper Y
A. Mrs. Webb.

Q. When did you do these books!
A. The year 1958 you are talking a.bou t Y

Q. Yes, sir.
A. (Pause)
Q. When did you complain about it, Mr. Whiteside YPrior
to February 6, 1959?
A. (No response)
Q. The fact is, she was no longer working for Bowen Company for you to con1plain to her about when you checked this,
isn't that right, sir YSir Y
A. That's right, sir.
Q. Your statement that you complained to Mrs. Webb was
just an assumption on your part manufactured out of whole
cloth, isn't that right, sir f Isn't that right, sir Y
A. Yes, sir.
page 1398 ~ Q. You were wrong. How many times have
you been wrong in what you have told us apparently being facts, Mr. Whiteside, do you know?
A.. No, sir.
. Q. You do not know how many times you were wrong Y
A. No, sir.
Q. Where were the books of Bowen Company between February 6, 1959 and July 27, 1961, Mr. Whiteside, do you know?
If you don't know just tell me.
A. Be.tween what dates, sir?
Q. Between February 6, 1959 and July 27, 1961. Now I say
to you again, if you don't know, tell me you don't know. I
don't want you to make up any more statementsThe Court : Let him go ahead. Let him go ahead.
Mr. Garnett: I do not think that is a proper statement.

Q. I don't want you to speculate about it. I want you to tell
us if you know.
The Court: You have told him that enough.
By the Court :
Q. Do you know where they were. Y
A.. I can't tell where they were at all different times during
those dates, sir.
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page 1399

r

1\ir. Baker: All right, sir. I believe that is all,
if the Court please.
RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION.

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Mr. Whiteside, they asked you about this $6,000.00 check,
and asked you whether or not it created an accountability in
the cash on hand, do you recall that?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is it pl-Qperly accounted for in the books Y
A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, this is matter covered by
direct examination with regard to which there was cross examination. This is just being repetitious. The witness testified
under direct examination that it was covered by the books and
cross examination was had with regard to it. This is repetitious.
Mr. G-arnett: No, sir, it is not. You left it hanging, Mr.
Baker, as to whether or not it created an accountability. When
he said yes you got on another subject. I just wanted to clear
up the fact that it is actually accounted for. He stated that
twice, though, that it has been accounted for.
~Ir. BaJ\:er: If the Court please, again I repage 1400 r mind the Court and ask the Court for protection
against having remarks addressed to me personally.
The Court: Address your remarks to me, please, sir.
~Ir. Garnett: Yes, sir.
1\fr. Baker: I do not want questions put to me by the Attorney for the. Commonwealth
~ir. Garnett: I was not doing you the honor of addressing
you. I was addressing the Court.
1\fr. Baker: If the Court please, I still ask the Court to instruct the Attorney for the Commonwealth to confine and ad.
dress his remarks to the Court.
The Court: I did. I understand he is addressing the Court.
Mr. Baker: His remark just now was directed to me.
Mr. Garnett: I'm not talking to you. Your Honor, he called
upon the Court for some protection be given to him. I was
saying that I was not doing him the honor of addressing him.
The Court: If you have any necessary objections please
address your remarks to the Court.
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page 1401 ~

Let's finish this up. Don't bicker so. Call it off.
Mr. Garnett: I am trying to put my case on,
Judge.

By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. He asked you whether or not there could be another $6,000.00 check; let me ask you this : If there were another $6,000.00 check drawn on the First National Bank made payable
to cash, did you find any record of itT
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you find it in the check stubs?
A. No, sir.
Q. If it had been drawn and disappeared, would your cash
account have been in balance or not 7
A. No, sir.
The Court: The only thing he hasn't testified to is that
the cash wouldn't be in balance. Did he say that. That is important.
Mr. Garnett: He said it would not be in balance.
The Court: He testified to all the rest before. Do. you want
the checks I have in my hand?
Mr. Garnett: May I see them?

·Q. Mr. Whiteside, I hand you the Dunton Fuel Oil check,
Commonwealth Exhibit No. 17; on the front you will note here
$145.83 and a little 2.
page 1402

r

Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I would like
to object to the Attorney for the Commonwealth
taking his hand and pointing to what he wants the witness to
testify to. I didn't even do that on direct examination.

Q. On the front you will note the figure $145.83 dash small2;
what does that indicate?
A. It indicates that the check w~as cashed.
Q. I hand you Commonwealth Exhibit No. 24, which is the
$6,000.00 item, and ask you whether or not any such indication
appears on the front of that check?
A. No, sir.
Mr. Garnett: All right. sir.
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RE-CROSS EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Baker:
·
Q. Mr. Whiteside, if, in fact, the $6,000.~0 _item on th~ d;-posit slip in question, Commonwealth Exh1b1t No. 25, if, tn
fact, that were my check for $6,000.00 pay·able to Bowen Company for something, you would never find any record of that
on Bowen Company's stubs, would youY
A. On Bowen Company's stubs f
Q. Yes, sir.
A. No, sir.
Q. You stated for the Commonwealth you
page 1403 ~ checked the Bowen Company check stubs but
found no other item for $6,000.00; there is nothing on this deposit slip that indicates this was a Bowen Company check, is there Y
A. No, sir, it doesn't. It indicates on the First National
Bank.
Q. As far as-The First National, it indicates it is on the
First National Bank Y
A. Yes,. sir.
Q. As far as this deposit slip, the $6,000.00 check could just
as easily have been my check for $6,000.00 as far ·as the deposit slip shows, is that right?
A. As far as the deposit slip shows; yes, sir.
Q. You would not be able to find it by checking the Bowen
Company check stubs; the fact that you didn't find any check
or $6,000.00 on his stubs wouldn't mean a thing· in the ·world,
would it? You wouldn't expect to find it there, would you Y
A. No, sir.
Q. Now, the notation on the front of the check of the Cmnmonwealth Exhibit No. 17 that you say to your knowledge of
the banking procedures indicates it was paid and not depositedA. Yes, sir.
The Court: It was cashed.
Q. Cashed and not deposited f
A. Yes, sir.
Q. That is what the bank teller is supposed to
put on all the checks that are cashed instead of being· deposited, is it not Y
A. Yes, sir.

page 1404

~
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Q. The bank teller also is not supposed to cash any endorsed for deposit only, is he¥
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. You don't know whether the bank teller made a mistake
on the front or the back of this check, do you Y
A. No, sir.
Q. You do not know whether his mistake was in cashing one
marked for deposit only, or in stamping one. cashed that was
actually deposited, from looking at this check, do you 1
A. No, sir.
Q. You know he made a mistake.
A. Somebody did; yes, sir.
Q. The teller who handled this made a mistake.
A. The teller's number is on it, too, isn't itY
Q. You don't know. You don't know whether it was the
same or ~a different telle.r who handled this $6,000.00 check,
do you?
A. No, sir.
Q. You don't know what mistakes, if any, he
page 1405 ~ made in the handling of that one, do you Y
A. No, sir.
Mr. Baker: That is all, sir.
Witness stood aside.
The Court : We will have a short recess, gentlemen.
Note: At this point a short recess is had, whereupon the
hearing continues, viz:
FRANK: HOUSTON COWLING,
introduced in behalf of the Commonwealth, :first being duly
sworn, testified as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION.
By J\.fr. Garnett :
Q. Would you state your name, please, sir.
A. Frank Houston Cowling.
Q. Mr. Cowling, you have to speak up. It is
page 1406 ~ very difficult to hear in this courtroom, and His
Honor and the people at the table here should
hear you.
Where do you live, Mr. Cowling?
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A. 317A-37th Street, Apartment A.
Q. Newport NewsY
A. Yes, sir.
Q. How long have you lived in this general area?
A. All my life except for n1y time in the military service.
Q. What is the nature of your business or occupation Y
A. I'm an insurance agent employed by Bowen Company.
Q. How long have you bee.n employed in that capacity by
Bowen Company?
A. Since Octo her of 1956.
Q. Do you know Catherine WebbY
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was she employed by Bowen Company during your terrn
of employment there or not 7
A. Yes, sir, she was.
Q. Are you still employed there 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. '\Vhat would be the nature of your duties with Bo,ven
Company, Mr. Cowling?
A. Primarily in the production end of the inpage 1407 ~ surance business.
Q. Did you ever have occasion to 1uake any
trips to the hankY
A. Yes, sir.
Q. For what purpose would you make these trips?
A. For the making of daily deposits to the two banks, for
the First National Bank and Citizens Marine Jefferson Bank.
Q. Do you recall whether or not you made any such deposits
while Mrs. Webb was employed by Bowen Company?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Well, did you or didn't you Y
A. I did on several occasions.
Q. You did. From whom would you receive these deposits to
take to the bank f
A. From Mrs. Webb.
Q. I hand you Commonwealth Exhibit No. 1 and Common·wealth Exhibit No. 2 and ask you whether or not you have ever
seen those before?
A. Yes, sir. I made these deposits.
Q. From whom did you get the deposit to make in the bank?
A. Mrs. Webb furnished me with the deposits to make to
the various banks. She actually-she gave me the deposits to
make, instructed me how to make the deposits.
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Q. Do you remember this particular deposit Y
A.· Yes, sir, I do.
Q. Is there any reason why you should remember a deposit made, I believe, on ·February of 1959? Is there
any reason why you should remember this one as against any
of the rest of thmn?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. vVhy?
A. On this particular deposit I made there was a check involved in the deposit that required being cashed, a certain
amount of the funds being deposited to make up the cash
amount of the deposit, and I was to bring the remainder of the
cash back to the office.
Q. All right, sir. I hand you then Commonwealth Exhibit
No. 3 and Commonwealth Exhibit No. 4 and ask you whether
or not they ·are the deposit slips that you deposited in the
bank?
A. Yes, sir. These are the deposit slips.
Q. I believe you said there was another check?
A. There was a check in the deposit of ·which I was to cash
and bring back the remainder of cash to the office.
Q. Who told you to do that?
A. ~irs. Webb.
Q. Did you, in fact, cash that check or not Y
A. Yes, sir, I did.
Q. What if ·anything did you do with the proceeds Y
A. I brought the cash back to the office and
page 1409 ~ gave it to ~frs. Webb.
·
Q. All of it?
A. Yes, sir. No, not all of it; part of the cash was deposited
with the deposit to rnake up the cash a1nount of the deposit,
and the remainder I broug·ht back to the office.
Q. 'Vha.t did you do with that?
A. I gave it to Mrs. Webb.
Q. Was that a usual procedure or not, about the cashing the
checks and using part of it to deposit?
A. No, it wasn't usual. No.
Q. Did you have any occasion to discuss this de.posit shortly
after it was made with anyone?
A. Yes, sir. That's the reason I remember the particular
deposit. Several days after this deposit was made 1\tir. McMurran called me in the office and asked me if I had made this
deposit and I told him I had.
Q. Of course you can't carry on-relate the conversation,
page 1408

~
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but suffice to say, you did discuss this deposit with ~Ir. ~~leMur
ran, is that correct?
A. Yes. It was called to my attention.
Q. Do you by cl1ance, Mr. Cowling, remen1ber the check that
yon cashed or the amount of it Y
A. No, sir, I don't.
Q. Yon do not remember that?
page 1410 ~ A. (Shaking head in the negative)
Mr. Garnett: All right. Answer these gentlemen.
CROSS EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Ferguson:
Q. I believe yon said, Mr. Cowling, in answer to one of Mr.
Garnett's questions that it was not the usual procedure to
cash a check of Bowen Company at the bank?
A. Yes, sir That is correct.
.Mr. Garnett: Of course you are misquoting the question.
The question was, was it the usual procedure to cash a check
and use part of it as a cash deposit. That was the question.
The Court: The Court unde.rstands.
Q. Do you recall any other instances of taking a check payable to Bowen Company and cashing it and bringing back cash
to the office?
A. P~ayable to Bowen Company Y
Q. Yes.
A. No, sir.
Q. Did you ever do that before?
A. No, sir.
Q. That is the only time you have ever done it Y
A. Now I have taken checks to the bank m~ade
page 1411 ~ payable to petty cash; I have done that. Not a
check made payable to Bowen Company.
Q. It wa.s not usual. It was never done before in your
recollection, is that true?
A. Yes.
Q. "'\Y ould you be willing to s,ay that you have never taken a
check payable to Bowen and Company to the bank except in
one instance and had it cashed by the bank Y
A. That would be my recollection; yes, sir.
Q. You wouldn't say that tha.t wasn't done by otl1er people
in the office'
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A. I would have no knowledge of that.

The Court: Let me see Exhibits 1, 2, 3 and 4, if you have
them.

Q. Mr. Cowling, how many employees were in Bowen Company, Incorporated during 1956 through February of 1959,
February 6, 1959¥
A. The maximum employees of Bowen and Company?
Q. Ye.s, sir. Offi·cers or employees. I mean anybody that
"rorked for the company.
A. Through February of 19597
Q. Through February 6, 1959, the date you made this deposit is what we are after.
A. I think six. Six.
Q. Six employees. Would you mind naming them?
A. Mr. Bowen, Mr. McMurran, myself, Miss
page 1412 ~ J{inlock, ::1\-Irs. Webb, and 1\Ir. Garrett was there,
as I recall. There were six.
The Court: Mr. Bowen-

Q. Did not Bowen Company also employMr. Garnett: Excuse n1e. His Honor asked a question.
By the Court:
Q. Bowen, l\[c1viurran, Kinlock, 'Vebh, Cowling and Garrett?
A. Yes, sir. Now he was there in 1956.
By M~r. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. When did he leave Y
The Court: You asked him through February 6, 1959, did
you not?
Mr. Ferguson: From 1956 through 1959.
The Court: That is the way I understood it.
Mr. Baker: From 1956 through February 6, 1959.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Do you know whether or not a janitor or somebody who
cleaned up also was employed by the corporation?
A. There is a possibility that Goodson w·as there. This I'm
not real sure of.
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page 1413

~

By the Court:
Q. vVho f Goodson Y
A. Goodson. Yes, sir. He is our janitor.

By lVIr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Is Goodson a man or 'voman 1
A. He is a man.
Q. Colored or whiteY
A. Colored. Oh, Mr. Ferguson, there was a woman, a colored
woman there also that used to come in and clean up. I don't
know her #name.
Q. So that would make a total number of employees ofA. Would be eight.
Q. EightY
A. Be close to it, yes, sir.
Q. If we counted the janitorial service.
A. I assume they were employed by Bowen and Company.
I don't know this.
Q. What was the office practice with reference to cashing
pay checks, for example f
A. C~shing pay checks?
Q. Yes. Were you paid by check Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Were the other employees paid by check or do you
know?
page 14.14 ~ .A. I assume they were. Of course I don't know.
Q. V\7ere there any other summer employees
that you n1oay have overlooked when I asked you for the nuJnber of employees Y
A. I might have overlooked-! don't recall whether-we
had a girl by the name of Marcia Huffman who worked with
us. I believe she 1night have been with us in 1959, but I couldn't
testify to that because I really don't recall.
Q. You are not sure Y
A. I'm not sure.
Q. You do not recallA. I'm not sure.
Q. Do you recall whether a.ny of 1\fr. Bowen's children
worked in the office during the period in question Y
A. It's possible that Cooper Bowen, ,Jr. worked there in the
summer of 1959. I don't recall him being there before that.
Q. vVhat was the office practice with respect to cashing pay
checks in the oflice, if you knowf
A. Pay checks to employees of Bowen Con1panyY
Q. Yes.
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A. I don't know. I always took mine to the bank.
Q. You did not cash your checks in the office t
A. No, sir.
page 1415 ~ Q. Do you know whether anybody else did Y
A. No, I don't.
Q. You do not know 1
A. I don't. No, sir.
Q. Did you ever put an I.O.U. slip in anticipation of earnings or wages in the cash drawer and borrow money from the
cash drawer Y
A. I have put slips in the cash drawer, yes; not in anticipation of earnings. Just as a loan from it until I was paid to
pay it back or until I wrote a check.
Q. Do you know whether it was the practice for other employees to do that, or notY
A. Well, it was a practice of which Mr. Mc:l\{urran wasn't
in f.avor of. It was done.
Q. It was doneY
A. Yes, sir. It was done.
Q. And it was done generally by the other mnployees as well
as yourself?
A. Yes. I think so.
Q. Was it the practice in the office for the other employees
to receive payments over the counter and give receipts therefor to customers Y
A. A practice YI mean are you saying this was a customary
thingY
Q. Office practice of the-when I refer to empage 1416 ~ ployees from hereon I am not including the janitorial service.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was it a practice for the employees of the office to accept
payme.nts of rentals and any cash transactions across the desk
and give receipts therefor, Bowen Company receipts therefor?
A. This was done only when there was not a woman in the
office to do it, such as Mrs. "'\Vebb or Mrs Kinlock.
Q. "\Vell, it was done by others, in other words?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. As well as the two ladies?
A. That is correct.
Q. Is that true 1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you ever give receipts for cash paid in over the
counter?
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. And you know that the other men in the office did likewise? Including Mr. Bowen?
A. I'm sure Mr. Bowen never did, not to my knowledge.
Q. You are not sure, though, are you?
A. I wouldn't swear to it, but I don't think he ever did.
Q. We don't want you to guess, we want you
page 1417 ~ to say what you know. If you don't know the answer to the questionA. To my knowledge he never did it.
Q. -you can say you don't know and that will be a perfectly
honest answer, if that is the fact, if you don't know.
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Is it fair to say, ]rfr. Cowling, that the employees generally had ,access to the cash drawer, either to make deposits
of receipts over the counter or to borrow money fron1 the cash
drawer?
A. You ssked me two questions. The first one : no, no one
ever made a deposit, to my knowledge.
Q. I mean, well, if you received money over the counter
where would you place it?
A. In the cash drawer.
Q. In other words, you would deposit it in the cash drawer?
A. Yes, sir. I misunderstood you.
Q. Maybe you misunderstood me. I am not talldng about a
bank deposit, I am talking about making a deposit in the cash
drawer.
By the Court:
Q. When you received money from the customer you would
make a deposit in the cash drawer Y
A. Yes, sir.
page 1418

~

Q. Did the employees generally have access to
the cash drawer for making of personal loans,
such as you have described¥ Is it fair to say that that was
the common practice in the office Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you recall a contest that a radio station put on here
called the Lucky Buck contest Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you ever have occasion to look for the serial number
on the Lucky Buck in the Bowen cash drawer Y The money that
was in the Bowen cash drawer Y
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A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did anybody criticize you for doing tha.t, Mr. Cowling?
Mr. McMurran and/or anybody in authority¥
A. Not 1ne personally, no.
Q. Did others in the office take an interest in this contest
and also do the san1e thing, looking for the serial number
that was current on the radio at that timet
A. I can only speak for myself and Mrs. Webb.
Q. Do you know whether lVIr. McMurran was aware of the
fact that some of his employees were engaged in looking for
the serial number on the dollar bills Y I suppose it was
dollar bills, was it not?
A. Yes, sir. In answer to your question, I would say I
don't know whether he was aware.
page 1419 ~ Q. How long did this Lucky Buck contest
go on, if you remember 7
A. I don't recall. lVIaybe a week.
Q. Would you mind, so the Court will understand exactly
what happened, would you mind describing 'how you would
go about examining the currency for the Lucky Buck serial
number?
A. vVell, there was-there was a contest of which the serial
numbers on the dollar bills were announced over the radio.
If you had a dollar bill with that serial number you were to
call and furnish them with the dollar bill and you were
awarded a hundred dollars or something. I don't recall the
amount involved. But that's basically what it was all about.
Q. Were you ever successful in finding the lucky serial
number, sir?
A. No, sir.
Q. About when was this contest, if you remember? What
year w·as it?
A. I have no idea.
Q. Was it in the summer or the fall, winter-if you remember?
A. I don 't-I just don't recall.
By The Court:
page 1420 ~

Q. How long· ago has it been, approximately?
A. We were in our office on 28th Street when
it was going on. I'd say-I'd say possibly '57.

By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Sometime in 19571
A. Approximately. I would think so.
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Q. Do you know how long the contest lasted 1
A. I said before I did not.
Q. You do not knowBy The Court:
Q. You said possibly about a week, you said.
A. About a week, what I recall.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Do you mean you were interested in it about a week or
the contest only lasted about a week'
A. That's as far as I recall. I don't recall it being more
than a 'veek.
Q. It could have lasted longer, of course.
A. It could have been, yes, sir.
Q. Did Mr. Garrett or Mr.The Court: What is the question? Did }.fr. Garrett do
what?
Q. Was Mr. l{ale in the office during this time, sir Y
A. No, sir.
Q. "\Vas he ever there with you, sir?
page 1421 ~ A. No, sir.
Q. Did Mr. Garrett engage in looking for the
Lucky Buck1
A. Not to n1y knowledge. Let 1ne make one point straight.
Mr. Garrett, when I said he was there, he had a desk there.
Whether he was actually an employee of Bowen Company in
September of '56-0ctober, '56, w·hen I went to Bowen and
Company I don't know. He was only there maybe several
·
weeks and then he left, and I occupied his desk.
Q. So you and he were not tl1ere together very long 1
A. No, sir. No, sir.
Q. 1\{r. Cowling·, do you recall who gave you the deposits
when Mrs. Webb was on vacation f
· A. Atir. FergusonQ. That is, the deposits to go to the various banks?
A. Mr. Ferguson, I don't recall Atirs. Webb ever being out
of the office for more than a day or two. And up until we
changed our system we didn't make daily deposits. I don't
recall ever receiving a. deposit from anybody else other than
her and ~sked to take it to the bank. Maybe Mr. McMurran
has given me a deposit to take to the bank.
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Q. You say up until we changed our system; you mean
when the McBee Systen1 was put in, in July, 19587
A. Yes, sir.
page 1422 ~
Q. Daily deposits were made from then on,
is that true, sir?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Prior to that time daily deposits were not made 1
A. Not to my knowledge.
Q. ~Ir. Mcl\lfurrru1 could have given you some deposit slips'~
A. He could have.
Q. I n1ea.n deposits for tl1e bank.
A. He could have; yes, sir.
Q. 'Vhat banks did you go to, if you ren1emher?
A. First National Bank and 01\{J Bank.
Q. Did you ever go to the Bank of vV ar,vicl{ with any deposit slips, sir1
A. No, sir.
Q. vVere you nware t11at Bowen Con1pany had an ac(·ount
at the Bank of "\Varwiek in 1958?
A. No, sir.
1\:h·. Ferguson:

That is all we have from this witness.

"\Vitness stood aside.
page 1423 ~

"\VILLIAl\11 COOPER BO"\VEN,
introduced on behalf of t11e Conuuonwealth, first
being duly sworn, testified as follo'\vs:
DIRECT EXAMINATION.
By l\fr. Garnett:
Q. State your name, please 1
A. vVillian1 Cooper Bowen.
Q. l\Ir. Bowen, w·here do you live?
A. 900 Shore Drive.
Q. Is that in Newport News 1
A. Newport News.
Q. How long· have you lived in tl1is general a rca?
A. Oh, about forty-eight years.
Q. "\Vhat is the nature of your business or mnployment?
A. l'n1 in the insurance business and also have a real
estate license.
Q. Where is your insurance-"\Vhat is the name of your
insurance business Y
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A. Bowen Company, Incorporated.
Q. Is that the company that we are dealing with here in
this trial?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. 1\ir. Bowen, do you hold any public office?
page 1424 ~ A. Yes, sir.
Q. "That is that f
A. I am councihnan for the City of Newport News.
Q. You have to speak up because these people have to hear
you on account of-Incidentally, 1\ir. Bowen, we ha.ve difficulty
hearing in this courtromn on account of the blowers.
A. I noticed that, sir.
Q. I thought I would bring· that to your attention.
~Ir. Baker: If the Court please, with reference to Mr.
Bowen being a counc.iln1a.n, we l1ave not sug-gested he, as
councihuan, should or would have any influence on anybody.
1 think it is l1ighly improper to mnpha~ize tl1at fact in this
courtroon1 during- this trial.
1\fr. Garnett: I think it is proper. I would like to
identify this g-entleman.
The Court: He asked him whether he was councilman or
not, 1\ir. Baker. That is all that I know he has done.
1\ir. Baker: That is not all, if the Court please. The Attorney for the Con1monwea.Ith has called to the attention of
this witness, as city councilman, the fact that we have difficulty hearing in this courtroom on account of
page 1425 ~ the blowers. I think tha.t is highly in1proper and
it has nothing to do with the case.
The Court: I do not think it has anything to do with it
either.
1\i.r. Garnett: Of course not. Everybody knew it didn't.

By l\f r. Garnett : (Continuing)
Q. l\fr. Bowen, how long ha vc you been in the insurance
business~

A. I haYe been in the insurance business since 1933, sir.
Q. Operating here in Ncwport News?
A. In Newport News, sir.
Q. Do you know Cat:herine "\Yebb1
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Was she ever en1ployed by yon or by your corporation?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Do you know how long that she was employed, between
'vhat dates, approximately?
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A. I would say about ten years-1948 through 1958.
Q. 1948 to what¥
A. Throug·h 1958. Or, I think it was February of 1959.
Q. Did you actually manage this office yourpage 1426 ~ self, or did you have an office manager?
A. I had an office manager, sir.
Q. That was whom 1
A. G. Keith 1\!IcJ\{urran.
Q. Do you know who was the bookkeeper for your firm Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Who was that Y
A. Mrs. Webb.
Q. Directing your attention, 1\{r. Bowen, to the early part
of February, 1959, to be 1nore specific the 6th and 7th, were
you in the City of Newport News during that tin1e or not~
A. You said in 1959 ¥
Q. Yes, sir.
A. As I recall, I left J anua.ry-t.he last of Jan nary of
1959 and returnedQ. Where did you g·o 7
A. I went to Florida, sir.
Q. How long· -...vere you gone f
A. I returned March 9, 1959.
Q. Do you recall when you were gone whether or not you
were apprised of anything unusual in the office Y
A. Yes, sir.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I would object to this.
The Court: Object to what, sir?
Mr. Baker: I object to the question, when he was out
of the city, was he apprised of anything- unusual in the office;
of necessity that would have to be hearsay, if the Court
please.
Mr. G::!.rnet.t: It would not be hearsay becauseThe Court: The fact that he was apprised 1vould not be
hearsay.
:I'Yir. Garnett: No, sir.
page 1427

~

By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Mr. Bowen, I would caution you, of course, that you cannot tell any conversations that you may have had with anyone
out of the presence of the defendant, or while you 1vere in
Florida. But I want to ask you this: You said you 'vere apprised of something unusual, who apprised you of it?
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A. 1\fr. Mcl\lurran.
Q. How did he do that 1
A. By telephone.
Q. Without telling what he said, what was the nature of the
conditions of which he apprised you 1

J\fr. Baker: If the Court pleaseThe Court: I am afraid what he had said he would have
to tell us.
page 1428 } Mr. Baker: -or interpret what he said, if the
Court please. In either event it would certainly
be objectionable. I object to it.
l\£r. Garnett: I think he can tell whether or not he
was apprised as to whether ilie office burned up, as to
whether they added on a new wing·, or anything that was unusual that happened in the office without telling any conversation; because if 'he were apprised that the building bad
burned down, tl1at. is a fact. That is not hearsay.
l\ilr. Baker: If the Court please, for the witness to testify
that he was apprised of the fact that the building had burned
down would be doubly objectionable. First it would have to
he ha.sed on hearsay evidence, and then it would be fnrtlwr
subject to the interpretation of this witness of hearsay evidence.
The Court: On that one point that is correct.
l\lr. Garnett: I am not going into the truth or falsity of
what he was apprised, whether it actually existed or didn't
exist. For instance, if it actually burned down or not, of
course, is not in question. The fact is, is it a fact? Was he
apprised of that. That is all. Not did it acpag·e 1429 ~ tually happen. Of course he couldn't testify to
that.
The Court: .Just so it isn't hearsay. That is the only
thing I am concerned with. I do not want any hearsay testimony. I do not want any hearsay.
Mr. Garnett: I do not think it would be l1ea.rsa.y if I
asked him 'vhat he was apprised of, anytl1ing unusual· in the
office.
The Court: I am afraid it might be hearsay, Mr. Garnett.
I am going to hold against you right no'\\r.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. 'Veil, anyway, wlten you got back to .New·port News-I
assume that is not leading-, because he is back-did you have
occasion to conduct any investigation concerning that which
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you had been apprised, 1\~Ir. Bowen? Did you discuss it with
anybody?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. With whon1 did you discuss it when you first arrived
back to Newport News?
A. Mr. McMurran.
Q. Did you discuss it with your business consultant, Mr.
w·hiteside Y
A. Yes, sir.
1\IIr. Baker: If the Court please, I realize this
is not a particularly important ground, but the
Attorney for the Commonwealth has fallen back
into the same habits of stating the answer to the question.
The Court: I do not think the question whether he discussed it with his business consultant would be a leading
question. Let's don't waste time on it. Note your exception
for the record.
1\{r. Baker: The question should be: with whom did you
discuss it? It isn't up to the Attorney for the Commonwealth
to refresh this man's memory by his questions.
The Court: He said he had discussed it with lVfr. ~feMur
ran, and when he was asked just now he said he discussed it
'vith his business consultant.
1\{r. Baker: I understand, if the Court please. I would
like for the testimony to be limited to this witness' recollection ; not for the answers to be suggested in the questions
asked by the Attorney for the Commonwealth.
The Court: Do not suggest the answers, please. Go
ahead.
fl
;
1\{r. Garnett: It would be ridiculous to ask l1im with
·whom did you discuss it. It ma.y take in everybody from
here to Sciv 's Creek I am talking about th_e
page 1431 ~ important matters in this trial.
The Court: The Court says you may do it, so
go ahead.
1\{r. Garnett: All right, sir.
page 1430

~

By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. What was the subject of your discussion with Mr. McMurran and with Mr. 'Vhiteside, without telling your conversation? What did you discuss?
A. We discussed the shortage that occurredMr. Baker: If the Court please, I object at this time.
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The subject of the discussion could not possibly be anything
other than a discussion had by others with ~Ir. Bowen which
would be hearsay or self-serving statements, perhaps, by this
witness.
·
The Court: I do not know that it is hearsay, the subject
of the discussion, what he said just then.
Mr. Baker: The subject-shortage-could not possibly
have been derived by this witness, as the Court held, without
placing an interpretation on hearsay evidence. The 'vords
used by the1nselves are hearsay. I would like to cross examine at this time on that.
The Court: You 1nay cross examine when the tin1e comes.
Go ahead, sir.
page 1432. ~ Mr. Baker: Will the Court note an exception by counsel for the defendant to the ruling
of the Court in pern1itting this witness to answer questions
along this line for the reasons already stated.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. The question was, Mr. Bowen, what was the subject
of your discussion with 1\{r. 1\{cMurran and Mr. Whiteside?
The Court: He stated it. The Record shows he stated

it.
Mr. Garnett: I did not. hear the answer, J udg·e.
A. \Ye discussed the shortage that occurred-

The Court: That is twice he bas answered it.
A. -that had occurred at that time.

Mr. Garnett: I did not hear hin1.

Q. Did you have an occasion to discuss this 1natter with
Mrs. Webb1
A. I discussed the n1atter later with 1\{rs. Webb.
Q. That is what I am talking about.. Did you ever discuss
the matter with ~Irs. Webb?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Did you discuss it with her n1ore than once?
A. Yes.
page 1433 ~ Q. Do you recall how 1nany times you discussed it with her?
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A. With Mrs. "'\Vebb I would say twice. Three times. About
three times, I believe it was.
Q. Do you recall when and where you 'vere the first time
that you mentioned this matter to Mrs. Webb1
A. I was in Mr. vVhiteside 's office with Mr. H~eath, and Mr.
1\fcMurran, !'Ir. "'\Vhiteside, and myself.
Q. During that conversation or that n1eeting, did you or
anyone else mention this shortage to Mrs. Webb~
A. We mentioned the shortage as to what it was at that
time.
Q. Did she tell you a.t that tin1e that she only made postings
in the book in accordance with instructions of someone else?
A. I don't recall.
Q. Did she tell you at that time that she understood the
nature of the shortage and what it was?
A. (Pause)
Q. To rephraseA. No, sir.
Q. -rephrase the question, I will ask it this way:The Court : He said I just don't recall.
1\fr. Garnett: The answer was no, sir, was it
page 1434 r not 1 1\fay we have the question and answer read
back?
Note: The following question and answer are read by the
reporter: Question: Did she tell you at that time that she
understood the nature of the shortage and what it ·was?
Answer: Pause. Question: To rephrase-Answer: No, sir.
Q. Did she offer you any reason or excuse why the books
'vould reflect a s·hortage ~
A. My recollection then was she was very non-c.ommittal.
Q. Do you recollect whether or not she was asked to explain certain entries at that meetingf
A. That was the purpose of the meeting.
Q. vVas she able to explain the entries or not?
A. Would you say that again 1
Q. Was she able to explain these certain entries or not
as to why they were made?
A. She didn't volunteer to explain anything.
Q. Did you have any other meeting with Mrs. "'\Vebb?
A. Yes.
Q. Do you recall the approximate date and when and 'vhere
that was and ho'v the meeting came about?
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The Court : Is this the first or the second n1eeting Y
:I_\,fr. Garnett: Yes, sir, the first 1ueet.ing. The
page 1435 ~ one we just discussed.
The Court: l-Ie said there were possibly
three. I want to follow it all.

Q. Did you meet with her any other time, Mr. Bowen f
A. Mrs. Vvebb called me to meet her at my residence-Can
I look for the date Y vVill it be all right Y
The Court: Yes, sir, if you have a note you n1ay.

Q. \Vhere did you get that information from, your notes
that you are referring to~
A. I have it in my daily book. "\Vould you like to see it?
Note : An envelope is handed to counsel.

Q. You got the information out of your daily book¥
A. My daily book.
By The Court :
Q. You made the notations yourself1
A. Oh, yes. Yes, sir.
Q. You 1nade the entries in your daily book and made the
entries on this piece of paper¥
A. Yes, sir. If you have trouble reading it, 1naybe I can
. help you out.
The Court: All right. Let's go ahead, sir.
page 1436

~

By 1\{r. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. She called you and asked you to meet her
at your residence on approximately when Y
A. Approximately April 6th, and the purpose of that meeting was twofold: One was to con1plete an application that had
been sent to 1ny office for employment. I told her at that time
I could not answer the questions in the application.
Q. What kind of application was that?
A. It was for employment for a civil service job, as I recall.
Q. For whose employment?
A. For 1\frs. Webb's employment.
Q. There were certain questions that you were supposed to
a.ns,verY
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A. Yes.
Q. On the application?
A. Yes. It was a regular government application, and
there were questions on there that I just couldn't answer. So
I ignored the application.
Q. Nu1nber two?
A. She was inquiring about a book that she had left at
the office.
Q. Do you ever recall seeing tha.t book?
A. Sirf
page 1437 ~ Q. Do you ever recall-'Vhat kind of book
was it supposed to be?
A. It was a-I have no idea. It was some small black
book, or brown book. That's all I kno,v. And I told her
that I would be glad to look around; if I found the book I
would be glad to return it. I did. I found a book and s01ne
other little personal things of ~Irs. Webb's and turned then1
over to her father.
Q. Was that the book that she was referring toz or do you
knowf
A. I ean 't imagine that it was.
Q. Did you ever find a book in the office that answered
that description f
A. (Shaking head in negative)
Q. Did you iuquire around the office and look for it 1
A. Oh, we made quite a sea.rch.
Q. 'Vlwn you say we, who is that"/
A. Jf r. Cowling, l\'frs. l{inlock, 1\fr. 1\Icl\Iurran, myselfthat's about it.
Q. And yon did not find it??
A. No.
Q. \Vas anything else discussed at that meeting?
A. She told me some little instance that some colored
fellow l1ad snatched her book, or s01netl1ing. I
pag-e 1438 ~ didn't think that. was particularly relative to
theQ. I an1 telking about relative to this that we are discussing· here.
A. No. I t.l1ink that waR about all.
Q. No"', you spoke of a third n1eeting. Do you recall approximately wl1en and where that was, and who was present f
Or the next meeting, whether it 'vas the third, fourth, or whatever it was.
A. Judge, I can see where I'm in error on the number of
meetings. I thought it pertained to certain things.
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The Court: You may correct your statement if you want.
A. Well, I have it here-there were actually five meetings
that Mrs. 'V ebb-that she was in fhe presence.
The Court: All right.

Q. All right. Now, when was the next thne you met with
her after this incident out at your house i
A. The next meeting· was April the 14th.
Q. 'V'here was that?
A. That was at Mr. Heath's house, her father's house.
Q. Who was present?
A. Mr. Heath, Mrs. IIeath, and ]\:Irs. 'Vebb.
Q. Anyone else 1
page 1439 ~ A. No.
Q. 'Vere you thm·e'
A. Yes, I was there. And it was at Mr. IIeath's request.
The meeting was called at l\ir. Heath's request.
Q. What, if anything, was discussed at that n1.ceting1
A. At this particular meeting it was a follow-up of several
other discussions in trying to n1ake settlement -of this loss.
Q. All -right.
1\IIr. Baker: If the Court please, I a1n going to object from
here on out unless it is specified who prior discussions were
had with, with regard to settlement. If they were had with the
defendant, that is one thing.
The Court: I understood she was at that meeting.
1\{r. Baker: The witness said this was a follow-up of
several prior discussions in an a.ttmnpt to make settlement.
Before we go any further I would like to know ·who attempted
to make settlement, whether it was made by 1\IIrs. Webb or
somebody else.
e can discuss it fully, if you like.
Mr. Garnett:

'V

By The Court:
Q. Was 1\{rs. Webb present? Did s1te discuss
it'
A. Yes, sir.

page 1440

~

Mr. Baker: On the prior occasions that he just had reference to, if the Court please.
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By 1\fr. Gu.ruetl : (Con tinning)
Q. 1Vith whon1 were the prior discussions had relative to
the settlement of this matterY
J\IIr. Baker: I will ask the witness be instructed not to
answer until I can ha.ve the objection understood by the
Court and passed on by the Court. If these were prior discussions with 1virs.
ebb that led up to this nweting, then
I think it would be admissible; if not, I do not think it would
be admissible.
The Court: At that thne, she was present. at that time
and a discussion was bad-Mr. Baker: On April the 14tl1 he testified she was present, but not at the prior discussions.
The Court: She wa.s present a.nd discussed it, I believe
he sa.id, sir.
1\fr. Baker: He testified this was a. follow-up of several
previous discussions in an attempt to n1ake settlen1ent. I
would ask that it be stricken unless it was with 1virs. Webb.
I am not by this asking with whmn the discuspage 1441 ~ sions ·were bad.

'V'

By The Court:
Q. 1Vere the previous discussions with 1\Irs. 'Vebb or 1n
her presence?
Mr. Baker: Prior to

~Iay

14th.

A. The n1eeting of 1\-Iarch 18th at ~Ir. 'Vhiteside 's office
was with ~Ir. IIeath and. Mrs. Webb, and it was to explain
to 1\Ir. Health the growing shortage.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. To 1\fr. :HeathY
.
A. 1\Irs. Webb was present. And 'vc also ba.d hopes of 1\frs.
Webb cooperating to tell us the amount of shortage and how
it occurred.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. All right. Now, let's get back to April 14th. Now what
sort of settlement was discussed there?
A. Upon arriving at the house we sat down, and we discussed settlen1ent. And Mr. I:Ieath said that. he was interested
in ma.king settlement.
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By The Court:
Q. All in the presence of Mrs. 'Vebb f
A. Mrs. Webb and her mother were both there. AndNo'v I can't give you verbatin1By 1\fr. Garnett: (Continuing·)
Q. I don't want you to give it to me verbatim;
page 1442 ~ I want you to tell us what was said and by whom.
A. 1\fr. Heath was interested in making settleInent. I asked ~Irs. Webb if she were interested in her father
making settlement, and she said, yes. I said, well-She said,
yes, but I didn't g-et the n1oney. I said, 1\frs. lVebb, for you
to say that, is admitting guilt. And she said that she didn't
get the money but she still wanted her father to pay because
she was responsible for the books.
Q. At that tune, J\llr. Bowen, if you recall had the final
amount of shortage been ascertained Y
A. No. The final amount had not been settled.
Q. 'Vhat was the apparent an1ount of shortage existing as
of April 14th, if you recall f
A. I couldn't tell vou. I couldn't answer that exact
amount. But do you \vant me to finish what I was-this
conversation on the 14th?
Q. Yes, I do.
A. I told ~Irs. Webb and her father, in the presence of her
mother, that I thought that they s·hould en1ploy an attorney,
and that I didn't want five cents from anybody that didn't
get. this money. And I wanted them to understand it was still
in the hands of the bonding company and that I couldn't do
anything wit:hout the bonding company and the bonding company couldn't do anything without me. I mean that was more
or less understood in our first discussion with
page 1443 ~ 1\fr. lieath. I did tell Mr. Heath-Now this is
,
not pertaining to this 1neeting. ButQ. Was this in the presence of Mrs. Webb, what you are
about to say~
A. No. No.
Q. You cannot say it. You would not be able to relate that
conversation.
A. That's all right.
Q. Was any further discussion had a.t this meeting or any
other matter discussed in the presence of Mrs. vVebb?
A. Nothing. Except that when we left ~lr. lieath or sonleone said. well, I'll see you later, or something like that.
That's all.
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Q. Did you have any further meeting with Mrs. Webb,
that you recall?
··
A. The next meeting that Mrs. Webb was in my presence
was, I think, around July the 29th at Mr. Heath's house.
l(arkoviak, with the Globe Indemnity CompanyBy The Court:
Q. This n1eeting was at whose house Y
A. Mr. Heath's house. And present was 1\irs. Webb, Mr.
J(arkoviak, Mr. McMurran and myself. There was someone
else in the house but they were not in the room.
Q. What was discussed at that meeting?
A. Well, when we arrived at the house, it
page 1444 ~ 1nust have been a misunderstand. Mr. Heath
made the statement that had he known that Mr.
McMurran and I were going to be there he would have had
his attorney.
At that particular time there wa.s some conversation and,
of course, we wanted to find out who the attorney was; and
at that tin1e the attorney was not disclosed. However, Mr.
Heath had cooled towards the idea of making settlement.
By The Court:
Q. In the presence of 1\{rs. Webb?
A. In the presence of 1\{rs. 'Vebb.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Now, was settlement ever made by Mrs. Webb or anyone on her behalf?
A. No.
Q. Did you have any further discussion there that day or
not~

A. Well, that was about it as far as I recall. That was
about the extent of the conversation, because of the mixup
·
of ever so many being there.
By The Court:
Q. That is ,Tuly 29th?
A. That was .July 29th, yes, sir.
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Did you have any further meetings with
page 1445 ~ Mrs. Webb?
A. The next meeting that I had in Mrs.
Webb's presence was at the office of Mr. Ferguson and Mr.

818

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia
William~

Cooper Bowen.

Yates. And at that particular meeting was
Ganzert, Mr. McMurra.n and-

~Irs.

''Tebb, 1\{r.

By The Court:
Q. Who is Mr. Ganzertf
A. Mr. G,anzert is with the Globe Indemnity Company. Mr.
McMurran, Mr. Whiteside, Mr. Heath, I believe-I'm a
.
little vague on that-and myself.
Q. What was the subject of discussion a.t that meeting?
A. The purpose of that n1eeting was to show the findings
of 1\fr. Whiteside and for Mr. vVhiteside to explain to ~{r.
Ferguson and Mr. Yates the shortage.
Q. Was that done¥
A. That was discussed ; yes, sir.
Q. Did 1\fr. Whiteside explain it to them, is what I n1eant.
A. He explained it; yes.
Q. Was Mrs. Webb presentf
A. Yes.
Q. 1\Tas there any direct discussion by you or anyone else
at that meeting with Mrs. Webb, that you recall?
A. No. Mrs.
ebb just sat a.nd took notes.
page 1446 ~ I don't think she uttered a word, except wiJen
she had to leave.
Q. Did you have any other discussions with her 7
A. I think that was the last time I have seen Mrs. Webb.

'y

Mr. Garnett: Please answer these gentlemen.
CROSS EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Ferguson :
Q. Mr. Bowen, do you recall a meeting in my office that
you have just referred to, do you recall that 1\frs.
ebb
had to leave that 1neeting 1
A. She left the meeting a little early; yes, sir.
Q. And that we had further discussionA. Mter she left, that's true.
Q. -for quite awhile? Did you know that she had retained counsel when you had the meeting on March 18, 19597
A. I was not aware of it. I heard nothing about it, andQ. You did not know it at that time?
A. No. Mr. 1-Ieath-No, sir.
Q. When were you aware that she had been to an attorney?
A. I was first aware of it, Mr. Ferguson, I
page 1447 r would say, July the 29th.

'y
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By The Court:
Q. That is the fourth meeting, as I understand you, sir Y
A. That was the first mention of it.
Q. That is the fourth meeting that you had with her, and
that is the time you understood that she had an attorney?
A. Yes, sir. That is as I recall.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. When you had the meeting on April the 14th, is that
the meeting that you advised her to get an attorney1
A. When she said she wanted her father to pay, after I
told her that I thought that by doing it she was admitting
guilt, that was of the meeting of the 14th that I told them
that I thought that they should get an attorney.
~Ir. Ferguson: I move to strike the answer as not being
responsive.
The Court: It isn't exactly responsive.

Q. They didn't indicate to you that they had already been
to see me, did fhey?
A. Excuse me, Mr. Ferguson.
Q. On April 14th they did not indicate that they had already been to see an attorney 1
A. No, sir. Not April the 14th. No indicapage 1448 ~ tion to 1ne.
Q. You didn't realize it at that time?
A. No, sir.
Q. There has been some evidence in this case that you had
pretty well turned over the running of Bowen Company, Incorporated to l\1r. l\1cMurran, is that true?
A. IIe was manager of my office; yes, sir.
Q. And that you ·were leaving the decisions up to him
as to the running of the offi.ce, is that a fair statement?
A. He had a free hand in running the office, and he consulted
with me ; yes, sir.
Q. Of course he would, for you, lay down the policies as
the owner ·of the business, I suppose?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. You would lay down the overlying policies; you would
set t.he policies and 1\{r. Mcl\Iurran would carry them out f
A. Would carry out the policies; that is .correct.
Q. What part of the business did you participate in personally?
A. I handled the investment account mainly.
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Q. You made those decisions with reference to the investment account?
A. Yes, sir.
page 1449 ~ Q. Is that a part of the Bowen Company, In.
corporated Y
A. Operation?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. ·Yes, sir. You drew the charter of the by-laws.
Q. Pardon me. Probably somebody in my office. I don't
think I did personally.
A. I mean your firm. Yes, sir.

By The Court: .
Q. You said you handled the investment account mainly, I
think you said Y
A. Yes, sir.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. When was the incorporation Y When was the corporation formed, if you remember~
A. 1954, I would say. I think that's right. 1954.
Q. Did you have any particular company policy with reference to the amount of your balance in the banks? I ani
referring to the C & ~f and the First. National Bank?
A. Did I haveQ. Had you formulated any policy with respect to howA. ~'[ainta.ining a balance 1
Q. Yes, sir.
A. No. No particular amount.
page 1450 ~ Q. Was it- your practice to ''dthdraw monies
towards the end of the year to reduce the amount
of the balance in those two banks?
A. It was a practice of the office always to withdraw money
for-that 'vould come under the state capital tax; yes, sir.
Q. Would that explain the withdrawals i11 December of
1958, or do you recall those withdrawals Y
A. In 1958T I remember one. If there was money in the
investtnent account it was withdrawn and put with a broker
in order for it to be sent. out of the state. I think that vou
must hav~ reference to another check tha.t was written that
year.
Q. Thm.·e were two checks, I think, totaling around $12,000.00 apiece.
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A. 'Veil, then that was investment account checks. That's
right.
Q. Did you maintain a separate hank account for the investment account in the Bank of Warwick'
A. Yes, sir. That's right. We tried to keep the investInent account separate from the working account. That is
correct.
Q. So that once the money went into the investment account, it 'vas no longer subject to withdrawal for office purposes, is that true, sir, for the running of the office!
page 1451

~

The Court: Expense money, or 'vhat?
Mr. Ferguson: Yes, sir.

Q. I mean for working c.apita.I in the office.
A. Of course if-The money belonged to the office and if
they were ever in need of it, yes, sir, it would go to the
office. We tried to keep the invesbnent account away from
our working account.
Q. In other words, the working capital was in the First
National and the C & ~IJ, the inveshnent account was in the
Bank of vV a.rwick?
A. We tried to keep it that way; yes, sir. "\Ve started
keeping it that way.
Q. vVho had the authority to write checks on those various
accounts!
A.. ~Ir. McMun·an and myself.
Q. On all three of the accounts 1
A. On all my accounts except n1y perRona.l account.
Q. The effect of the withdrawals in December of 1958
for the investment account left the cOinpany a rather thin
balance in tl1e bank, did it not, or do you remember?
A. As I recall, Mr. Ferg11son, that was a fairly good year,
and I asked 1tfrs. Wehb-l\1:r. Mcl\furran, as I recall, was
away at the time-I asked Mrs. 'Vebb to draw me a check
for $12,000.00. And in doing that I had t11ought I told her
to charge it to the salary acc.ount. Normally
page 1452 ~ I don't get a salary. Bnt I thought maybe this
year I might. I decided to take'By The Court:

·o.

1958?

A. Yes, sir. I decided I n1igl1t. take a salnry, but I hacln 't
talked with !tir. Whiteside, wl1o handles my tax affairs.

822

Supreme Court of Appeals of Virginia

1Villia1n Cooper Bowen.
By Mr. Ferg·uson: (Continuing)
Q. Will you speak up, 1\!Ir. Bowen 1 I would like to hear
this.
A. I drew this check and I was thinking possibly of using
it as salary, which is the privilege that you have in a corporation, and I wanted to use it to the. best advantage.
After going· on my trip and hearing what had happened, I
had to return this to pay off some undisclosed liability that
I had. But I always talked-leave it up to my tax man
to see which is the best way to handle it. And the reason
for turning- it returning it was to pay this liability off.

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. What liability are you talking

about~

Mr. Garnett: Excuse n1e.
l\1r. Ferg·uson: I think that is an improper outburst fron1
the Com1nonwealth 's Attorney.
The Court: You rnay question hin1 later.
pag·e 1453 ~ l\{r Ferguson: I think he should be1\!Ir. Garnett: I apologized, Billy, what more
do you want me to do 1
The Court: Let's not have any bickering. Go right ahead.
l\1r. Ferguson: The witness and I have both forgotten
what we were talking about.
The Court: Yon were asking hin1 to expla.in the procedure
on the $12,000.00.

A. I left it up to Mr. 'Vhitcside, who takes care of my
tax affairs.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. Is it fair to say you acted on tlte advice of your business
consultant 1
A. That's right.
Q. Do I gather then that it was your general practice to
transfer any profits to the investment account towards the
end of the year, was that the usual procedure?
A. Vve would transfer any profit to the invesbnent account
towards the end of the year.
Q. If you had a profitable year would you transfer the
profit to the investn1ent account Y
A. We would use it for whatever it was best to be used,
yes, sir~ for the benefit of the office. Yes, sir. That is correct.
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Q. In arriving at how much money you would
page 1454 } transfer to the investment account, did you take
into consideration the tax liability and deduct
that before you determined how much money you wanted to
place in the investment account!
A. Do you mean did I figure up the federal tax money that
we owed and then deduct that and send it in to the taxQ. No, I mean referring to the $12,000.00-I think it was
twelve thousand six hundred and some odd dollarsMr. Garnett: That is not right. It was $12,000.00 even.
The Court: It was $12,000.00 even, as I recall it.
Mr. Ferguson: I am talking about the deposit to the
Abbott, Proctor and Paine account on December 31, 1958,
which was $12,671.00, I think it was.
The Court: Yes.
lVIr. Garnett: You haven't asked about that.
~Ir. Ferguson: I am asking hhn about it now, if I may.
By Mr. Ferguson: (Continuing)
Q. When you hit that figure for deposit to the
investment account, did you take into consideration a taxable liability and leave that in the bank account so that yot! could meet your taxes when they fell due f
A. 'Veil, J\.Ir. Ferguson, that particular account was the
sale of two stocks. One in August, as I recall, and one in
Septembel'. And they stayed-they went into that account.
Now whether it was a profit on those stocks or a loss I don't
know. But the office, regardless, 'vas responsible for any tax
that they might incur, and when the tax came due it would
con1e out of the office funds.
Q. So that you were not, in other words, taking working
rapital out of the company when you took that $12,671.00 out f
A. Absolutely not, unless the statements to which I had
been referring from month to month all during the year were
wrong.
Q. You were taking investment accounts that had gotten
back into the company account, I take it 1

page 1455 }

Mr. Garnett: Which $12,000.00 are you talking about~
1\fr. Ferguson: I am talking about the investment account.
The Court: $12,671.00 he says now.
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A. The $12,600.00 account was an investn1ent account, and
that stayed in the office, or in the ba.nk, or with
page 1456 ~ the broker. And on December 31st it was in the
broker's hands. And as I recall it stayed there
in the borker 's hands and finally went up to $19,000~00..
Q. So that that 'vould not be working capital for use. in·
running the office.
A. That is surplus that the office supposedly had earned.
Q. Earnings in early years that has been accumulated f
A. What are you talking about, capital for the office now~
The Court:· You have to answer his question. \Vas that
or not capital for the office f
A. It was n1oney-It was n1oney of the office. The actual
w·orking capital, ~£r. Ferguson, we had in there was $20,000.00 paid in working capital, and this other was the .surplus that has been accun1ulated over a period of years. ·
Q. That had been accumulated¥
A. That's right.
Q. You did not consider that accumulated as subject to offiee
expenditures from then on after it once got into the investment account!
A. We hoped that; yes, sir.
. Q. You kept it separated?
A. Yes, sir.
page 1457

~

J.\;Ir. Ferguson: That will be all from J.\;Ir
Bowen.
The Court: Are there any further questions 1
~Ir. Garnett: Just the one tha.t I inadvertently blurted
out, Your Honor.
REDIRECT

EXA~£INATION.

By ~fr. Garnett:
Q. ~fr. Bowen, you said-I am talking about the $12,000.00
salary check now which was later reclassified in the books
as accounts receivableA. That's right.
Q. -you said you had to pay that back in order to pay a
liability.: wl1at liability a.re you referring to?
·
A. \Veil~ it "·as a liability with Globe, Globe Indemnity
Company for accounts that were supposed to be monthly accounts and it was past due.

Cathe1·ine Webb v. Commonwealth of Virginia

825

William Cooper Bowen.
Q. 'Vhat occasioned that liability? I mean when did you
determine you had that liability? You said, I believe, it
was an undisclosed liability.
A. WellQ. Put it this way: Was it brought about by the alleged
shortage, or not?
Mr. Ferguson: Your Honor, I do not see any
reason for leading him. Let the witnessThe Court : Don't lead him, Mr. Garnett.
1\fr. Ferguson: He is not leading him~ he is telling him the
answer. Let him answer.
The Court: Rephrase the question, J\fr. Garnett.
page 1458

~

By ~fr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. \Ve are talking about the liability that you said was
necessary to pay, in part at least, with this $12,000.00; do
you understand that~
A. (Nodding head in the affirmative)
Q. 'Vhen did you discover that you had this liability?
A. Upon my return to the city in lVIa.rch. And the thing
kept growing and finally we heard from the insurance companies and I found out that a monthly account that was to be
paid montl1ly had gotten behind.
Q. "\Vas this theA. I think that my records ·will indicate that-I thought
tha.t they were always paid. We never got behind.

Mr. Garnett: All right, sir. You may stand down.
By The Court:
Q. You said this was the Globe Insurance
Company?
A. It was the Globe Indemnity Company. Yes, sir.
The Court: .All right, sir.

page 1459

~

RECROSS EXAMINATION.
\

By Mr. Ferguson:
.
Q. Of eourse your Information as to the monthly accounts
?eing behind were 'vhat you were told by other people; that
IS-

A. Yes.
Q. -the people running the office; you 'vere not in close
touch with those accounts?
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A. No. No, I was informed.
Q. It was information you got from Mr. Wliiteside, Mr.
McMurran, or somebody like that T
A. Yes. That's right.
By The Court:
Q. Did you get it from Globe?
A. I never received anything from Globe. I never talked
with any of the Globe men as to being behind in anything. I
had no idea of it. I was shocked.
Q. Globe had not informed you of anything a.t that time Y
A. They hadn't been in touch with me.
page 1460

~

The Court: Anything else f
1\{r. Ferguson : That is all.
The Court: Stand aside.

Witness stood aside.
The Court:

Court will stand adjourned until 2 :25.

Note: At this point luncheon recess is had until 2 :25
P.l\L at which time the resumption of the taking of evidence

is continued, as follows::
A. S. GANZERT,
introduced on behalf of the Con1n1onwealth, first being duly
sworn, testified as follows : .
DIRECT EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. "\Vould you state your name, please, sir Y
A. A. S. Ganzert.
Q. 'Vhere do you live, lVIr. Ga.nzertY
A. Richmond.
page 1461 ~ Q. "\\That is your profession?
A. I am an attorney.
Q. What connection, if any, do you have with the Royal
Globe Insurance Group?
A. I an1 a claims attorney for them.
Q. Clain1s attorney. Directing your attention, Mr. Ganzer-t,
to the year 1959, did you have anything to do with the investigation of or negotiations of any alleged shortage of
Bowen Company here in Newport NewsY
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A. I did.
Q. During the conduct of your .business in connection with
that, did you have occasion to make any personal visits to the
city of Newport News~
A. I did.
Q. Did you have an occasion to meet a Mrs. Catherine
vVebb?
A. I did.
Q. Did you know Mrs. Webb prior to this, prior to the
meeting with herY Personally, I mean?
A. I had met her in -the office. I couldn't say I knew her,
because I didn't have much occasion to go into the Bowen
office.
Q. After this matter was brought to your attention, did
you attend any meeting concerning it at which 1\{rs. 'Vebb
was present?
page 1462 ~ A. Yes.
Q. Who else was at this meeting?
A. M·rs. ""Tebb and her mother and father, Mr. and 1.\Irs.
Heath.
Q. Did you have any discussion with then1 concerning any
payment of this loss to Bowen Company?
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, again I think the questions are g·etting pretty leading. I would like to suggest that
the proper question, I think, would be: 'vhat was the subject
of the discussion; who was it with? Every one of these questions is making a statement and asking for a confirmation
by the witness. All he is doing is leadingThe Court: Try to ask him. the question, and let him
answer it.

Q. Mr. Ganzert, what, if anything, was discussed at tl1is
meeting?
A. The matter of this shortage was discussed at that meeting.
Q. By whom 'vas it discussed?
A. By Mrs. Webb, and 1\fr. and 1\frs. Heath.
Q. Did you participate in the discussion 1
A. I did.
Q. All right, sir. "'\Vhat was said alJout it?
page 1463 ~ A. Well, 1\frs. 1-Ieath-Mrs. 'Vebb said she
just couldn't explain the audit report on it; that
she had been working at the Bowen Company since about
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1949, and that the first tin1e any question was ever raised in
'regard to her accounts was· the previous February.

By The Court:
Q. Previous what?
A. Previous February.
By Mr. Gtftrnett: (Continuing)
Q. When was this you wer~ talking with her, do you remember, Mr. Ganzert?
A. June 2, 1959.
Q. '\Vhat else was said about it?
A. That she was at a loss in some respects, because some
of her receipt books and her personal note book were missing.
She hadu 't been able to locate them.
·
Q. Did ~he explain to you what was in this personal note
bookY
A. No, sir. I don't recall that she did.
Q. All right, sir. \Yhat else was talked a bout?
A. Said that everytime anyone discussed a loss with them
it seemed to have gone up; that they had made an offer of
ten thousand dollars to settle the whole thing and that they
weren't in position to do any more than that, and that was all
they were going to do.
page 1464 ~ Q. Did you, during the course of your investigation, take a statement from Mrs. \VebbY
A. I did.
Q. In whose handwriting was the statement made f
A. In mine.
Q. Did anyone sign this statement Y
A. Mrs. Webb signed it.
Q. Do you kno'v whether or not she read it before she
signed it?
A. She did.
Q. Do you have the original of that. statement with you Y
A. I do.
Q. May I see it, please?
Note: The above referred to paperwriting is handed to
counsel.
:h1:r. Gtfl,rnett : I would like to have this marked for identification, please.
Mr. Baker: May we see it, if the Court please?
The Court: Yes, sir.
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Note: 'rhe above referred to statement is handed .to counsel, for examination. Whereupon it is marked for identification No. 104.
Mr. Garnett: Answer these gentlemen,

page 1465

r Ganzert.

~Ir.

CROSS EXA~IINATION.
By 1\.{r. Baker :
Q. ~fr. Ganzert, Mrs. vVebb at all times, including in this
statement that she gave you, assured you tha:t she had never
taken anything from Bowen Company funds for her own
use, did she not¥ She did both, in your statement and in oral
conversation with her as well Y
.A. Yes, sir. That's right.
Q. She told you that she was unable to explain the loss, as
the auditors had tried to explain them to her that she
couldn't understand them, is .that pot right, sir?
A. That's .right.
Q. Did you make any a.tt.empt to ascertain from her what
her ability to understand the books was, in your conversations
with herf
· A. No. I assunwd that she knew the books. She is the
bookkeeper.
Q. Did you tell us the date that this statement was made?
A. June the 2nd.
Q. June 2, 19591
A. Yes, sir.
Q. She told you as early as June 2, 1959 that
page 1466 ~ part of the records that n1igbt possibly explain
this were missing?
A. She said that. Yes, sir.
By The Court:
Q. She said what? I couldn't hear you.
A. That pa.rt of the records that may explain it were missing. That her personal notebook and receipt book were missing.
By Mr. Baker: (Continuing)
Q. And that she had requested the auditors and Bowen

C01npany to make those other additional records available,
she told you that she had requested that?
A. Tl1at's right.
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Q. And that they had not done sot
A. That's right.
Q. Mr. Ganzert, I am not going to n1ake any fun of anybody's handwriting, mine is bad enough, would you say
whether or not your handwriting there is at least a little
difficult for someone not familiar with it .to read~
A. I have been told tha.t it is very legible. I don '.t kno,v.
It can speak for itself.
Q. I have particular reference in the body of that s1:a tement don't you have Mrs. "\Vebb stating that she at one
time worked for Maureen Padgett Y
A. That was probably my understanding of her pronunciation of the name. 'Vhether tha.t is correct or
page 1467 r not I don't know.
· Q. If she read it and saw that that was wrong,
did she protest to you that she never worked for Maureen
Padgett that it should have been 1\{urray-Padget.t ~
A. She did not. If she had I would have corrected it.
Q. Do you know whether she read it carefully enough or
could read it carefully enough to catch that mistake, or do
you know?
A. She read it. That is all I can say. Whether she caught
that mistake I don't know, but she didn't say anything about
it. I'm sure.
Q. Well, I wonder, ~Ir. Ganzert, if you would mind reading
to the Court and into the record the statement that you took
f·rom 1\{rs. vV ebb on the statement of June 2, 1959 y Tha.t
would be Cmnn1onwealth Identification No. 104.
A. Statement of Mrs. Catherine 'V ebb: I first went to
work for Bowen Company in 1\{ay, 1949, as a clerk. I did not
take over on the books until a few months later, when some
shortages developed in the accounts of l\fiss Curtis. The
books were audited at that time and were audited at least once
a year during the entire period I was there. 1\{r. Whiteside
always did the auditing.
The very first tin1e that any question was ever raised concerning any irregularities in my accounts was
page 1468 ~ in February, 1959. Mr. Whiteside then questioned me concerning a deposit. It was customary to make a carbon copy of the de.posit slip.
I had placed a batch of checks in an envelope and someone
had opened the envolpe. In my hurry to get the deposit to
the bank, I apparently failed to make a duplicate of the de-
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posit slip. I called the bank and they gave n1e lists of the
checks. Before I could straighten out the 1natter Mr. "\Vhiteside had taken over all of the books. In fact, I understand
that a receipt book and my personal notebook are Inissing.
I asked then1 for the personal book, but it was never returned to me.
No one connected with the Bowen Company has ever gone
over the accounts with n1e and explained just what it was
that specifically made up the loss. In fact, the amounts have
seemingly been changed several tin1es.
Prior to working for Bowen I had been teaching n1usic.
"\Vhen I first left l1igh school I worked for Maureen PadgettI understand that should be l\'lurray-Padgett-for about four
years, then left on account of the birth of my son. After about
four years I went to work for the Commonwealth Attorney
and was with him until he was elected Judge. Follo,ving· that
I worked in the office of the Chief of Police for about four
years. Then resigned and had n1y second child. That was the
last tilue I worked until I went with the Bowen Company.
I maintain and I never knowingly or conscipage 1469 ~ ously appropriated any funds from the Bowen
Company. I simply cannot explain the results
of the audit. However, I did l1a.ve charge of the books.
In 1954 I was in the hospital and was away from the
office about one 1nontl1. So far as I know ~fr. ~fcl\Iurran did
n1ost of the book work then. Although I did have the accounts current book brought to n1y ho1ne and kept it up to
date.
I an1 employed at present at Fort l\fonroe at a wage
of fifty dollars per week. :fify husband · is employed as an
electrician at the shipyards. I do not know the mnount of his
earnings.
I have read the above statement of three pages, and same
is correct.
Q. Thank you, ~fr. Ganzert. As far as you can recall does
this statement fairly set forth the conversation that you
and ~frs. "\Vebb had with regard to this matter on the day
in question, and her position as taken on that occasion?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. I take it that you interviewed her and talked with her
and ~she with you and that when the interview was over you
then sat down and wrote out what you considered to be a fair
statement of the position she took at that time?
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A. It was-the statement was written as we
talked. I asked the questions and she g·ave 1ne
the answers.
Q. 'Vas 1\Irs. Webb cooperative with you, ~Ir. Ga.nze1·t!
A. Oh, yes. Yes, indeed.
Q. Very 1uuch so 1
A. Very much so.
Q. And offered no reluctance in signing this, did she?
A. None, whatever.
Q. At the time that you were talking to her, you had already identified yourself and what your position was with
the Globe. Co1npany, had you not·f
A. Yes. The appointment had been arranged through the
Bowen Cmnpany for 1ne to see her. I requested that.
Q. But you knew thatA. She knew me. l\1:rs. 'Vebb knew me.
e knew ench
other by sight.
Q. She knew in what capacity you were asking· these questions?
A. Yes, sir. '!'hey had plenty of conversation between her
and the, claims office. Of course she knew me. There is uo
question about that.
Q. Had there been other clailns out of the Bowen office that
vou had handled other than tlils?
·· A. You 1nean involving the Bowen Company personally?
Q. Yes, sir.
page 1471 ~ A. Not to my knowledge.
page 1470

~

'V

1\{r. Baker:

I believe that will be all, 1\fr. Ganzert.

"\Vitness stood aside.
J\'fr. Garnett: Call ~[r. Freen1an.
1\fr. Baker: If the ·court please-I will wait until the witness gets here-we object. again to recalling this witness who
has been examined fullv on exan1ination in chief and cross
exa1nined and exa1nined on redict over a period, according
to 1ny recollection, the better part of three days in fhis
case and after that released from the witness stand.
Again I know that whether a witness can or cannot lle re~alled is in the sound discretion of the Court. I feel there
Rhould be ~omething 1nore than just accumulation offered as an
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excuse for bringing back a witness who has already occupied
if not three days certainly the better part of three. days,
the better part of this case, and who has been released from
the witness stand.
~fr. Garnett: His Honor will recall, I am
page 1472 ~ sure Mr. Baker will, while Mr. Freeman was
under cross exan1ination by Mr. Baker there was
a question asked of him concerning a certain transfer of the
sum of $12,646.92 from the Bowen Company funds to Abbott,
Procter and Paine. At that time Mr. Baker asked Mr. Freenlan to explain this transaction in the books. Mr. Freeman
said tl1at it would take some little time for him to check
the t.ra.nsHction; he couldn't. put his finger right on it at
that time.
Mr. Baker said, well, we 'II come back to that question. He
didn't come back to it. It is now left up in the air, the
question that has been asked of Mr. Freeman concerning
this item of $12,646.92.
And now I would like Mr. Freeman, whom I am now advised
has exan1ined the books concerning that particular item and
·has refreshed his memory on it, to explain this transaction.
If Mr. Baker doesn't care to pursue the question, I would
like to pursue it.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I am deeply touched with
the concern that Attorney for the Commonwealth has in my
failure to follow up something that I started. As far as I am
concerned I am satisfied with the status of the record with regard to thnt tnatter as it stands. I \'•.ra.s interested in cross examining this witness and ascertaining what he
page 1473 ~ knew about the books as a result of the four hundred hours of examination that he said had been
done to qualify him to testify with regard to the books.
The fae.t that he 1nay or may not have been a])le to go out
and spend additional hours with the records on just one item
in the books is a matter tl1at is of no concern to me, if the
Court please. If the only reason he is calling this witness back
is for my benefit, because I started something and didn't come
back to it, then I waive the benefit, if the Court please.
The Court: The Court would like to hear it. Go ahead.
~{r. Garnett: Do you want to pursue the question, Mr.
Baker, or shall I Y
The Court: You called him.
J\1r. Garnett: All right.
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page 1474

~

ROBERT L. FREEl\fAN,
upon being recalled by Mr. Garnett, having been
previously duly sworn, testifies further as follows :
DIRECT EXAMINATION.

By Mr. Garnett:
Q. Mr. Freeman, if you will recall Mr. Baker asked you
concerning a transfer of $12,646.92 into the account of Abbott,
Proctor and Payne sometime in December, I think it was, of
1958; do you recall his questioning you about that?
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Since he asked you that question have you now looked at
the books concerning that transaction Y
A. Yes, I have, sir.
Q. Do the account books account for that transaction Y
A. Yes, it doe.s, sir.
Q. Would you mind tracing it through. please, to His Honor
to show him how it came about Y
A. I will be happy to. May I have the Cash Receipts Journal
and the Cash Disbursements for 19581
Q. Mr. Freeman, are you going to need more than one book
at a time?
A. Yes. It goes into three.
page 1475

~

Mr. Freeman, May I go to the table, Judge!
The Court : Yes, sir.

Note: The witness steps down from the witness chair and
goes over to the table, where the examination continues, viz:
By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. What do you want, Mr. Freeman?
A. The Cash Disbursen1ents Journal and the Cash Receipts
Journal for 1958.
Q. All right. I hand you the Cash Receipts Journal, that is
Commonwealth Exhibit No.9; Cash Disbursements, which is
Commonwealth Exhibit No. 13. 1\IIay I ask you this question,
1\{r. Freeman, have you ex~mined the bank statement and the
cancelled checks relative to that transaction?
A. Yes, I have, sir.
Q. I hand you here a Statement of Account, Bank of Warwick, and three cancelled checks, two deposit slips, and ask you
whether or not they are the records that you examined in connection with that transaction? Are they the bank records that
you have examined in connection '\Vith that transaction?
A. Yes, they are, sir.
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Q. All right, sir. Now, if you will, explain that transaction.
The Court: Bank of W a.rwick, you say?
~1:r. Garnett: Bank of Warwick.
page 1476 ~ 1\fr. Freeman: Yes, sir.
Q. If you will, explain that transaction as reflected by the
books, and tell His Honor whether or not it balances out in the
books and whether or not it in any way affects the understatement of liability to Globe or the other shortage as you have
already testified reflected by the books Y
A. All right, sir. This item originally appears in the Cash
Receipts Journal for 1958 on Page No. 45.
By the Court :
Q. Cash Receipts Journal, Page 45?
.A. Yes, sir. As a receipt from Investment Corporation for
$4, 701.95, and credited as Stock Sale for $4, 701.95. Then in
Cash Receipts in 1958, Page No. 47, appears the. receipt from
.Abbott, Proctor and Payne $7,944.97, credited over intoQ. What was that figure again Y
A. $7,944.97, credited over in Other Receipts, credited under that heading, in the amount of $7,944.97.
In the Cash Disbursements Journal for 19·58 appears a
check under date of August-recorded in the Journal on the
date of August the 5th to the Bank of Warwick, Check No.
C863, in the a1nount of $4, 701.~·5 with the credit under the designation Expenses, debit under Investment, is the classification of the $4701.95.
page 1477

~

By Mr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Do you have a check in your possession
there of that number and amount Y
A. Yes~ sir, I do.
Q. That is one of them that I just handed you f
.A. That is correct, sir.
Q. .All right.

By the Court:
Q. That is Cash Receipts-what page number?
.A. Cash Disbursements, page No. 26.
In the Cash Disbursements Journal for 1958, appearing on
Page 30, is the disbursement dated August 31, 1958, represented by check No ..C950, in the amount of $7,944.97. The
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charge, or debit, is under the Expense classification with the
designation of see stub, in the amount of $7,944.97.
These two amounts, the check referenced as No. C863 payable to .the Bank of Warwick is marked on the back for deposit
only, Bowen Company. That is $4,701.95. There was a deposit
in the Bank of Warwick, Bowen Company account, for $4,701.95 on August 5, 1958.
Check No. 950 for $7,944.97 is marked for deposit only to the
acc.ount of Bowen Company, is deposited under date of September 13, 1958, for fhe same anlount-$7 ,944.97.
In the Cash Disbursements Journal for 1958,
page 1478 ~ per Page 43, appears the credit to the Bank of
Warwick, $12,646.92, and a debit under the Expenses debit column described as AP&P investment, the same
amount $12,646.92.
Q. $12,646.92 y
A. Yes, sir. They are the items as recorded in the Journal
to both the cash receipts and the cash disbursements. If you
wish I can trace these postings on into the General Ledger.
By J\IIr. Garnett: (Continuing)
Q. Yes; ·will you trace them on into the General Ledger,
please?
A. I think they are looking at them. May I have the General
Ledger?
The Court: He wants the General Ledger.
Q. I hand you the General Ledger, which is Commonwealth
Exhibit No.7.
A. In the General Ledger account designated Investment
Account appears unde.r.the date of December 31, 1958 the debit
that I referred to from the Cash Disbursements Journal of
$12,646.92.
.
In the General Ledger under the account designated Investment Account (Bank of Warwick) appears the debit that I
referred to of $4,701.95.
Under the date of August 5, 1958, classified as deposited in
Bank of 'Varwick Account (Received from Inpage 1479 r vestment Corporation) referring to the Journal
folio reference J26, under date of August 31,
1958 the amount of $7,944.97 appears.
The debit that I referred to from the folio reference J30,
it is designated deposited in Bank of Warwick Account (Received from AP&P).
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Appearing in the General Ledger account designated Investment Account (Bank of Warwick) under the date of
December 31, 1958 appears the credit that I referred to of
$12,646.92, a designation-withdrawn-beside it.
That traces the items from the Cash Receipts and Cash
DisbursCinents into the General Ledger Account. And the sum
of the. $4,701.95 and the suu1 of $7,944.97 equals $12,646.92,
which represents the amount withdrawn from the Bank of
'Varwick, and equals the mnount charged in the Investment
Account-Deposited with Abbott, Proctor and Paine, under
date of December 31, 1958.
Q. Now, ~Ir. Freeman, ·based on your experience now as a
certified public accountant, would you say or not say that that
transaction is properly reflected in these boks Y
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Does this transaction in any wise affect the shortage to
which yon previously testified ?
.
A. No, sir. This item appears to be completely
page 1480 ~ accounted for, going in and out.
0

The Court: Being transferred in and being transferred
back out to another account.
Mr. Garnett: You may cross examine.
CROSS EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Baker:
Q. l\ir. Freeman, how n1uch thne. did you spend since you
"rere in co11rt yesterday working on this one item ·y
A. None, sir.
Q. you did not spend any timeA. Not on this i ten1.
Q. Who worked on that for you?
A. I worked it up n1ysclf.
Q. In no tin1e at all?
A. I didn't work it up last night. That was the question.
Q. I asked you how 1nuch time you spent looking this up
since you last testified.
The Court: You said yesterday, since he was in cour~
yesterday.
,
~ir. Baker: I'n1 sorry. I apologize to the Court for having
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made a mistake and said yesterday. Obviously I disturbed the
Court. I'tn sorry.
page 1481 ~ The Court : No, sir. You started to argue with
the witness. You made. a mistake with reference
to the question asked. That is the reason I corrected you.
Q. How muc.h time have you spent working up this one item,
at any tin1e, since you last testified with regard to itY
A. Possibly fifteen-twenty minutes.
Q. On one item?
A. Tracing these items in and out.
Q. How many items of similar nature would there be to
trace out, if you can estimate, in the books YThis is the Cash
Disbursements, is it not¥
A. Yes, sir.
Q. Ho'v many disbursements, if you can estin1ate, would
there be to trace out Y
A. I have no idea, sir.
Q. You have not traced the others out, except some selected
few¥
A. We went into that in detail as to what we did do earlier
Q. 1\{r. Freeman, the other day when we were talking about
this, the question wasn't where the money came from, was it 7
A. No, not as I recall it.
page 1482 ~ Q. Only your explanation today have been
leading up to 'vhere the money came from.
A. No, sir.
Q. You get up to the point where it is withdrawn from the
bank and that is where you stop today, isn't that right 1
A. No, sir.
Q. IIow far did you go past the withdrawal from the hankY
I thought the last thing you said was where it was disbursedwithdrawn1
A. No, sir. You're wrong. I showed you where it was
charged to the Invesbnent Account and deposited in the Abbott, Proctor and Payne, and end disposition of this particular
transaction; which question you asked nw, if n1y tnemory
serves me correctly, some several davs a.go.
Q. This question was with regard to the withdrawal from
Bowen Company deposits in December of 1958, was it not? Do
you remember Y
A. This question, you n1ean some several days ago 7
Q. Yes, sir.
A. I don't really recall.
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Q. Actually it is reflected as being withdrawn from the co~
pany account in the Bank of Warwick in December of 1958, 1s
it not?
A. The check is dated December 31, 1958.
page 1483 r Q. That is correct.
A. That is withdrawn from the company account.
Q. You were being interrogated the other day about this
twelve thousand six hundred some dollars along with the
twelve thousand dollar withdrawal to ~~r. Bowen personally
in the same month, were you not?
A. You asked questions pertaining to a twelve thousand dollar disbursement to ~{r. Bowen on the same day; yes, sir.
Q. Don't you recall, Mr. Freeman, we had gone over the relationship as shown by the books between accounts payableinsurance cost and total cash on deposit in both bank accounts;
you remember doing that, don't you Y
A. This quarterly analysis that you went outQ. Yes, sir. Coming up to 1958 when, if my recollection
serves me correctly, there was seventeen hundred dollars in
both bank accounts and eighteen thousand dollars in accounts
payable-insurance cost, was there notY
A. I don't recall those figures, sir. You would have to show
me those itmns. I c.an 't recall the particular figures.
Q. In any event, regardless of whether the cash showed seventeen hundred as against eighteen thousand dollars in accounts payable-insurance cost, you were then asked about
the withdrawal of the twelve thousand six hunpage 1484 ~ dred some. dollars to Abbott, Proctor and Payne,
and the withdrawal of twelve thousand dollars
to Bowen, personally, in the same month, and on the 31st day
of the month, thereby reducing the bank deposits to a ridiculously low figure compared to the accounts payable; that was
the context of the examination, was it not?
A. I don't know what you are trying to accomplish.
Q. The twelve thousand dollar withdrawal by Mr. Bowen on
Dec.ember 31, 1958, together with the twelve thousand six hundred-whatever this figure is here-constituted a withdrawal
from funds with which bills might have been paid of over
twenty-four thousand dollars, did it not?
A. Number one, this twelve thousand dollars is a withdrawal from the bank account which was put into the deposit
of Abbott, Proctor and Payne.
Q. It wasn't put in there until December 31, 1958, was it,
Mr. Freeman?
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A. We are both saying the same thing. That is correct. It
was put in there on December 31, 1958.
Q. On December 31, 1958 there was a withdrawal of twelve
thousand six hundred some dollars of company money that
might otherwise have been used to pay bills, and turned over
to Abbott, Proctor and Payne as an investment, that is right,
is it not?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. On the same day, December 31, 1958, there
page 1485 ~ was a withdra,val of twelve thousand dollars
payable to Mr. Bowen, personally, twelve thousand dollars that might otherwise have been used to pay bills,
is that not right 1
A. No, sir.
Q. When did he withdraw the twelve thousand?
A. December 19th.
Q. December 19th. I'm sorry. I apologize to you. So within
twelve days of the end of the year he withdrew-thirteen, I
guess-he withdrew twelve thousand dollars, personally, according to the books?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. On the 31st day of December, the last day of the year, he
caused a sum in excess of twelve thousand dollars to be withdrawn and put in the Abbott, Proctor and Payne invesbnent
account?
A. That is correct, sir.
Q. Regardless of whether the ratio 1700 to 18,000 is correct
or not, you do recall that it left a ridiculous relationship between cash to pay bills ·with and bills payable, do you not?
A. I recall the differences between the accounts payableinsurance and cash balance at various points ranging at various ratios whereby the accounts payable-insurance were
definitely in excess, substantially, than the cash on deposit in
the two accounts that you referred to; yes, sir.
page 1486 ~ Q. Depending on how you use the term shortage, there was certainly a shortage of funds as
of that thne with which,to pay bills, was there notY
A. Not the way I use the tern1 shortage, sir.
Q. There was insufficient funds to pay the bills with.
A. Cash on deposit with banks, as I said earlier, obviously
were under, in your example, the accounts payable-insurance; yes.
Q. You would certainly say as of that time the Bowen Company had the shorts, would you not 7
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A. No, I would not use that term because that term requiresMr. Baker: I have no further questions.
RE-DIRECT EXAMINATON.
By :h{r. Garnett :
Q. As a matter of fact, you explained something was due on
the accounts receivable at that time, did you notY
A. Oh, yes, sir. That is cor1·ect.
The Court: He also said something about sixty days within
which to pay the insurance.
~Ir. Garnett: That is right. That is all I have of this witness.
Witness stood aside.
l\1:r. Garnett: Now, Your Honor, may I have
about a five minute recess?
The Court: All right, sir.

page 1487}

IN CHAMBERS.
Note: A short recess is had, at which time counsel meets
with the Court in Chambers, in the defendant's presence, viz:
The Court: vVhat is it you want read back to me, something in the beginning of l\1:r. Bowen's testimony?
1\Ir. Baker: If the Court please, may I state my objection Y
The Court: State your objection
Mr. Garnett: Quit complaining. I want to find out if we
put the venue in. That is all. That is all I wa.nt to do. I want
to be sure that it is in the record where the Bowen Company
has been located all these years.
The Court. It has been testified to that his business was
located in Newport News.
Mr. Garnett: I thought it had. I just wanted to make sure.
If there is not going to be any question about it there is no
need in reading it back. If eve.rybody can agreepage 1488 } Mr. Baker: May we have this statement in
the record: Defendant -by counsel objects to the
court reporter's notes being made available to the Attorney
I
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for the Commonwealth, for the reason that the Commonwealth
has not participated in the cost of attendance of the court reporter; that the defendant by counsel has requested the Attorney for the Commonwealth to ask for an order to be
entered making it possible for the Commonwealth to participate in the c.ost of the attendance of the court reporter. The
Commonwealth has not seen fit to do so.
It is the position of the defendant that this record is subject
to availability to the Court at any time that the Court may
want it; but that for the purpose of aiding the Attorney for
the Commonwealth in the prosecution of this case no part of
it shall be available to him unless the Commonwealth participates in the cost of the attendance.
The offer is here again made for the Commonwealth to
share in the cost; not just at this stage of the proceedings, but
that of every day
The Court: l-Ie is not ordering a transcript. He just wants
to read back the record.
Mr. Garnett: I ·am not asking that it be made
page 1489 ~ available. I am asking that part of the testimony
be read back. If we can agree on the venue,
Ralph, we won't need to do that.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, we are not in a position to
agree with regard to anything. We are taking the position
that if the Attorney for the Con1monwealth wants access to
anythingThe Court: Read it back. Let's hear what he did say.
Note: At this point the court reporter reads the ·beginning portion of Mr. Bowen's testimony as requested by the
Court:
The Court: It was the Court's recollection that he did say
it. I wasn't sure. I wasn't positive whether he did or did not.
I was under the impression that he did. I wanted that part of
the record read, too. I don't see any harm in it.
Note: An off-the-record discussion is had, whereupon
Court, counsel and the defendant return to the courtroom
where the hearing continues, viz:
page 1490 }

In open court.

Mr. Garnett: Judge, I would like to recall W. C. Bowen
just for one question.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, I would like to object to
the recall of W. C. Bowen on two grounds: Number one, that
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he has been examined in chief, cross examined, and subject to
redirect and excused. Secondly, he came into the courtroom
while the case was in progress.
The Court: He came in; it was called to the attention of
Mr. Garnett, and he was asked to please leave.
1\:fr. Ga.rnett: He was not in the courtroom long.
The Court: He wasn't in the courtroom :fifteen seconds, I
would say, sir. What else do you want?
Mr. Baker: That is my objection.
The Court: I overrule that particular one. "\Vhat is the
next one?
Mr. Baker: It was a twofold objection, if the Court please:
Number one, he has been excusedThe Court: Yes, sir. I overrule that. Let's see what be
"rants, and then I will pass on it. Go ahead.
page 1491 ~ ::Mr. Baker: 'Vill the Court please note an
exception of the defendant by counsel for the
reasons stated.
WILLIAM COOPER BOWEN,
upon being recalled by Mr. Garnett, having previously been
duly sworn, testifies further as follows:
DIRECT EXAMINATION.
By Mr. Garnett:
Q. 1\fr. Bowen, I believe you previously testified that you
are in the insurance business in Newport News, is that right?
A. Yes, sir. That's right.
Q. Where is your office now located?
A. 135-27th Street, Newport News, Virginia.
Q. How long has it been located there?
A. A year ago this month, I believe.
Q. Where was it before then?
A. 136-28th Street, Newport News, Virginia.
Q. How long was your office located there?
A. On 28th Street?
Q. Yes, sir.
A. F!1tm 1941 until about a year and a fraction later.
Q. 1960?
page 1492 ~ A. 1960. Yes, sir.
Q. During the time that Mrs. Webb was employed by you, in which office did she work Y
A. She worked-
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Q. What was the location of it Y
A. She worked in the 28th Street office.

The Court: 136-28th Street.

Q.
A.
Q.
A.

That is in Newport NewsY
Newport News, Virginia; yes, sir.
Was all of he.r work in Newport NewsY
Yes, sir.

Mr. Garnett: That is all.
Mr. Baker: No questions.
Witness stood aside.
Mr. Garnett: Your Honor, the Commonwealth rests.
The Court: All right. The Commonwealth rests.
Mr. Baker: We would like a brief recess, if the Court
please.
page 1493 ~ The Court: How much time do you want, five
minutes!
Mr. Baker: That would probably be sufficient.
The Court: All right, sir.
Mr. Baker: I did not know that the Commonwealth was
going to rest this soon, otherwise, perhaps, the conference
might have been had during the last recess.
The Court: The Court will declare a short recess.
~Ir. Baker: Before the Court leaves. I want to make it
clear that this is a type of recess I think the Court would
recognize as leg·itimate at the conclusion of the Commonwealth's case.
The Court: Yes, sir. Certainly it is.
Mr. Baker: If it extends more than six minutes, I trust
that it will not be disenabling to the Court.
The Court: I hope not, too, sir.
Note: At this point a short recess is had, following which
the motion to strike the Commonwealth's evidence is made by
~Ir. Baker, viz :
page 1494 ~

Mr. Baker: . If the Court please, the defendant
at this time has a number of motions to make

to the Court.
For the purpose of convenience it is thought that perhaps
they can all be stated at a single time with right to argue the
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motions individually. It will probably be more prae.tical, for
everybody, for them to be argued together in a single argument in the motions that are being made at this time. I would,
however, indicate to the Court it is the desire of defense coun:sel that both of the attorneys for the defense be permitted to
argue these motions in view of the. fact there are a number
of motions, and propose, or suggest at least, fhe motions be
n1ade and argument reserved on all motions until all the motions have been cited to the Court so they can be argued.
Auothe.r way it. could be done is to split it and the argument
be divided in that manner. In the interest of time and coherence and cohesiveness it is our thought at least all the. motions should be before the Court before any argument is had.
"Tith the indulgence of the Court, we ask that we be permitted
to divide argument between counsel.
The Court: Does each counsel want to take up one motion
and rebut it and so on?
page 1495 ~ M~r. Baker: It is my opinion, if the Court
please, I say this in all sincerity, in the belief it
could be best tulderstood by the Court and handled in the least
expense of time if all the motions are made and argument is
had on the motions collectively, with the sole exception to the
general rule that in view of the fact tha.t there are a number of
motions that no objection be raised, that counsel not be permitted to interject objectionsThe Court: Of course I cannot say that objections will not
be 1nade.
You state your n1otions, then we will see.
~Ir. Baker: The defendant by counselrrhe Corrrt: Do you have a carbon copy of that, or shall I
write it down¥
l\fr. Baker: I have a carbon copy, if it please the Court. I
will give the Court the original and I will work from the copy.
The Court: That is all right. I don't mind having this.
:Mr. Garnett: If it is not asking too much, do you reckon I
can have !:l copy~ It seems to be rather lengthy.
The Court: It is only thre.e pages. Do you have another
.
copy, or should Ipage 1496 ~ ~Ir. Baker: I do not know whether we have
another copy here or not, Judge.
The defendant by counsel-! would like to say there was no
intent in preparing this in written form, other than for the
benefit of counsel making it to make sure the motions were
properly stated for the record, there was no intent to exclude
the Attorney for the Con1monwealth from having a copy. We
will locate one.
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The Court: He can have my copy if he wants it.
Mr. Garnett: We will take it down-my court reporter.
Mr. Baker: I will be glad to let the Attorney for the Commonwealth look at this copy.
Mr. Garnett: That is all right. Get on with the motions.
Mr. Baker: There is a longhand copy here from which this
was copied that I have.
~fr. Garnett: That's all right, J\fr. Baker. Go ahead with
your motions.
Mr. Baker: I have found one page of the longhand copy,
Judge, butMr. Garnett: We will take it down.
The Court: I will let hhn use mine. Go ahead,
page 1497 ~ sir.
1fr. Baker: The defendant, by counsel, moves
that the indictment in this case be dismissed; that the charges
and offenses alleged against her by said indictment be dismissed; and that she be dismissed as a defendant here.
In support of said motion and consistent therewith, the defendant makes additional n1otions as follows:
I. The defendant renews her motion to quash the indictment herein upon the ground that the same charges the defendant with the commission of a felony; that the defendant
was arrested upon such charge; that the defendant has been
denied the benefit of a preliminary hearing and has not waived
the same in writing; and that the indictment herein was returned by the Grand Jury without prior preliminary hearing
being either had or waived; all in violation of statutes in such
cases made and provided and in violation of the guaranties
of protection of due process of law afforded by the constitutions of the Con1monwealth of ·virginia and the United States
of America as well as the guaranties of equal protection of
the laws as provided by the constitution of the United States
of America, the protection of all of which statpage 1498 ~ utes and constitutional provisions is hereby invoked by the defendant.
II. The defendant moves that all of the evidence offered
by the C01nmonwealth be stricken upon the grounds that the
corpus delicti of the offense charged has not been established
by any evidence.
III. The defendant moves that all of the evidence offered
by the Commonwealth be stricken for the reason that:

Catherine Webb v. Commonwealth of Virginia

847

a. No shortage in the funds of Bowen Company, Incorporated has been shown by any competent evidence to have
existed during the period covered by the indictment.
h. There is no co1npetent evidence that a shortage in Bowen
Company, Incorporated funds, if any, was the result of the
wrongful or unlawful act of anyone.
c. There is no evidence that a shortage, if any, in the
Bowen Company, Incorporated funds, even if resulting from
wrongful or unlawful act of someone, was the result of any
wrongful or unlawful act of the defendant.
d. There is no evidence that a shortage, if any, in the
Bo,ven Cmnpany, Incorporated funds occurred
page 1499 ~ with regard to any funds in the possession of the
defendant by reason of any trust relationship.
e. There is no evidence of the conversion of any of the
funds of Bowen Company, Incorporated by the defendant to
her own use.
IV. The defendant 1noves tha.t all evidence offered bv the
Commonwealth upon the issue of any alleged embezzle~ents
or acts of embezzlement occurring more than six months subsequent to January 1, 1952, the date first alleg·ed in the indictment as the commencement of the alleged embezzlement or
embezzlements be stricken.
V. The defendant moves that all evidence offered by the
Commonwealth upon the issue of any alleged act or acts of
embezzlement occurring prior to the year 1954 be stricken for
the reason that Bowen Con1pany, Incorporated 'vas not in
existence prior to said date and none of its funds could have
been misappropriated prior to that date.
VI. The defendant moves that aU of the testimony of the
witness Freeman be stricken for the reason that any conclusions drawn from his testimony on the. issue of the existence
or non-existence of a shortage are disclosed by
page 1500 r his evidence to be based upon an insufficient examination of the reports which examination he
admits would fail to disclose or verify other factors which
would affect the existence or non-existence of a shortage, the
amount thereof, if any, or the manner in which such shortage
if any, was created.
' '
VI (a). Not included on the copy furnished to the Court.
The defendant moves that all of the testimony of the witness
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Whiteside be stricken for the reason that any conclusions
drawn from his testimony on the issueThe Court : 'Vhere did you say this one wast I don't have
it.

1\IIr. Baker: I am inserting another one, if the Court please.
It will be VI(a).
The Court: All right.
·
Mr. Baker: That will be the san1e as ntotion No. VI except
it will apply to the testi1nony of the witness 'Vhiteside instead
of the witness Freeman.
VI (a). Starting over. The defendant moves that ull of
the testimony of the witness Whiteside be stricken for the
reason that any conclusions drawn from his testimony on the
issue of the existence or non-existence of a shortpag·e 1501 ~ age are disclosed by his evidence to be based
upon an insufficient exanunation of the records
which exan1inat.ion he admits would fail to disclose or verify
othe.r factors which would affect the existence or non-existence
of a shortage, the amount thereof, if any, or the manner in
which such shortag·e, if a.ny, was created.
VII. The defendant 1noves that all evidence offered by the
Commonwealth purporting to show shortage by amount and
by accounting periods be stricken for the reason that information regarding the same was sought by defendant by motions for Bill of Particulars, that the COinmonwealth was by
orde-r of the Court directed to furnish information concerning
the smne Bill of Partieulars, but that the Commonwealth failed
to comply with said order and failed to furnish information
concerning the. same upon a representation that it was intpossible to comply with said order, as a consequence of which the
Commonwealth should be limited in its proofs to matters disclosed by its Bill of Particulars.
·viii. The defendant n1oves that all of the testimony given
by the witness Fremnan upon the question of lapping be
stricken for the reason that the term lapping as used bv the
witness is disclosed by his own testimony to inpage 1502 ~ elude a conclusion by the witness as to guilt, on
which the opinion of a witness may not properly
be received.
If the Court please, these are the motions made on behalf
of the defendant at this tin1e reserving the just benefit of all
otl1er exceptions taken during the course of the trial of this
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case, and not intending to waive any of such objections by
failure to include them· in the formal motions made at this
time.
We would like, if the Court please, and if it is consistent
with the Court's view of the proper handling of the argument
on these motions, to argue all the motions together. We would
like the opportunity of dividing argument between counsel
because of the number of motions. I say in all sincerity to the
Court that we can take them up one at a time, opening and
closing on each, and accomplish what we consider necessary
in coverage from the defendant's point of view in that manner. I do believe, in all sincerity, that the relaxation of the general rule limiting argument on a single motion to one attorney
to a side would probably-if that will be relaxed would
inure to the benefit of all concen1ed. vV e suggest, if the Court
please, in view of the time factor and ask that indulgence by
the Court.
page 1503 ~ The Court: Do you have any objections?
Mr. Garnett: I have this observation to make
relative to these motions: In essence, this is all one motion
in which they have asked that the indictment be dismissed.
Several of the grounds stated, of course I was without
benefit here of a wdtten copy but, as I made n1y notes as they
went along, several of the grounds have already been argued
at grea.t length in this case. I do not think it would be proper
for the Court to entertain argument on them, having· already
been argued and ruled on.
I direct the Court's attention first of all to the motion to
quash the indictment on the grounds that the defendant was
not accorded a preliminary hearing. Now that has been
argued by counsel and it has been ruled on by this Court. I
would sugg·cst that the Court not entertain argument on that,
but just make note of the renewal of the motion to quash.
Furthermore, on the grounds that certain evidence be
stricken because of smne failure on the part of the Attorney
for the Comn1onwea.Ith to furnish certain information in a
Bill of Particmlars, such as counting dates, etc. That has
already been argued on as the evidence went in,
page 1504 ~ and the Court has already ruled on that.
In the spirit of saving time, Your Honor, I do
not think the Court ought to entertain argument on that
particular point.
I believe, Your Honor, they are the onlyThe Court : The second one, that all of the evidence offered
by the Commonwealth be stricken upon the grounds that the
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corpus delicti of the offense charged has not been establishedMr. Garnett: I do not think that has been argued, Your
Honor, as yet.
The Court: No.
Mr. Garnett: On the last ground, that Freeman's testimony
relative to any expression of lapping-Let me see how they
worded that. The defendant n1oves that all of the testimony
given by the witness Freeman upon the question of lapping
be stricken for the reason that the term lapping as used by
the witness is disclosed by his own testimony to include a
conclusion by the witness as to guilt, on which the opinion ·of
a witness may not be properly received.
Your Honor, as I recall, that question was
page 1505 ~ asked by Mr. Baker himself and, as I recall,
there has never appeared in this record any
objection to that testimony when it went in. I believe the
objection now is not seasonable.
Otherwise, Your Honor, I am ready to argue the motion.
Mr. Baker: If the Court pleaseThe Court: Do you have additional facts or authorities
you want to showf i will be glad to hear you. If you haven't,
I have already passed on it.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, counsel is already aware
of the fact that its motion to quash was argued at som·e
length. I urge upon the Court, my sincere belief is that the
Court erred in that respect. I think it is the duty of counsel
not only in representing this defendant but a.s an officer of
this court if there is a conscientious belief the Court has
erred, it is a duty of mine, as an officer of this court, to try
to point out in what respect the Court did err.
Note: At this point the motion to quash is argued by
counsel which the reporter records but does not here incorporate into this transcript in the interest of brevity, following which the Court states as follows:
page 1506 ~

The Court.: The Court will pass on it now.
The Court ove-rrules the motion on that phase,
the same as it did at first.

Note: The further grounds of the motion to strike are
argued by 1\tir. Baker, which the reporter does not here place
in the transcript.
Thereupon Court is adjourned for the day.
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August 14, 1961.
N·ote: Court is reconvened and argument is made by Mr.
Ferguson on the defendant's motion to strike the evidence;
recess is had from 10 :48 A.M. until 11 :00 A.M.; following
said recess Mr. Garnett answers the argument of Mr. Baker
and lVIr. Ferguson. Thereupon recess was declared at 1:00
P .1f. for lunch.
At 2 :00 P.J\1:. the argument was resumed by Mr. Baker, at
the conclusion of which recess is had, and at about 3:35 P.M.
following said recess the Court states as follows :
T·he Court: The Court has already ruled on one of your
motions, Mr. Baker and 1\tir. Ferguson. The Court has already
ruled on one of the motions~fr. Baker: Yes, sir, we understand that.
The Court: -at the preliminary hearing in this matter.
1\IIr. Baker: Yes, sir.
The Court: The Court overrules the remaining motions
at this time.
lVIr. Baker: May the record sho'v that the defendant by
counsel excepts to the ruling of the Court in
pag·e 1509 ~ overruling motions, I, II, II, IV, V, VI, VI (a),
VII and VIII for the reasons assigned in oral
argument on the motions, it being specifically understood
that counsel is willing at this tin1e to .state specifically the
grounds of exceptions-it being understood that counsel is
willing· to state specifically the grounds of exception with
regard to each motion except that it is thought that the
Court probably would not want that time taken. But if there
is any question about the grounds of the exception incorporated in .argument advanced in connection with the motion,
counsel 'vill at this time take the time. The main point being counsel does not appear to waive stating grounds of exception which normally is required. So if the Court would indicate whether it desires the grounds of exception stated
specificall:; with regard to each motionThe Court: I do not know as that is necessary, sir.
1\IIr. Baker: Can it be understood, if the Court please, that
nothing is waived by failin~ to sta.te the grounds of exception at this time, and that the grounds pursuing in argument
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be assigned as grounds of exception to the Court's ruling on
each of the motions?
page 1510 ~ The Court: All right, sir.
Mr. Baker: Thank you, sir. :May we have a
short recess, if the Court please?
The Court: How long will you need 1
Mr. Baker: I might say that the action of the Court
in overruling all the motions was not really anticipated by
counsel. We would like to confer for a few n1oments, sir.
The Court: I will give you a short recess. I will declare
a s'hort recess.
Note: At this point a short recess is had until 3 :52 P .~t
"\Vhereupon the bearing continues, viz:
}!r. Baker: There is one thing, if the Court please, before
we proceed with any witnesses for the defense, we would like
to renew our motion with regard to the so-called Mapes report. As of the present status of the matter, at least, the defendant certainly contemplates the probability of using Lt.
Mapes as a defense witness.
The Court: Yon can summons him, sir.
Mr. Baker: I understand that, sir. ~{y understanding of
the matter ispage 1511 ~ The Court: I-Iave you summonsed him at all¥
~Ir. Baker: :My understanding of the matter
is, if the Court please, he was advised that he has not been
excused as a witness, 'having been sununonsed by theThe Court: I do not know. I have not excused hhn, I
don't think. I do not remember excusing him.
1\fr. Baker: That is rig·ht, sir.
The Court: He has not been called as a witness ..
Mr. Garnett:· No, sir. I advised the Court I had withdrawn my subpoena on him, and the Court advised the defense if they wanted him they could subpoena him.
The Court: I ren1ember telling them they could summons
him. "\Vhere is he now 1 Do you want to summons him 1
~Ir. Ferguson: I think he is in New York, sir, from my
inf·ormation.
Mr. Baker: My understanding of the matter is, if the
Court please, he had been subpoenaed by the Attorney for
the Commonwealth. I can reca.Il making the point that having
been subpoenaed he could be excused only by the Court.
We asked that he not be excused.
page 1512 ~ The Court: I do not recall you ever tellin~
me that, that you asked that he not be excused,
sir.
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Mr. Garnett: The thing is, Your Ifonor, he was sumnlonsed not through the processes of the Court but through
the processes of the office of the Attorney for the Commonwealth. Then we did not see fit t·o use him as a witness, and
we did not call him, and advised fhe Court on the first dayThe Court: He was not called the first day. Tha.t is rigl1t.
~Ir. Garnett: He was not sworn. lie does not become a
eourt 's witness until he is sworn in. Then he becomes a
court's witness. If they want him, they can get him if they
need him.
I understand-! am not trying to hide him-that he went
on vacation to his hom.c.
The Court : When will he be back, do you know f
1\fr. Garnett : I think in a day or two, Judge.
Mr. Baker: In a.ny event, if the Court please, the motion
n1ade at this tin1e is not with regard to the witness himself
and who subpoenaed him, it is with rega:rd to the
page 1513 ~ report that has been called the 1\IJ:apes R.eport,
which I suppose is as good a name as any.
The report of his investigation that he has made, and with
regard to which 1\{r. l\fapes 'has indicated be would have to
have access for refreshing his own n1e1nory before he could
either one, discuss the matter with counsel for the defense intelligently and number two, before he could give testimony
concerning his investigation because of the extensive nature
of the investigation extending over some period of time.
There seems to be some n1isunderstanding, in my mincl at
least, if not in fhe minds of anyone else, concerning the
status of the motion for the production of that. report and the
Court's position with any regard to such n1otion. It is my
understanding that the Attorney for the Comn1onwealth has
indicated in pre-trial arg'Uments to the CourtThe Court: I do not remember that con1ing up on pretrial conference. T1w argument, I believe, came up after we
started this case.
J\{r. Garnett: That is true.
The Court: And as I recall, at that time I told you you
could SUlllillODS him.
l\fr. Baker: My recollection may serve me
page 1514 ~ incorrectly, but I thought that we had madeThe Court : I do not know that he has a
report officially, only by 'vhat~Ir. Garnett: I have it in my file. I have the report. I
told Mr. Baker I had it.
Mr. Baker: The point of the matter is, whether it was in
pre-trial argument, if the Court please, or argument during
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the course of the trial, n1y recollection was that it was in pretrial arg·ument that the Attorney for the Commonwealth
stated that he would not honor a subpoena duces tecum if it
were issued. I thought that the CourtThe Court: Who 'vould not honor it Y
lVIr. Baker : The Attorney for the Commonwealth stated
that he would not honor a subpoena d'ltees tecum if it were
issued. I thought the Court indicated that it would not
issue a. subpoena duces tecum for the report.
The Court: You misunderstood. I do not know anything
about the report, why you would have to ·have it, or why
you do not have to have it. I do not know anything about
it, ~{r. Baker. I have never seen it. I do not know 'vhat it
eontains. I do not know whether it would be evidence or not.
:J\.Ir. Baker : I have not seen it, either, if the
page 1515 ~ Court please.
lVIr. Garnett: J ndge, it was an investigation
nwde of serious aspects of this case on my instructions for
nty use in preparing the case for the Comnwnwealth to present to this Court. I took the position then, I think the
Court is in agreentent, and I take the position now that that.
was part of my investigation and that these people are not
entitled to have tl1at report.
I told them if they wanted to talk to Lt. ~Iapes about it
that I will be glad to let Lt. Mapes use the report to refresh
his 1nemory as to what occurred. I told them furthern1ore
that it is not evidence in that there is no information in that
report that they ought not to have in their own files, and
should have in their own files, because every bit of it is
within the personal knowledge of the defendant-everything
that is in there.
The Court: I see you have it in the order here. I will
take it up after we ·hear tl1ese witnesses. I will take it
under advisement for the time being again.
Mr. Baker: The only difficulty about it being taken under
advisement, if the Court pleaseThe Court: I will pass on it this afternoon
page 1516 ~ when I get you all together to see what we haYe
done with it.
1\tfr. Baker: All right, sir .
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I would like to state for the record, please, sir, that we
have caused a summons to be issued for Lt. H. C. Mapes.
1\7 e understand tbat Mr. Mapes is out of the city at present
on his va.~ation and is not expected back until sometime next
week. We feel that Lt. Mapes is a material witness in this
case.
The Court: Let me ask you first, are you within the Rules
of Court under the summons?
page 1538 ~ Mr. Ferguson: We have not actually had
him served, Your Honor. "\Ve were under the
hnpression that he 'vas under subpoena butThe Court: It is my recollection that on the opening day
of trial, the 27th of July, I believe, that Mr. Garnett said he
would not need him, he did not have him sworn, and that is
the end of that, so far as I know.
:Nlr. Ferguson: I{e was sick that day, according to what
I understand.
The Court: He appeared here and was told at that time
that it was not necessary to remain, or words to that effect.
Mr. Garnett: My understanding w.as that he 'vas still in
the hospital. I understand, however, he was discharged the
day .before fr01n the hospital.
The Oourt : He did a.ppear1\fr. Ga!"llett: I understand 1\fr. ~{apes did appear, and I
saw him later in the day.
The Court: I-Ie hasn't been summonsed from that day to
this, that I know about.
Mr. Garnett: No, sir. He bas not been sumn1onsed. Your
I-Ionor advised counsel if tlwy wanted to issue a s:ubpoena
for him they could so so; they did not do it.
page 1539 ~ ~Ir. Ferguson: At that time we were after
his report. The Court definitely ruled we could
not sec the report. But we would still like to call the man
himself.
The Court: All right. You have a right. You had a right
then to summons him, as the Court told you.
Mr. Ferguson: I thoug·ht we were talking about the subpoena d'uces ternl1n at that time, Your Honor. I was not aware
that Mr. Mapes was not summonsed as a witness.
The Court: The order says you can summons him. Let
me see the order again. Let me see the order.
Mr. Ferguson: I think the order does say that.
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Mr. Garnett: At that time he was still in town.
The Court: You haven't done it for two weeks.
N ot.e: At this point an off-the-record discussion is had
following which a short recess is had until 11:00 o'clock,
whereupon the hearing continues, viz:
page 1540

~

Mr. Baker : If the Court please, the defense
at this time finds it inadvisable and improper
in the procedure of the defense to proceed w·ithout the availiability as a witness of Lt. H. .C. ~{apes of the Newport
News Police Detective Force. A subpoena was issued for
~{r. ~{apes only this morning.
The Court: Only this n1orning?
Mr. Baker: Attempt to serve that subpoena has resulted
in information that he is out of the city-I believe in
Baltimore-and 'he is not expected to be back in the city
and available to the services of the subpoena until Monday,
August 28th.
At this tin1e we n1ove the Court that the trial of this case
be adjourned until Monday, August 28th, at which time this
witness, whose materiality we vouch for, will be available.
The Court: The Court would like to know the ma.terialty
of the witness now for the record who is not available to
testify.
~ir. Baker: The n1ateriality, if the Court please, aceording
to information received by c.ounsel for the defense, I.A. Mapes
'vas assigned to investigate this defendant by the Attorney
for the Comtuonwealth, which investigation Lt. ~!apes n1ade
under the direction of the Attorney for the Cmnmonwealtlt.
The investigation was of .a rather extensive napage 1541 ~ ture, having as ·one of its major purposes the
ascertainment of any evidence of unusual expenditure by the defendant, or increase in net w·orth, or any
unusual bank deposits, or any unusual purchases, or any
other expenses or expenditures or accumulation of wealtl1
which could not reasonably be accounted for out of her
norn1a.l incon1e, and made a report of that investigation to the
Attorney for the Commonwealth.
It is our further information that Lt. ~fapes upon completing that inve.sti<ra.tion, in reaching such conslusions as he
made wit.h regard to it, recon1mended and requested of the
Attorney for the Commonwealth that he be permitted to conduct the san1e type of investigation as to the financial activities of other possible suspects of this case, and was
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denied permission to make that investigation by the Attorney
for the Commonwealth.
Mr. Garnett: I w.ould like to inquire who made such a
statement as that. Put it in the record. If it is not going to
be stated as to who made it, then I move it be stricken from
this record.
The Court: "\Vho made it, 1\Jir. BakerY
~Ir. Baker: If the Court please, I am not at liberty to disclose the source of this information. It was an
page 1542 ~ extren1ely confidential source of information.
The Court : Did you know this at the time
trial started on the 27th of Julyf
l\ir. Baker: Not all of it, sir.
l\fr. Garnett: They asked me about the ~iapes report before the trial started.
The Court: "\Vhen did you know it, sir1 Today is the 15th
of August.
1\t!r. Baker: Part of it, if the Court .please, was ascertained only yesterday, I believe, sir.
The Court : 'Vhy didn't you issue the subpoena yesterday Y
'Vhy did you wait until today f
l\fr. Garnett: They haven't stated anything, Your I-Ionor.
They haven't stated anything here that they didn't state
in the meeting the other day with the Court, except this
thing about my forbidding Lt. 1\fapes to investigate anybody
else. That is the only thing that they have come forward
with.
They did know it at least on the 29th, and they will not
deny, I trust, that they spoke to me about the Mapes report
before this trial ever started.
l\fr. Baker: If the C{)urt please, we were not aware of the
1\fapes re.port before the trial starterl. It was
page 1543 ~ our understanding-We did request the A ttorney for the Commonwealth by letter to advise
us of the names of the witnesses that would be subpoenaed
on behalf of the Commonwealth. We do not contend the Comnlonwealth or the Attorney for the Commonwealth is required
by la'v to do so; nonetheless, he did. Included in the list
to be subpoenaed was Lt. 1\fapes.
On tl1e morning this trial commenced, on July 27th, Lt.
Mapes wa~ in the courtroom prior to the convening of court.
A.t the tiule the court convened, the witnesses were called by
fhe Clerk to be sworn, witnesses subpoenaed in behalf of the
Commonwealth. Lt Mapes' name was called, a.nd the Attorney for the Com1nonwealth then advised the Court, and the
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Clerk, and for the first time counsel for the defense as well,
that he had excused Lt. Mapes as a witness.
The Court: He did not call him. He said he 'had excused
him, that he did not want him.
Mr. Garnett: Lt. Mapes was not called and was not
sworn.
The Court: At that time Lt. ~fa pes left the eourtromn,
don't forget.
Mr. Baker: At that time Lt. Mapes had alpage 1544 ~ ready left the courtroon1, presumably being excused by the Attorney for the Commonwealth.
. At that time counsel f.or the defense, if the Court please,
objeeted to Lt. Mapes being excused and took the position that
having been subpoenaed he oould only be excused by the
Court. Thereupon some argument ensued as to whether Lt.
Mapes has been subpoenaed by Court order, by the Clerk,
or by process .out of the office of the Attorney for the Cmnmonwealth. It developed he had been subpoenaed by process
issued by the Commonwealth Attorney.
The Court: The Commonwealth Attorney stated before
the Court that he did not want hhn because he understood
he "ras sick in the 'hospital, or words to that effect.
Mr. Baker: That is true.
The Court: That is right.
1\Ir. Baker: I am sure the Attorney for the Commonwealth was honest in his representation.
The Court: After a few n1oments he can1e into the courtroom.
~ir. Baker: No, sir. He had been in the courtroom previous to that, if the Court please, and had left a few moments
later. Captain vVea.ver indicated Lt. Mapes was not in the
hospital but was working that day. I don't
page 1545 ~ think that was stated in the presence of the
Court.
I feel in .all sincerityThe Court: l-Ie can1e in the courtroom about that tin1e
and left.
~fr. Baker: I feel in all sincerity, if the Court please,
that the Attorney for the Commonwealth was sincere in his
representation of his opinion that Lt. Mapes was still in the
hospital. I don't ehallenge it in any degree.
lVIr. Garnett: vVe took it up with the Court at that tilne,
and, a.s f:1 matter of faet. counsel were advised that t11ev
could have him summonsed at that time, but they didn't do it.
Mr. Baker: There is some confusion in the minds of
counsel for the defense and apparently a lack of mutual un-
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derstanding between defense counsel and the Court as to
'vhat ensued. It was our understanding, or misunderstanding
as .the case may be, that it was conceded that if the defendant
did object to the excusing of Lt. Mapes that he, along with
other witnesses, would be subject to call.
The Court : I don't remember that, sir. I don't remember
Lt. Mapes being subject to call.
Mr. Baker: It is a possibility, if the Court
page 1546 ~ please, counsel for the defense is in error in
that. Counsel is stating to the Court truthfully
l1is recollec.tion of what the understanding was. If there
is any failure on the part of counsel to issue additional
subpoena for Lt. Mapes until yesterday it is by reason of
that understanding, or misunderstanding as the case may
me, that he would be reg-arded as still under subpoena and
subject to call, like many other witnesses were released-because of the known length of this trial-to be called when
needed.
The Court : I think the Court order shows, and I so
ruled, that you had a right to subpoena him at that time
if you wanted him.
Mr. Garnett : And he was still in town.
Mr. Baker: I think that, if the Court please, the Court's
observations are correct in connection with the motion subsequently Ina de by defense counsel on the 29th day of JulyThe Court: That is right.
Mr. Baker: -for a motion for an orderThe Court: At which time I understand he was here.
Mr. Baker :-for a motion for an order requiring the Attorney for the Commonwealth to release Lt.
page 1547 ~ Mapes fron1 dominion with the A.ttorney for
the Cmnmonwealth, and permit Lt. 1\Iapcs to
discuss the case 'vith counsel for defense; and also as part of
the same motion, .an order to require the Attorney for the
Comn1onwea.lth to release to Lt. 1\Iapes his own report so l1e
would be in position to discuss the case intelligently with'counsel for defense.
That motion was arguerl extensively. The Court's ruling
'vas that the produetion of the report would not be required,
but tha.t we could call Lt. Mapes, and I believe in the final
· draft of the order did say say 've could subpoena him. I am
not sure just 'vhat the la.ngl}age used was.
The Court: The order will show that.
1\!r. Bal\:er: Yes, sir. I am sure at that time the Court
ruled that we were not within the Rules of Court.
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The Court: Is there any other witness? I will ask you
againMr. Baker: I take it that the Court's ruling that we are
not within the Rules of Cour.t carries with it the implication
that the motion for adjourmnent until August 28th is
denied?
The Court: That is right.
M;r. Baker: 1\iay the record show that the
page 1548 ~ defendant by counsel excepts to the ruling of
the Court in refusing· to gTant its motion to adjourn this matter until August 28th.
The Court: Yes, sir.
J\IIr. Baker: The defense rests, if the Court please.
The Court: All right. Now how long will you want to
argue the case?
Mr. Baker: The defendant by counsel w,ould like at this
time to renew all of the· motions made, and advise .the Court
that we would not go into detail in argument on many of
them. T'here are some, particularly those dealing with the
evidence, in which the ruling and interpretations are different now that all of fhe evidenc-e is in th.atn was the case at
the time the motions were made at the conclusion of the
Com.Inonwealth's case when, admittedly, all the Coinmonwealth had to do was establish a prirna facie case.
At this time the rule of evidence is that the Commonwealth
must prove the offense beyond all reasonable doubt. We
would like an opportunity to argue on a limited basis that
phase of the matter on n1otion at this thne to dismiss.
The Court: It is the satne evidence. Is it the sa1ne argument on the same evidence The only thing
page 1549 ~ we have had since then is the character witnesses
for Mrs. "\\T ebb.
}.{r. Baker: That is true, sir, if the Court please, but I
think there would be some authorities that might be cited
to the Court and some argutnent that might be proper to the
evaluation of all of the evidence as of .this stage of the trial
that would not have been proper at the time that the nwtions
were a.rg'Ued at the conclusion of the Commonwealth's case.
For the record, without taking the .time to do so, I would
like at this time to renew all of the motions made at the .
conclusion of the Commonwealth's case and furnished to the
Court in men1orandum form. .
The Court: Yes, sir. I have that and it is filed with the
Clerk.
Mr. Baker: The main motion being to dismiss and the
subsidiary motions, Nos. I, II, III, IV, V, VI(a), VII and VIII.
0
/
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We would like t'he opportunity to argue those motions. There
are nine motions which deal with suffieiency of the evidenc.e
as of this stage of the trial, when .the burden of proof must
be beyond a reasonable doubt. I feel the argument will be
much more lin1ited than the case of prior argument.
The Court : I "rill hear you, go ahead.
page 1550 ~ Mr. Garnett: May I interpose right here,
Your If.onor, I want it thoroughly understood
that in the presentation of the criminal case the Commonwealth has the privilege of opening and closing. I have no
objection to counsel rearguing their n1otion; that is their
privilege. I want it understood I am in no wise waiving my
rig-ht to close this argument.
Mr. Baker: I think the observation-so tha.t we all understand each other-by the Attorney for the Con1n1onwea.lth
is correct. So far as arguing the case goes he has the right
to open and close. So far as the rights on motions are concm·ned, I think the proponent of the n1otion has the right to
open and (•lose the argument.
Mr. Garnett: 'Ve are saying substantially the same thing.
Note : Following the making of the above motion it is
argued at length by 1\'Ir. Baker. At the conclusion of this argunlent a short recess is had, whereupon, reply is made to
l\1r. Baker's arg·ument by ~fr. Garnett. During the argument
nwde by 1\ir. G,arnett the following excerpt wa.s objec.ted to by
counsel, Hnd during his argument he continues, as follows:pag-e 1551

~

1\fr. Garnett: e • • Now, Your Honor, they
talk about the custody. First they say, and I
didn't dispute them on this, although I do not recall the
evidence on it, and I rather think they got it from somewhere
besides the witness· stand, that each morning; lVfrs. I(inlock
counted out a hnndrP-d dollars for petty cash and she then
turned over to lVIrs. 'Vebh the rest of the money. Well, they
said that. They said that wa~ the evidence. I not only
heard 1\fr. Baker say it today, but lVfr. Ferguson said it
yesterday.
1\fr. Baker: If the Court please, I hate to do this, but
certainly I might be mistaken about what other people say
and I might be n1istaken what I say, but I don't think so.
'Vhat. I said was there was not one scintilla of evidence to
show that ~fl's. J{inloc.k ever turned any money over to ~frs.
"Tebb. I dtcl not say at the close of the day Mrs. l{inlock
turned over the nloney .to 1\frs. vVebb. I denied the evidence
discloses any such thing.
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The Court: You inferred ~irs. Kin lock was the one who
had the money to start with.
1¥Ir. Baker : Yes, sir.
Mr. Garnett: I-Ie started out by saying let us look a.t a
typical day in Bowen Company, and he took us to the post
office where he sa.id Mrs. I(inlock got the money.
page 1552 } Nobody else said so.
The Court: Got the mail.
Mr. Garnett: I mean got the n1ail. Nobody else said so.
He said so.
The Court:· He said they both went to the post office together, as I understood Mr. Baker.
Mr. Garnett: So far as 1¥Ir. McJM:urran knew tha.t is what
occurred. The first thing- 1\Irs. Kinlock did, she counted out
a hundred dollars a.nd she put it in petty cash and gave the
rest of the money to :1\irs. "\Vebb.
Mr. Baker: I never said she gave the rest to ~Irs. Webb.
The evidence does not show she ever gave any n1oney to l\Irs.
V\Tebb.
1vfr. Garnett: If we read back out of your argument you
will find you did say it.
The Court: I understood him to say it could ·happen tltat
way. It was an iuference.
1\fr. Baker: I said, if the Court please, the evidence discloses that l\1:rs. l{inlock would count out a hundred dollars
and put it in the cash drawer. The evidence does not show
what she did with the rest of the money. I never suggested
that the evidence shows-The evidence is silent on that. Up
to this moment the evidence is silent.
page 1553 ~ 1\ir. Garnett: I understand it is. I understand it is.
The Court: I think that is right. It is silent on that
point.
Mr. Garnett: Right. And I an1 telling you that Mr. Ferguson sa.id it on yesterday, and 1\Ir. Baker said it on today,
and then they realized they were in a trap because lo and
behold they had put the money in l\1:rs. '\Vebb's hands under
their own tongueR and they had to back off.
l\fr. Baker: I submit, if the Court please, I did not.
The Court: Do you want to verify the record?
Mr. Baker: Even if I did, I an1 not a. witness in this
case. I cannot put the money in anybody 's hands by my
tongue.
The Court: I understand you are not a witness. I understand very wen. The point you are all arguing about is
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wha.t you said in argument today. That is all. Now if you
want to ve!·ify the record I will have it done.
Mr. Baker: I am saying that I never arg11ed the evidence
showed that Mrs. IGnlock turned the money over to Mrs.
Webb at any time. I argued to .the contrary. The
page 1554 ~ evidence is silent on that. It is still silent. I
think the Court agr~ed that the evidence is
silent on t11C question.
The Court: I think that is right. T'he evidence is silent.
1\'Ir. Garnett: I an1 saying the evidence is silent. They
said ~Ir. "\Vbiteside said it. I didn't say anything about it
yesterday; I wasn't sure. I checked with M:r. Whiteside
today on it, and they said it again.
The Court: All right. Let's go ahead. If you want to
verify the record let me know.
l.VIr. Baker: No, sir. I am satisfied the Court's interpretation tl1at the evidence is silent on the issue is correct.
The Court: I think that is true, sir.
lVIr. Garnett: That is right. There was no evidence that
~frs. l{inloc.k turned the money over to ~Irs. 'Vebb.
The Court: I think that is right.
:hfr. Garnett: That is correct.
The C'ourt: I think that is right.
Mr. Gttrnett: Now, Your Honor, there is one n1ore little
item that I would like to cover on this particular phase of
the case, and that is this: They talk about the
page 1555 ~ money could have gone over the counter, mind
you, five dollars at a time out of petty cash to
the tune of seventeen thousand some odd dollars, in spite of
the fact that Mr. Freeman took the stand and showed not
how the money went out but how it was covered up. Six
thousand dollars in one year covered up in the books. • • •
Note : At the conclusion of ~:I r. Garnett's argument, recess 'vas declared a.t 12 :45 P.l\f. until 2:30 P.l\f. whereupon
Mr. Ferguson answers the a.rgun1ent of l\fr. Garnett. At the
eonc.lusion of which argument the Court rules. as follows:
The Court: The Court takes the same position at this
tilne it took on yesterday when it ruled on the same motion.
T'he motion is denied. The Court overrules all eight ·or
nine of the motions.
Mr. Baker: If the Court please, may the record show this
defendant excepts to the action of the Court in ove-rruling the
defendant's unnumbered motion to dismiss, plus the supplementary motions numbered I, II, III, IV, V, VI, VI (a),
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VII and VIII for the reasons assigned in argument, and for
the further reason particularly that the evidence no matter
what it 1uay show with regard to other phases of
page 1556 } this trial clearly fails to place any of the funds
in the hands of this defendant. It is silent on
when, if ever, any of the funds ever came into her hands in
any capacity, let alone any capacity of trust, as the Court
agreed from the Bench during argun1ent that the evidence
was silent on this issue-it being an essential elen1ent of the
crime of embezzlement that if there is proof of taking the
proof must be beyond a reasonable doubt as in all other
elen1ents .of the crime, that the taking was fron1 funds that
had first come into the hands of the accused under legal possession as defined by the cases in a position of trust.
The evidence, we sub1nit, if the Court please-! a1n not
arguing the evidence-according· to the defendant's Yiew,
is wholly lacking on establishing any funds ooming into the
hands of the defendant in any capacity.
"\Ve ask that this additional ground be assig·ned at this
time as a basis of the defendant's exception in addition to
the reasons already stated in argun1ent.
The Court: All right, sir. Now, do you all want to argue
the case any further than this ! I will meet you ton1o1-row
· morning at 9 :30 if you do. How ·n1ueh time do
page 1557 ~ you need?
1\{r. Garnett: I do not desire to argnH.
1\{r. Baker: "\Vith the possible exception, if the Court
please, of very linlited argument with authorities of necessity
of proof, that there be proof beyond a reasonable doubt of
the funds actually con1ing into the hands of an accused, and
the taking of those funds by the accused, I feel that tl1at is
an essential element at the time which the evidence does
not cover, and which the evidence is silent on, a.nd according
to the Court's view the evidene.e is silent on tl1a t issue, if I
understood the Court correctly. I feel in all fairness to this
defendant and to the Court i should offer the Court some
authoritie.s on the proof in that limited respect only, before
'vaiving further argument in the case.
The Court: J will 1neet you at 9:30 tOinorrow n1orning.
Do you have any idea ho·w n1uch thne you will need, 1\IIr.
Baker?
~fr. Baker: I do not at this tin1e anticipate any argnnlent other than offering the authorities of the necessitv ··of
proof on tba t phase of the case.
·
The Court: I will 1neet you at 9 :30 in the 1norning.
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1\Ir. Garnett: The Comn1onwealth does not
desire to argue furfher, unless there is new
matter injected.
Th~ Court: All right. I will meet you at 9 :30 tomorrow
morning.
page 1558

Note:
P.l\f.

~

Thereupon Court is adjourned for the day at 5:13
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A Copy-Teste:

H. G. TURNER, Clerk.
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